# HELSINGIN YLIOPISTO METSÄEKONOMIAN LAITOS JULKAISUJA 7

# THE PROFITABILITY OF SCOTS PINE (*PINUS SYLVESTRIS L.*) AND SILVER BIRCH (*BETULA PENDULA ROTH*) NEXT-GENERATION SEED ORCHARDS IN FINLAND

MÄNNYN (*PINUS SYLVESTRIS L.*) JA RAUDUSKOIVUN (*BETULA PENDULA ROTH*) SEURAAVAN POLVEN SIEMENVILJELYSTEN KANNATTAVUUS SUOMESSA

ANSSI AHTIKOSKI

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

ISBN (NID.) 951-45-9459-2 ISBN (PDF) 951-91-2327-2 ISSN 1236-6226 Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2000

To Anne and Roope

## PREFACE

Since the early beginning of Finnish tree breeding, the main emphasis in the studies has been on biological and genetical aspects of the phenomenon. There has been a shortage of economic assessments on the subject. In all sincerity, I hope that my work might cater for this deficiency.

Over the past years, there have been several persons who have contributed towards my thesis, and now is the right time to pay respects for their efforts. First of all, I am most grateful to my supervisor Professor Matti Keltikangas - in brief, without his encouragement and guidance I would not have been able to finish this thesis. I would also like to thank Professor Pertti Pulkkinen for supporting me along the way. His ideas were integral for the development of the research theme in the first place (dating back to 1994). Dr. Pirkko Velling and Professor P.M.A. Tigerstedt are also sincerely acknowledged for their insights and comments on tree breeding. Further, I am indebted to Jarmo Leskinen (M.For.) who kindly introduced me to the simulation world of MELA, and who has helped me a great deal in the process. Thanks are also due to Mr. Kari Lahtinen, Hannu Kukkonen (M.For.), Martti Venäläinen (M.For.), Matti Haapanen (M.For.), Teijo Nikkanen (M.For.), Jouni Mikola (Lic. For.), Risto Hagqvist (M.For.), Juhani Hahl (M.For.), Martti Lepistö (Lic.For.), Anne Pakkanen (M.For.), Jukka Antola (M.For.), and Acting Professor Lauri Valsta for sound advice, helpful comments and collaboration over the course of the process.

I'm also grateful to Professor Jaakko Pehkonen, Dr. Matti Estola, and Dr. Kari Heimonen at the University of Jyväskylä for inspiring discussions concerning economics in general and modelling practice. For the rich interdisciplinary conversations over the past years, I would like to thank Professor Timo Takala (the supervisor of my wife's upcoming thesis). I would also like to express my deepest gratitude for the insightful comments and constructive critisim provided on my thesis by the official pre-examiners. Special thanks go to Kimmo Hyrsky (MA) whose support (in form of English revision) has become more and more important towards the end of this work.

The grants received from Suomen Luonnonvarain Tutkimussäätiö, the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Niemi-Säätiö and Suomen Metsätieteellinen Seura are warmly acknowledged. Through this funding it has been possible for me to conduct research in a continuous fashion.

My deep gratitude is due to my parents - for the mental legacy they've passed on, and for the everlasting love which has given me space and motivation in pursuing my goal. Last but not least, I express my sincere thanks to my wife, Anne, who has been there for me through thick and thin. She has given me the life worth living - let alone our son, Roope whose impact on us has been "beyond words". And, finally those who have followed the different phases of my work might go along with the following latin phrase:

" Dignus est enim operarius mercede sua "

Jyväskylä June 2000 Anssi Ahtikoski

### ABSTRACT

The thesis consists of a theoretical section and five empirical studies analyzing the profitability of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and Silver birch (Betula pendula Roth) breeding in Finland with special emphasis on the next-generation seed orchards. The profitability was calculated for three *a priori* chosen agents (government, orchard seed producer and private forest owner) by applying the so-called differential approach. In this approach, differential benefits of tree breeding (compared to stand seed acquisition) were weighted against the differential costs of tree breeding. Differential benefits were evaluated by incorporating genetic gains into widely-used growth and yield models (Scots pine: MELA and Vuokila & Väliaho, Silver birch: Oikarinen), and differential costs (compared to stand seed acquisition) were derived from, e.g., the cost data of the Forest and Park Service and the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding. The net present value (NPV) was chosen as the investment criterium. The purpose of the assessments was to determine the so-called threshold values for the profitability, and further to examine whether these values would be obtainable, given the prevailing conditions of each agent. Specific shadow pricing procedure was adopted in the assessments made from the society's viewpoint (i.e. government), whereas simple financial analyses were conducted for the private forest owners and orchard seed producers.

The NPVs were positive for Scots pine even with *six* per cent discount rate (genetic gain 12%), and for Silver birch with *four* per cent discount rate (genetic gains being 20% for South and 14% for central Finland). In addition, the main results implied that there might even be some welfare improvements when breeding proceeds from the present to next generation. The analysis of market environment demonstrated that there are still economies of scale to be exploited with the orchard seed production of both species in the present generation. Further, with Scots pine the government subsidy for orchard seed production was found to be essential for the profitability, even at the next generation. For a private forest owner the results indicated that in direct sowing (Scots pine) orchard seed is an economically desirable alternative to stand seed even with as high as eight per cent discount rate. The overall results suggested that the subsidy for the next-generation seed orchards is economically justified from the society's viewpoint. At the same time, it provides incentives for private forest owners and orchard seed producers to operate in the tree breeding field. Furthermore, it seems that the next-generation seed orchards established for northern Finland are more dependent on the government subsidy than those established for southern Finland. Redirecting subsidy into the breeding activities, which are more cost-effective than others, will improve the outcome considerably.

KEYWORDS: Cost-benefit analysis, profitability, Net Present Value, shadow pricing, seed orchards, Scots pine, Silver birch, differential approach, next generation, genetic gain

# ABSTRAKTI

Väitöskirja koostuu teoreettisesta osiosta ja viidestä empiirisestä osatutkimuksesta, joissa analysoidaan männyn (Pinus sylvestris L.) ja rauduskoivun (Betula pendula Roth) jalostuksen kannattavuutta Suomessa painottaen erityisesti seuraavan sukupolven siemenviljelyksiä. Kannattavuus laskettiin kolmelle *a priori* valitulle agentille (valtio, siemenentuottaja ja yksityinen metsänomistaja) soveltamalla ns. erotuslaskentamenetelmää. Ko. menetelmässä metsänjalostuksen *erotus*hyötyjä (verrattuna metsikkösiemenkeruu-vaihtoehtoon) verrattiin metsänjalostuksen *erotus*hyötyjä (verrattuna metsikkösiemenkeruu-vaihtoehtoon) verrattiin metsänjalostuksen erotuskustannuksiin. Erotushyödyt evaluoitiin sisällyttämällä jalostushyödyt yleisesti käytössä oleviin kasvumalleihin (mänty: MELA ja Vuokila & Väliaho, rauduskoivu:Oikarinen), ja erotuskustannukset (verrattuna metsikkösiemenkeruu-vaihtoehtoon) saatiin mm. Metsähallituksen ja Metsänjalostussäätiön kustannusaineistosta. Investointikriteeriksi valittiin Nettonykyarvo(NNA)menetelmä. Laskelmien tarkoituksena oli määrittää kannattavuudelle ns. kynnysarvot, ja verrata ko. arvoja edelleen vallitseviin olosuhteisiin kunkin agentin osalta. Yhteiskunnan tason laskelmissa sovellettiin erityistä varjohinnoittelua kun taas finanssista analyysia käytettiin laskettaessa yksityiselle metsänomistajalle ja siemenentuottajalle kannattavuuksia.

Nettonykyarvot olivat positiivisia männyllä vielä *kuuden* prosentin (jalostushyöty 12%) ja rauduskoivulla *neljän* prosentin (jalostushyöty 20% Etelä-Suomessa ja 14% Keski-Suomessa) laskentakorkokannoilla. Lisäksi, päätulokset implikoivat mahdollisista hyvinvointiparannuksista jalostuksen edetessä nykyisestä sukupolvesta seuraavaan sukupolveen. Markkinaolosuhdeanalyysi osoitti, että molemmilla puulajeilla skaaletuja voidaan vielä hyödyntää nykyisissä siemenviljelyksissä. Lisäksi, valtion tuki todettiin tärkeäksi jopa seuraavan sukupolven siementuotannon kannattavuudelle männyllä. Männyn siemenviljelyssiemenen käyttö kylvössä havaittiin yksityisen metsänomistajan kannalta taloudellisesti perustelluksi vaihtoehdoksi jopa *kahdeksan* prosentin laskentakorkokannalla. Kokonaisuudessaan tulokset osoittivat valtion tuen seuraavan polven siemenviljelyksiin olevan yhteiskunnallisesti perusteltua. Samanaikaisesti, tuki tarjoaa sekä metsänomistajille että siemenentuottajille taloudellisesti perustellut toimintamahdollisuudet. Laskelmien mukaan Pohjois-Suomea varten perustettavat männyn seuraavan polven siemenviljelykset näyttävät olevan enemmän riippuvaisia valtion tuesta kuin Etelä- ja Keski-Suomea varten perustettavat viljelykset. Tulokset osoittivat, että kohdentamalla valtion tukea sellaisiin jalostustoimintoihin, jotka ovat muita toimintoja kustannustehokkaampia voidaan jalostuksen taloudellista tulosta parantaa entisestään.

AVAINSANAT: Kustannus-hyötyanalyysi (KHA), kannattavuus, Nettonykyarvo, varjohinnoittelu, siemenviljelykset, mänty, rauduskoivu, erotuslaskentamenetelmä, seuraava sukupolvi, jalostushyöty

# CONTENTS

1. Introduction	13
1.1 Background	
1.2 Seed orchards	
1.3 Characteristics of Finnish tree breeding	
1.4 Problem setting and objectives	20
2. Theoretical framework and applied data	23
2.1 Society's viewpoint	23
2.1.1 A formula for the profitability	23
2.1.2 Differential approach	25
2.1.3 Economic efficiency and	
cost-benefit analysis, CBA	35
2.1.4 Shadow pricing	39
2.1.5 Discounting process	43
2.2 Seed producer's viewpoint	47
2.2.1 Profitability conditions for a single firm	47
2.2.2 Short run and long run	48
2.2.3 LAC curves, MES, market demand and	
price elasticity of demand	49
2.3 Private forest owner's viewpoint	52
2.3.1 Decision making environment	52
2.3.2 Difference investment method for	
profitability calculation	53
2.3.3 Choice of a discount rate	55
2.4 Applied data and time series analysis	56
3. Empirical studies	59
3.1 Society's viewpoint	59
3.1.1 Study 1: Profitability of present-generation	
seed orchards	59

3.1.1.1 Framework and restrictions 59

3.1.1.2 Results	65
3.1.2 Study 2: Profitability of the next-generation	
seed orchards, South and Central Finland	70
3.1.2.1 Framework & restrictions	70
3.1.2.2 Results	79
3.1.3 Study 3: Profitability of Scots pine next-	
generation seed orchards of northern clones	88
3.1.3.1 Framework & restrictions	88
3.1.3.2 Results	95
3.2 Seed producer's viewpoint	97
3.2.1 Study 4: Market environment and	
production costs of orchard seed	97
3.2.1.1 Framework & restrictions	97
3.2.1.2 Results	102
3.3 Private forest owner's viewpoint	112
3.3.1 Study 5: Financial profitability of using	
Scots pine orchard seed in direct sowing	112
3.3.1.1 Purpose and framework	112
3.3.1.2 Results	114
4. Conclusions	120
SELOSTE (Finnish summary)	127
References	129
List of Appendices	147

Appendices

#### LIST OF SYMBOLS AND FREQUENTLY USED ABBREVIATIONS

- a = administration costs incl., e.g., costs of marketing, rents and salaries of supervising personnel
- $a_i =$ forest investment
- areas= cultivated total area relative to projected area, expressed in decimals (in modelling)
- $b_i =$ forest investment
- $B^{diff}$  = differential benefits (due to genetic gains)
- $B_t^g$  = economic value of a thinning or final cut in an improved stand, FIM (Silver birch)
- $B_t^{0}$  = economic value of a thinning or final cut in a normal stand, FIM (Silver birch)
- $c(\bullet) = total cost function$
- $c_{o}(\bullet) = total cost function for seedlings made of orchard seed$
- $c_N(\bullet) = \text{total cost function for seedlings made of stand seed}$
- CBA= cost-benefit analysis
- ccones= collected cones required for 1kg of orchard seed, litres (in modelling)
- $C^{diff}$  = differential costs of seed orchards compared to stand seed acquisition (divided further into progeny testing, C<sup>p</sup>, annual management of seed orchards, C<sup>m</sup>, and administration, C<sup>ad</sup>)

Ces= establishment costs of seed orchards (differential as such)

 $C_{o}(S)$  = sowing costs of orchard seed, FIM/hectare (Scots pine)

 $C_0$  (S)= sowing cost of stand seed, FIM/hectare (Scots pine)

 $C_i^m$  = coefficient reflecting the prevailing market structure for input *i*,  $\leq 1$ 

colcost= collection costs of Scots pine orchard cones, FIM/litre (in modelling)

constant proportional advantage= genetic gain expressed relative to the diameter and height

growth of an unimproved stand over time

constant volume advantage= genetic gain expressed in absolute volume increase

(harvesting times unchanged)

costdiff= sowing cost difference between Scots pine orchard seed and stand seed, expressed in

FIM/hectare (in modelling)

crop= average annual seed crop, kg/hectare (in modelling)

c, z = given prices for inputs q and x, respectively (formula [2.4])

 $\Delta p$  = change in price

 $\Delta R$  = change in total revenue

 $D_p$  = discount factor,  $[1 + p/100]^{-1}$ , where *p* presents discount rate (s.t. e.g. 3% corresponds to 3 in the formula)

 $exp = exponent (e.g. exp (areas) = e^{areas}; in modelling)$ 

EVT = Empetrum-Vaccinium type forest (classified for northern Finland)

 $\epsilon$ = error term (in modelling)

 $\epsilon(p)$  = price elasticity of demand

 $FV_i$  = financial value (market price) for input *i* 

 $f_{LAC}$  = long-run average cost function

f(q, x) = production function

gengain= genetic gain, expressed in percentage

growth region= an area in which annual growth rate for a particular forest site type is assumed to

be homogeneous

 $\eta_x$  = price ealsticity of commodity x

improved stand= stand established (either sown or planted) by orchard seed material

IRR= internal rate of return

 $JT_t$  = financial value of a thinning or final cut in an improved stand in year t

 $k^*$  = fixed plant size

 $KG_t = (produced and)$  sold amount of orchard seed in year t

LAC= long-run average costs

LMC= long-run marginal costs

m = management costs incl., e.g. costs of nursery sowing, fertilization, culling, transport: i.e.

direct production costs of seedlings

managcost= annual management cost, FIM/hectare (in modelling)

MES= minimun efficient scale

MR= marginal revenue

MT= Myrtillus type forest

n= time index associated with normal stands

NB = present value of (aggregated) net benefits

normal stand= stand established with stand seed

NPV= net present value

 $NS_n$  = financial value of a thinning or final cut in an improved stand

p = price for orchard seed

 $P_x = price of commodity x$ 

price= sales price of the orchard seed, FIM/kg (in modelling)

 $P_{sf}$  = profitability for a single firm

r = a gross rate refleting SOC (formula [2.3])

rate= discount rate, expressed in percentage (in modelling)

q = quantity demanded (formula [2.8]), or labour input (formula [2.4])

RB= relative bias (of modelling)

relprice= relative stumpage price level compared to projected price level, expressed in

decimals (in modelling)

s = a rate expected by sharedolders (formula [2.3])

 $s_o =$  seed material when using orchard seed

 $s_N$  = seed material when using stand seed

SDR= social discount rate

 $\Sigma =$  summation

SOC= social opportunity cost rate

 $SP_i$  = shadow price for input *i* 

stand seed = seed collected from cones in natural stands

stand seed acquisition= organized large-scale seed collection from cones in natural stands

STPR= social time preference rate

t= time index associated with improved stands, or corporation tax (formula [2.3])

 $TP_i$  = transfer payment associated with input i (e.g. tax, social security payments)

x = other inputs used in production (formula [2.4])

 $X^{1}(\bullet)$  = aggregate market demand for good 1

 $\mathbf{x}_{i}^{1}(\bullet) =$ consumer *i*'s demand function for good 1

VT= Vaccinium type forest

WTP= willigness to pay

y = output

 $y_i = i$ :th simulated value (in modelling)

 $^{y_i}$  = predicted value (by modelling)

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 Background

According to the National Forest Inventory conducted between 1986-1997 the total forest land in Finland is at present approximately 20.1 million hectares. During the 90s the annual total regeneration area has been fluctuating between 150 (in 1991) and 175 (1994) thousand hectares of which natural regeneration has been approximately 25 to 75 thousand hectares (Finnish Statistical... 1999).

Artificial regeneration of forests in Finland was rather modest until the early 60s, the annually cultivated area varying between 30-60 000 hectares. From the beginning of the 60s, the artificially regenerated areas increased rapidly and achieved the annual level of 120-140 000 hectares within 10 years (Metsäpuiden...1989, Finnish Statistical...1997). The motivation for the ever-increasing artificial regeneration was to secure the wood supply for the expanded forest industry. At the time, artificial regeneration linked with forest tree breeding was seen as an essential means to increase timber production (e.g., Metsäpuiden...1989).

Forest tree breeding in Finland started with the establishment of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris L.*) seed orchards in the mid 50s, and large-scale tree breeding took place during 1963-76 when most of the seed orchards were established (Nikkanen et al. 1999). Plus trees were selected as the basis for the seed orchards with most of them being selected during the 50s and 60s (Pitkäntähtäyk-sen...1989, Oskarsson 1995). Scions of the plus trees were grafted to establish clonal seed orchards (Oskarsson 1995). The main responsibility for the grafting operation was handed to the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding. The former National Board of Forestry (present Finnish Forest and Park Service, the FPS) was obliged to procure the land for the seed orchards, the government being the main financier (Oskarsson 1995).

Birch breeding material was selected using the same principles as with Scots pine plus trees (Sarvas 1953). In the beginning of the 60s, birch breeding (mainly Silver birch, *Betula pendula Roth*) expanded strongly due to the considerable financial assistance of the Finnish Plywood Association (Kukkonen 1991, Viherä-Aarnio 1994).

#### 1.2 Seed orchards

A seed orchard is a manmade tree population which is expected to produce genetically and physiologically high quality seed (Sarvas 1970, Koski 1980). Seed orchards can be situated outdoors (Scots pine and Norway spruce) or in a polythene tunnel (e.g., Viherä-Aarnio 1989, Mikola 1995). They carry forward the results of breeding to practice, i.e. produce seed for reforestation purposes (e.g., Ruotsalainen 1999). An orchard usually contains 50-100 grafts per clone and 25 to 400 different plus trees. The total number of grafts, for example in Scots pine seed orchards, can vary from 1 000 up to 18 000 (Pulkkinen 1994, Pulkkinen 1996), covering from 2 to 61 hectares (Nikkanen et al. 1999). Seed orchards require continuous management which consists of, e.g., fertilization, roguing, weeding and cone collection (e.g., Talbert et al. 1985,Williams & deSteiguer 1990, Byram et al. 1999). Observations on male and female flowering are undertaken to estimate the genetic quality of the seed.

Traditionally, in the national breeding and seed orchard programs there have been three main species, namely Scots pine, Norway spruce (Picea abies (L.) Karst.) and Silver birch (see, e.g., Pitkäntähtäyksen...1989). At present, Scots pine and Silver birch present seed orchards (Scots pine: henceforth denoted also as 1st-generation or present-generation seed orchards) are in full production, but Norway spruce seed orchards have not been successful in producing seed on a regular basis for practical cultivation (e.g., Metsänviljelyaineistotyöryhmän... 1994, Männyn...1997). This combined with the fact that there are only a few progeny trials for Norway spruce (Pulkkinen et al. 1999) resulted in the Norway spruce seed orchards being excluded from the assessments of this dissertation. It should be stressed that it is the seed production of improved material (provided that the material is further cultivated) which generates the economical benefits of tree breeding.

#### Scots pine seed orchards

In Finland, the number of Scots pine seed orchards is 160, covering 2 492 hectares. All the seed orchards are now in seed production (Nikkanen et al. 1999). It has been assumed that seed production will decrease when the seed orchard is around 40 years old (Metsäpuiden...1989, Hahl 1992). Thus, after the year 2010 the seed production of the present-generation seed orchards will quickly decrease (Mikola 1995) and finally ceases entirely. New, so-called 1.5 generation seed

orchards (also called as next-generation seed orchards or first-generation seed orchards of progenytest screened genotypic plus trees, see Mikola 1995) are to be established between 1997-1999, at the first stage covering approximately 95 hectares (Antola et al. 1996). In practice, the change over from present-generation seed orchards to next-generation seed orchards is planned to proceed so that the seed supply can be kept on a demanded level (Männyn...1997). The new seed orchards will be composed of the best 10-20% of the present-generation plus trees (Mikola 1995). Moreover, they will be established in their target areas (Nikkanen & Antola 1998) which reduces considerably the risk of background pollination (for background pollination, see, e.g., Harju & Muona 1989). At present generation the background pollination has been one of the main drawbacks since it reduces the attainable genetic gain. Especially in the seed orchards established with clones from northern Finland pollen contamination leads to poor adaption in the targeted cultivation zone (e.g., Pulkkinen 1994). This has resulted in the seed being utilized in an intermediate climatic zone instead of the original target area (e.g., Mikola 1995). Further, this has made more difficult to maintain annual orchard seed supply at the desired level.

Another main drawback in the present-generation seed orchards has been the poor soils on which the seed orchards have been established. At the time of the establishment of the present-generation seed orchards (1963-1976) the land for seed orchards had to be procured quickly due to intensive grafting leading to situations where the soil was not "suitable". This has affected on the annual average seed crops by (Nikkanen & Antola 1998, p. 423).

At the next generation the goal is to establish approximately 385 hectares for southern and central Finland and 250 hectares for northern Finland between 1997 and 2015 (Antola et al. 1996, Männyn...1997), which is assumed to be sufficient regarding the annual supply requirements for Scots pine orchard seed (Antola et al. 1996). The need for introducing separate seed orchards for southern and central Finland (385 hectares) and for northern Finland (250 hectares) has arisen primarly from the divergent cilmatic conditions. This has led to different breeding goals for southern and central Finland and for northern Finland. For southern and central Finland the main breeding goals are growth yield and quality while in northern Finland the main focus is on the survival aspect (Nikkanen & Antola 1998). At this point it should be stressed that theoretically there are alternative seed orchards, namely to establish new first-generation seed orchards. However, this option has no relevancy as it would mean a stagnation of genetic enhancement. It would also cost as much as the next-generation seed orchards. The present and next-generation orchard seed can be considered as a concerted effort with respect to that they both possess genetically enhanced qualities *compared to* natural stands. Moreover, the present and next-generation orchard seed will not be competing for market shares in a traditional sense (i.e., they are not substitutes), because at the time of simultaneous orchard seed production the supply can be divided into two parts: seed for nursery sowings and direct sowings. There will most likely be separate prices as well.

#### Silver birch seed orchards

Abundant flowering and regular yearly seed crops combined with easy crossing in the greenhouse and fast initial growth of birch plants have made it possible to make rapid advances in breeding and applying the results in practice (e.g., Holopainen & Pirttilä 1978, Koski 1991, Viherä-Aarnio 1994). In addition, the genetic variation between individuals in growth properties is large, indicating that selection results in considerable genetic gains (Viherä-Aarnio 1994).

The first (experimental) birch seed orchard was established in 1970 in a polythene tunnel (Kukkonen 1991). At present there are 15 seed orchards (the majority being so-called second generation) in polythene tunnels, the total area being about 1 hectare (Lepistö 1996, Finnish statistical...1997). Approximately 55% of these seed orchards (weighted by the area) produce seed for southern Finland, 37% for central Finland and the rest for northern areas (Männyn...1997). In general, birch seed orchards are much less capital- and labour-demanding than Scots pine and Norway spruce seed orchards. The average life span of a polythene tunnel is between seven and eight years (Koski 1991, Männyn...1997), thus the establishment costs can be kept down concerning the produced output, i.e., orchard seed. Actually, some of the polythene tunnels built in the 70s are still in use (Hagqvist 1994, Männyn...1997). The last new polythene tunnel (2 000m<sup>2</sup>) was built in 1991, costing about FIM 0.97 million (Lepistö 1996).

Over the last few years the annual Silver birch orchard seed production has exceeded the demand considerably. This is mainly due to the fact that most of the seed orchards have been simultaneously in their best production age, producing seed for storage. Another reason for this overproduction is that the seed-to-plantable seedling ratio has increased from 1 kg to 170 000 seedlings to 1 kg to 220

000 seedlings during the 90s (Hagqvist 1994, Lepistö 1996). Moreover, the government subsidy for reforestation of arable land was discontinued in the early 90s leading to a divergence between anticipated seed demand and actual cultivation area (e.g., Lepistö 1995).

#### 1.3 Characteristics of Finnish tree breeding

Tree breeding in Finland has been based on national breeding and seed orchard programs which have been scheduled for every 10-year period (Metsäpuiden...1989, Pitkäntähtäyksen...1989, Männyn...1997). The frames for these short-term programs have been set by the long-term breeding program. In the long-term program the general trends of tree breeding are provided for several decades (Pitkäntähtäyksen...1989). Primarily, the breeding programs have been planned with emphasis on the biological and genetical aspects, leaving economical aspects to some extent in the background (Metsäpuiden...1989, Pitkäntähtäyksen...1989).

Among other goals, seed orchard programs have been planned to secure annual seed supply (e.g., Metsäpuiden...1989). In these programs the total annual seed supply usually consists of two parts: one part comprising the amount of seed produced by seed orchards (orchard seed), and the other consists of the seed collected from natural stands (stand seed). One of the main targets has been to supply *all* the seed required for nursery plantings by seed orchards, at least in southern Finland (e.g., Metsäpuiden...1989, Männyn...1997). The establishment schedules of seed orchards have been carefully planned to meet the estimated supply requirements for orchard seed (e.g., Männyn...1997).

In practice, however, the goal of the annual seed supply has not been fulfilled due to biological problems involved with seed orchards (e.g., background pollination, poor soils). This has led to situations where stand seed has been used also in areas where initially, according to breeding programs, orchard seed should have been used. Moreover, in direct sowing (mainly Scots pine) the lower price of stand seed (as compared to orchard seed) has in recent years "provoked" private forest owners to use stand seed instead of orchard seed. Thus, especially in Scots pine direct sowing, the development in recent years has led to the orchard seed and stand seed being considered as perfect substitutes. In nurseries, however, most of the seedlings are still raised from orchard seed reflecting more or less the initial goal of the programs (Metsäpuiden...1989, Ministry of Agricultu-

re...1996).

These above-mentioned facts, among other things, have been taken into account in planning the establishments of the next-generation seed orchards. This has been done by revising the demands of orchard and stand seed for Scots pine and Silver birch. The adjustments have lead to a slight reduction of the originally planned orchard programs (Männyn...1997).

Government subsidy has played a major role in Finnish forest tree breeding (e.g., Pitkäntähtäyksen...1989, Valtion...1998). Due to the long rotation periods of our main commercial tree species (Scots pine, Norway spruce, Silver birch), the national importance of the forestry, and the capitaldemanding establishment costs of the seed orchards, financial help of the government has been seen as an important factor to support forest tree breeding in Finland (e.g., Pitkäntähtäyksen...1989, Männyn...1997). In many countries, however, tree breeding programs are financed by private companies (e.g., Talbert et al. 1985, Thomson 1989, Strategi...1995). Traditionally in those countries where the conditions for growth are excellent (i.e.short rotation periods are attainable), forest tree breeding is considered as an economically profitable business action, and large private companies have their own breeding divisions (e.g., Ledig & Porterfield 1981, Talbert et al. 1985, Strategi...1995).

Currently, the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry monitors tree breeding activities and guides the financing. It grants advances to organizations implementing tree breeding programs (see, e.g., Valtion...1998). Advances are granted annually to the Forest and Park Service (FPS), the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding (FFTB), the Finnish Forest Research Institute (FRS) and the Forestry Development Centre Tapio (Tapio). A major proportion of the total annual subsidy is directed to the Forest and Park Service and the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding (Table 1.1). The FPS, FFTB and Tapio are seen to pursue so-called "practical tree breeding", while the FRS is seen to pursue "basic research" including among other things provenance trials, tests concerning genetic variation and maturation tests of seeds. In this work only activities conducted by the FPS and FFTB are taken into account. This is due to the fact that the accuracy of book-keeping in the above-mentioned organizations (FPS and FFTB) are considered as sufficient to trace down the money flows and relate the costs to courses of actions for several decades.

Organisation	The amount, millions of FIM	Proportion, %
Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding	9.00	47%
Forest and Park Service	6.90	36%
Finnish Forest Research Institute	2.94	15%
Forestry Development Centre Tapio	0.43	2%
Sum	19.3	100%

**Table 1.1**. Annual advances of forest tree breeding planned to be granted to organisations in 1999,

 millions of Finnish Marks (FIM). (Source: Valtion...1998).

Besides the government (society) which subsidizes tree breeding activities in Finland, there are other agents involved in the tree breeding field. First, a private forest owner is obliged by law to regenerate the forest (as well as he is obliged to follow the silvicultural recommendations in thinnings and final cut). For artificial reforestation a private forest owner can either use improved material or stand seed. Nowadays, however, in planting there is no genuine decision to be made between these two seed qualities because the seeds used for seedlings are in most cases unknown to the private forest owner. Moreover, for instance, in southern Finland almost 100% of Scots pine seedlings are grown with orchard material (e.g., Ministry of Agriculture...1996). Furthermore, the possible price effect of seed origin on seedlings cannot be distinguished with sufficient accuracy; the prices facing private forest owners are more or less identical regardless of whether the seedlings are raised from stand or orchard seed. In direct sowing, on the other hand, there is an actual choice to be made between these two seed qualities, because the prevailing prices are distinctive.

Part of the subsidy granted annually for tree breeding is directed to seed producers in order to contribute to the orchard seed production at the levels determined in the national breeding programs (see, e.g. Männyn...1997). In practice, the annual expenses caused by management (e.g. fertilization, roguing, weeding) in seed orchards are partly (Scots pine: the first 15 years) covered by the subsidy.

In Finland, a few seed producers control the markets of Scots pine and Silver birch orchard seed (Finnish Statistical...1997, Männyn...1997). *A priori* it can thus be argued that the market structures for Scots pine and Silver birch orchard seed are imperfect, implying ,e.g., an oligopolistic competition.

Prior to the outset of this work, there have been only very few studies (e.g., Valtanen 1975, Kärki 1983) where economical aspects related to the Finnish forest tree breeding had been taken into account. However, these studies have focused on specific issues, the former on a relatively small and hypothetical forest tree breeding program (Valtanen 1975) whereas the latter on an approximate evaluation of timber quality and stem wood production in improved stands (Kärki 1983). Thus, there is a lack of an overall economical assessment of the impact of forest tree breeding.

#### 1.4 Problem setting and objectives

The main purpose of this dissertation is to determine the conditions under which the next-generation seed orchards would be profitable from the viewpoint of society. The setting is closely linked to the present day decision-making of tree breeding in Finland. At this juncture, society refers to the Finnish economy which faces limited resources, and where the decisions made by public sector policies change the allocation of the resources. Special emphasis is afforded to differential approach where the standard of comparison is stand seed acquisition. In the assessment differential benefits of tree breeding (compared to stand seed acquisition) are weighted against the differential costs. The same amount of seed is assumed to be produced and further cultivated in both alternatives (seed orchards and stand seed acquisition). The assessments are conducted with reference to national *ongoing* seed orchard programs. The binding to ongoing programs entails an aspect of evaluating a real-world situation rather than determining an economic optimum (see, Lesourne 1975). Each establishment schedule of seed orchards is evaluated as an entity disregarding further analyses which deal with more controversial questions, i.e., how large the amount of total seed production should be or what is the optimum ratio between direct sowing and planting in forest regeneration.

The profitability is evaluated in a cost-benefit framework using net present value (NPV) as an investment criterium, and it is conducted separatively for those seed orchards which are to be established for southern and central Finland (Study 2) and for northern Finland (Study 3). Separate assessments for southern and central Finland and northern Finland are needed due to the discrepancies in climatic conditions which further cause differences in establishment schedules and magnitude of the seed orchards (Männyn...1997). To achieve positive net present values for the next-generati-

on seed orchards certain treshold values of the main variables are required. These values are then confronted with the conditions prevailing in practice in order to examine whether the values are plausible. The unplausibility indicates that next-generation seed orchards could be rejected, and, the required amount of seed should be acquired by collecting from natural stands instead. The main variables to be studied are: genetic gain, annual reforestation area, (trend) stumpage prices, costs, discount rate and total establishment area of the seed orchards.

There are other objectives connected to the main frame. The supporting studies address the profitability of present-generation Scots pine and Silver birch seed orchards (Study 1), the business economical conditions and profitability of orchard seed production (Study 4) and the profitability of using Scots pine orchard seed in direct sowing (Study 5). The profitability conditions are surveyed via a *multilevel analysis* with respect to three agents: government, seed producer and private forest owner. The results are then combined in order to examine the plausibility and possible inconsistencies between the profitabilities. The former (plausibility) entails an aspect of evaluating whether the required profitability conditions for each agent are in general conceivable, given the realities of everyday practice in forestry (e.g. silvicultural recommendations, annual reforestation area, initial growth conditions). The latter (inconsistency between the profitabilities) refers to a situation where seed orchards would be economically profitable from the society's viewpoint, but there were no incentives for possible entrepreneurs to establish firms which produce orchard seed, or in the worst case, there were no incentives for private forest owners to use orchard seed either.

The profitability of the present-generation Scots pine and Silver birch seed orchards is examined by an *ex ante* assessment (Study 1). The purpose of this analysis is twofold. Firstly, to examine the conditions under which the present seed orchards are profitable from the viewpoint of society, and whether these conditions on the whole are met in practice. Secondly, and more importantly, in order to be able to quantify any improvements in social welfare associated with the next-generation seed orchards some standard of comparison is required. An apparent choice is the present-generation seed orchards (provided, of course, that the calculation priciples with regard to evaluation of the differential costs and benefits are identical). The prevailing market structures for Scots pine and Silver birch present-generation orchard seed are examined by an *ex post* assessment (Study 4). The aim is to quantify the demand and supply conditions of the orchard seed in order to determine whether there are economies to scale still to be exploited in the orchard seed production. This is done by constructing mathematical equations for market demand and long-run average cost curves, and solving them for first-order. The analysis of market environment becomes especially eminent when the outputs (produced by firms) have to be valued from the society's viewpoint. In order to set correct shadow prices prevailing market structures must be first revealed. Severe failures in the shadow pricing might lead to situations causing government to subsidize activities which are socially undesirable, i.e., inefficient. The study provides detailed knowledge on the (financial) profitability of producing orchard seed from the producer's viewpoint.

In the same sub-study, a supplementary *ex ante* calculation is conducted to determine the financial desirability of establishing a next-generation Scots pine seed orchard. The initial purpose is to determine limiting, threshold values of the main variables (e.g. annual management costs, discount rate, collecting costs, seed crop and sales prices) for a profitable outcome, i.e. sales revenue higher than production costs. These values could then be compared to the values reflecting present-generation seed orchards. Once again, the analysis gives further insight into financial aspects as tree breeding proceeds.

An *ex ante* calculation is conducted on the financial desirability of using Scots pine orchard seed in direct sowing (Study 5). Primarily, the aim is to determine the conditions (e.g. genetic gain and sowing costs) under which it is profitable for a private forest owner to use orchard seed instead of stand seed for direct sowing in southern Finland. This study supports the main focus of the dissertation by providing new knowledge concerning the demand site of the improved material -,i.e., whether there is in general any incentive for private forest owners to use orchard seed.

In each study, the nonmarket and market-related uncertainties affecting the results are tested by sensitivity analyses. The analyses are conducted for the net present value (NPV) and in some cases for the spread of internal rates of return (IRRs) separatively.

The outline of this dissertation is as follows: First, in Chapter 2 theoretical frameworks with special reference to chosen viewpoints (a society, seed producer and private forest owner) are formulated and the applied data and time series analyses presented. In Chapter 3 the five above mentioned substudies are presented: detailed objectives, calculation models and results. Finally, in Chapter 4 the results are evaluated and combined into general conclusions on the economic profitability of next-generation seed orchards.

- 2. Theoretical framework and applied data
- 2.1 Society's viewpoint
- 2.1.1 A formula for the profitability

In assessments made from the society's viewpoint the profitability is usually evaluated with respect to Net Present Value (NPV) as a decision criterion (e.g., Dasgupta & Pearce 1978, Pearce & Nash 1989). The NPV as a decision rule for assessments was also adopted in this dissertation. An economic desirability refers to a positive NPV and generally projects with the highest NPV are preferred to alternatives (e.g., Pearce & Nash 1989, Brent 1996). NPV method was considered to be more adept in this context than other methods such as internal rate of return, IRR (for further details see, e.g., Irving 1978, Clutter 1983, Johansson & Löfgren 1985, Brown & Jackson 1991, Sarnat 1994). In this dissertation special emphasis was additionally afforded to so-called differential approach resulting in a formula which can be considered to be somewhat contradictory to conventional formulas. Instead of evaluating the costs and benefits of each alternative separatively, this research concentrated on identifying differential costs and benefits between seed orchards and natural stand seed acquisition. The profitability, expressed in NPV was evaluated by applying the following general formula:

$$NPV = \sum_{t_1}^{T_1} B_t^{diff} * (D_p)^t - \left[\sum_{t_2}^{T_2} C_t^{es} * (D_p)^t + \sum_{t_3}^{T_3} C_t^{diff} * (D_p)^t\right]$$
 [2.1]

The factors on the right-hand side are presented in Table 2.1. Specifications of the general formula [2.1] are presented in each empirical study separatively.

Factor	Description
$\mathrm{B}^{\mathrm{diff}}$	Differential benefits: genetic gains are assumed to gene- rate faster growth rate resulting in higher present value of the outturns when compared to natural stands
C <sup>es</sup>	Establishment costs of the seed orchards are considered to be differential costs as such due to the absence of any corresponding activity related to natural stand seed ac- quisition
$C^{ m diff}$	Differential costs can be divided into progeny testing, annual management and administration
$D_p = (1 + \frac{p}{100})^{-1}$	Discount factor with per cent <i>p</i>
$t_1, t_2, t_3$	parameters reflecting different time spots (Note that $t_1 \neq t_2 \neq t_3 \land T_1 \neq T_2 \neq T_3$ )

Table 2.1 Main factors affecting the profitability

At this juncture it should be stressed out that f ormula [2.1] is a simplification; the terms B<sup>diff</sup>, C<sup>es</sup> and C<sup>diff</sup> can be interpreted as aggregations. For example, B<sup>diff</sup> is in fact the sum of differential benefits of various growth regions. Due to paucity the complete formula is not presented here. The profitability calculations proceeded as follows: first, the differential benefits were evaluated according to genetic gains and the differential costs were formed from the total costs of seed orchards by comparing them to the costs of stand seed acquisition. Then, the differential benefits and costs were adjusted to present. Finally, the present values for shadow priced differential benefits and costs were calculated by summing up the annual discounted values (Figure 2.1).

Each step of the calculation procedure is examined in detail so that the underlying assumptions of the profitability concept specific to this dissertation can be comprehended. Prior to examining the steps, however, the differential approach is described in full.



Figure 2.1 Phases of calculation in differential approach.

### 2.1.2 Differential approach

#### General

The advantage of differential approach is that it enables the same assessments and methodology as traditional methods, but requires considerably less data to obtain these results. Basically, differential approach implies that those costs and benefits which are different between alternatives (projects) are identified. The sums of differential costs are then confronted with the sum of differential benefits for comparison. Usually this identification of differential costs and benefits requires special expertise on the subject in question. There is no universal method to be applied. In this dissertation the alternatives were natural stand seed acquisition and tree breeding: the differential benefits and costs of tree

breeding could be identified with the accuracy relevant to the context.

The differential benefits of tree breeding are generated by genetic gains. The genetic gains in turn result from tree breeding activities which contribute genetical enhancement (see Appendix 1 for further details on genetic gains). Principally, higher genetic gains can normally be expected to be achieved in the next generation, because in practical tree breeding the next generation allways consists of the best present-generation clones with respect to chosen trait (e.g. faster volume growth). Differential costs of tree breeding originate mainly from activities specific to seed or-chards; such as annual management, crossings and progeny testing. In the context of the present study both the differential benefits and costs were converted into monetary value.

The pros and cons of the differential approach should be studied in detail, because of its essential role in the assessments. The main advantage of the differential approach is, beyond dispute, that it gives a roundabout method for the often so labourious evaluation of compensated demand curves and further consumers' surpluses. This is done by emphasizing only the differences between the alternatives with respect to demand and supply effects. In the absence of significant differences in demand and supply effects, the price *effects* can also be ignored (in such a way that the analyst does not have to *choose* whether to use initial price; i.e. the price prevailing before the project has been introduced, final price or some combination of the two: see, e.g., Pearce & Nash (1989, p. 89). In this way, a lot of time and effort could be saved - for instance, in a conventional cost-benefit analysis it is precisely the evaluation of consumers' surpluses which requires labourious effort (see, e.g., Dreze & Stern 1994).

In the present study both alternatives (seed orchards and stand seed acquisition) were assumed to generate more or less identical demand and supply effects in, e.g., roundwood and input markets - this is a reasonable assumption, given that the annual artificial regeneration area was fixed in the first place to be the same for both alternatives. Moreover, the differential benefits of seed orchards consisted of the combined effect of earlier thinnings and additional timber. The time effect "reducing" the additional timber with the magnitude that possible differences in demand and supply effects compared to unimproved stands could be ignored. In addition, the differential approach reduces significantly the risk of double-counting. Double-counting is considered to be a common

problem in a conventional cost-benefit analysis, CBA (see, e.g., Squire & van der Tak 1981).

The disadvantage of the differential approach is that it requires special expertise on the subject and detailed knowledge on the alternatives - much more detailed data than what is needed in a conventional CBA framework. Moreover, it cannot be applied to assessments where the alternatives are "wide apart" ,e.g., when evaluating the costs and benefits of different transportation methods and different healt care plans. In those cases *total* costs and benefits of each alternative need to be valued (see ,e.g., Layard & Glaister 1994).

#### Differential benefits and genetic gains

In modelling the genetic gains into tree growth the results of progeny test trials usually need to be extrapolated for the rest of the rotation period. The extrapolation method is needed since progeny test trials are normally done with juvenile trees (e.g., Fins & Moore 1984, Talbert et al. 1985, Haapanen et al. 1993, Jayawickrama & Balocchi 1993, Venäläinen et al. 1994, Dhakal et al. 1996, Haqgvist & Hahl 1998), or at most with trees from midrotation (Carson et al.1999). Then, the results are estimated throughout a rotation.

Basically there are three different methods to formulate the effect of genetic gain on tree growth and further assessing its monetary value. In addition, there are theoretical methods which try to solve (by using mathematics) upper and lower bounds of the present value function when it is a function of biotechnological parameters (e.g., Löfgren 1988, 1992). Characteristically these theoretical studies are embodied with a small case study (e.g., Löfgren 1992, Bhattacharyya & Lyon 1994), but they do not involve genuine tree growth modelling, and are thus ignored in this connection.

The simplest method for estimating the effect of genetic gain is to translate improvement in height into an increased site index (Buford & Burkhart 1987, Williams & deSteiguer 1990). This method, however, does not require actual growth models to be modified. Another applicable method is to assume constant volume advantage with improved stands (e.g., Fins & Moore 1984, Talbert et al. 1985). This generally leaves the harvesting times unchanged increasing only the volumes of removals, and usually results in net present values which can be considered as "lower boundary" for a given genetic gain percentage. Constant volume advantage is applied when existing harvest

scheduling models can be used. Both the abovementioned methods (increased site index and constant volume advantage) are more or less hypothetical and should be used only if there are no data available concerning tree characteristics.

In order to be able to evaluate the impact of genetic gains on the harvest scheduling models two kinds of biological information are particularly important. First, the shapes of the growth curves for improved and unimproved material, and second the magnitude of the differences between them over time are needed to be explored (Fins & Moore 1984). In general improved material is said to have higher growth potential than unimproved material (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Growth potential of normal stands and improved stands.

However, in most cases there are no data available concerning growth functions or volumes of improved stands at rotation age (e.g., Fins & Moore 1984, Bhattacharyya & Lyon 1994, Carson et al. 1999), and biological yields must for most tree species be projected for the rest of rotation according to alternative growth models.

Perhaps the most realistic way of evaluating the effect of genetic gains on growth models is to assume constant proportional advantage (e.g., Fins & Moore 1984) which is based on the progeny test results. Principally, the constant proportional advantage is expressed relative to the diameter and height growth of an unimproved stand over time. This method enables to take into account the possible differences in absolute growth rates at different stand ages, because the proportional advantage is adjusted to an absolute growth rate at each time. Stated differently, younger trees are more "sensitive" to react for possible changes in growth conditions (e.g., Jäghagen 1997) than older trees, and thus it can be surmised that the absolute effect of genetic gains on tree growth would vary along the rotation period, although the proportionate advantage is kept constant.

In practice applying a constant proportional advantage to growth functions, as a realization of genetic gains, results in changes in harvesting times and further affects the structure of a stand. The difference between constant volume advantage and constant proportional advantage is presented in Figure 2.3.



**Figure 2.3.** The difference between constant volume advantage (a) and constant proportional advantage (b) as a realization of genetic gain in thinnings and final cut. A constant proportional advantage to growth function usually results in changes in both harvesting times and volumes.

It can be argued that faster growth rate (due to genetic gain) is most likely utilized by harvesting earlier. This is especially true in Finland where long rotations might be the most significant single factor bordering the profitability of private forestry (e.g., Ahonen 1970, Keltikangas 1973, Penttinen & Kinnunen 1992).

#### Genetic gains and MELA program

In Finland the most widely applied forest simulation program is undoubtedly MELA (see, e.g., Hynynen 1996). In MELA program there are two main procedures to change the growth of the trees to depict the genetic gains, and both procedures are adjacent to constant proportional advantage method. First, by changing both the height increment and basal increment model by the percentage reflecting the genetic gain, or second, by changing the annual growth level by the corresponding percentage the genetic gains can be incorporated into tree growth. The latter results in a slightly different change in volume growth of the trees than the genetic gain in percentage due to general structure of the MELA program. The change of the annual growth level is conducted by so-called relative growth increment in which both basal area increment and height increment models are changed. In addition, the predicted stem form is slightly being changed, because the relation between stem diameter and height is changed (in MELA stem form development is predicted according to the taper curve which is based on stem diameter and height). Usually changing annual growth level by certain percentage (e.g. 3%) leads to a little smaller proportional change in volume growth than the initial percentage.

In MELA program the criterium for thinnings is set exogenously, i.e. independently from the actual growth modelling (incorporated with genetic gains). Generally there are various criteria (from, e.g. net present value maximizing to "legitimate" criterion) to be executed in the program. In other words, the same underlying growth function results in different harvest scheduling models depending on the applied harvest criterion. This feature of MELA program is somewhat contradictory to several other widely used forest simulation programs. For example, in linear timber harvest scheduling models the model projections concerning a harvest pattern are conducted so that they are constrained by various profitability and volume restrictions simultaneously in the short term (e.g., Thomson 1989). Moreover, in these models stands are usually simulated according to some optimization criterion, e.g. financial rotation. Then harvest scheduling is executed according to this

optimization criterion with respect to chosen discount rates. It can be argued that this is against the realities prevailing in practical forest management, and thus MELA program is more realistic in a sense that it allows also harvest patterns which are based on realized thinnings.

#### Genetic gains and economic value

The economic impact of genetic gains is usually assessed by converting the volumes of thinning removals in improved and normal stands into monetary value (e.g., Fins & Moore 1984, Talbert et al. 1985). This is done by multiplying the volumes of each timber assortment by a unit price, and then discounting these products to present value with a chosen discount rate. Finally, the present value (PV) of aggregated products for a normal stand is subtracted from the PV of aggregated products for an improved stand. Predominantly, there are two options for a unit of measure of the outturns (i.e. thinning and final cut removals). The outturns can be evaluated at stumpage prices, or alternatively they can be valued at export prices. There is, however, a considerable difference between these two evaluation methods.

The use of stumpage prices as a unit of measure implies that tree breeding is a means for supplying wood material for the industry. Generally, stumpage value is seen as an economic rent, a value attributable not to any cost of production, but to the strength of market demand and favourable natural resource endowments and location (Repetto 1988). Rent, by definition, is a value in excess of the total costs of bringing trees to market as logs or wood products, including the cost of attracting the necessary investment. Theoretically, all rent can be captured by governments as a revenue source stemming from the country's advantageous natural resource assets. In practice, e.g., royalties, land rents, license fees and harvest taxes are all means of converting rent into government revenue (Repetto 1988).

Tree breeding is considered as a "prerequisite" for the wood processing industry indicating that the social costs and benefits of seed orchards need to be separated from wood industry. The underlying principle is to examine whether the forest tree breeding is an economically desirable way of supplying the raw material needed for the wood processing industry, given the conditions with regard to, e.g., discount rates and shadow pricing rules.

If the outturns had been valued at export prices of the final products (paper board, sawn timber) this would have required that forest tree breeding and manufacturing of wood be evaluated together as an "entity". The final products reflect the increases in the value of the material, i.e. value added (see, e.g., Begg et al. 1994). This value added, on the other hand, depends on the production process which can be expected to vary considerably due to, e.g. differences in marginal rates of technical substitution (MRTS: see, e.g., Dasgupta & Pearce 1978) for goods within the wood processing industry. However, without the pre-existing "expedient" of supply there would be no goods whose value would increase (indicating value added) in the process of exploiting the nation's resources. Thus, when using export prices as a unit measure of the outturns it is necessary to combine the economical effects engendered by tree breeding and wood processing industry, since the value of final products reflects the values of both these components. By taking both the tree breeding and wood processing industry into account and further forming an "entity" would involve uncertainties and speculativeness which are beyond the scope of this dissertation. These include, for instance, a) estimating the effect of transfer payments in the wood industry by different branches of industry, b) the future average structure of an additional cubic metre in terms of timber assortments and c) the labour inputs in different stages of the process.

In addition, the effects of stand and orchard seed production on roundwood prices were assumed to be similar. This assumption is justified twofold, and the arguments are closely related. First, due to differential approach applied here only *differences* between the alternatives (i.e. stand vs. orchard seed production) account. For the sake of simplicity the stand seed supply can be expected to cause similar impacts on the roundwood prices as the corresponding of seed orchard activity, although the quantities felled each year are not exactly identical due to differences in harvest scheduling. These divergencies are considered to be insignificant with regard to the initial problem-setting, and furthermore they would be nevertheless especially difficult to evaluate, given the long time horizon of the assessment. Second, the forecasted future prices according to time series modelling always reflect the past development of stumpage prices *including* the possible interrelationships between, e.g. wood quantities, stumpage prices and forest industry products. In the absence of any significant change with respect to past development), it can well be argued that through time series modelling the possible effects of wood supply on roundwood prices are transferred to the future. This latter

argument entails a "static balance framework" adopted here. The stand and orchard seed options are constrained to reflect past, realized magnitudes of annual seed supply and cultivation area. All the abovementioned led to using identical unit stumpage prices for improved and normal stands.

#### Relevant differential costs

Generally, only those costs related to courses of actions which further generate benefits should be taken into account in assessments. Moreover, in *differential* approach only the costs which can be distinguished between different alternatives are relevant - usually identical costs are ignored in the analysis. In the identifying process of differential costs a *standard of comparison* need to be established. Stand seed acquisition was chosen to be that standard in this dissertation. Each activity executed within the seed orchards was compared to the corresponding activity related to stand seed acquisition. Then, according to this comparison differential costs were formed. Any absence of corresponding activity in stand seed acquisition brought about a differential cost, C<sup>diff</sup> in this work were: annual management of seed orchards, progeny testing and administration (related to seed orchards).

Two separate aspects underlying the differential costs should be addressed in this connection. First, it was assumed that areas where the genetically improved material (i.e. orchard seed) will be used would otherwise be cultivated with stand seed or regenerated naturally. This assumption is critical with respect to that it excludes the possibility that the subsidy (to tree breeding) itself would cause distortions in a form of, e.g. cultivating poorer sites than it is generally profitable (cf. merit goods; Ward & Deren 1991). Stated differently, the annual cultivation area for stand seed and orchard seed was the same.

The second assumption is more restrictive. It is known *de facto* that only relative prices matter in determining demands and supplies (see, e.g., Myles 1995). In the assessments any possibility for a change in relative input price of stand and orchard seed production was ignored - in other words the *differential* costs were only constrained to trend development assuming that they will be fixed within the time horizon adopted here. This is tantamount to saying that there will be no changes in cost functions which could alter resource allocation by the magnitude which would invalidate the

initial comparison. Such changes in cost functions could result from, e.g. tightened safety regulations on stand seed collections, new technology for cone extraction of orchard seed or intensified progeny testing.

There is another way of viewing the problem. If there will, in spite of all, be considerable changes in relative input prices (in a sense that resources are moved from one alternative to another), those changes can be considered to favour either stand seed acquisition or seed orchard activity. Viewed in this fashion the results of the assessments can be interpreted as overestimations or underestimations of the profitability of seed orchards, respectively. Presently, however, it seems that there will be no drastic changes in cost functions in the near future (see, e.g., Männyn... 1997). Finally, any attempt to forecast the possible changes in relative input prices involves so much speculativeness that it would be more secure to adopt the abovementioned concepts of over- or underestimation.

The differential approach adopted here somewhat simplifies issues related to forestry in general. For example, tax effects (with regard to relative efficiency, see Ovaskainen 1992) can be assumed to be similar for natural stands and improved stands due to the initial problem confrontation. Moreover, it can be argued that this comparison of two states is less sensitive to possible failures or miscalculations in the main procedures of assessments than an assessment for economic optimum. Because the *difference* between stand seed acquisition and seed orchard activity does not *directly* relate to actual markets, it can be argued that it does not have any significant effect on other markets' prices either. This can also be seen as a drawback which excludes further (formal) examination arising from the fact that the evaluated differential values do not correspond to actual input markets (e.g., compensated demand curves for labour cannot be constructed).

In this problem-setting it was assumed that forest measures, for instance, thinnings of saplings might occur earlier in improved stands than in normal stands, especially with Scots pine (see Ahtikoski 1997). The earlier timings of the thinnings of saplings in improved stands were assumed to offset the possible higher costs involved, resulting in a zero cost-difference with regard to decision rule, NPV (see Appendix 2). This applies to harvesting costs as well (bearing in mind that the harvesting costs relate to benefits which are discounted earlier than in normal stands). In addition, cultivation costs were presumed to be identical for improved and normal stands and thus have no effect on the

analysis (Appendix 2). Further, it can be suggested that there was no significant difference in extraction costs of cones either. This is based on the fact that currently the extraction costs are more or less identical for stand and orchard seed (see, e.g., Ahtikoski 1996a), or alternatively, they cannot be separated with the accuracy needed in this analysis.

#### 2.1.3 Economic efficiency and cost-benefit analysis, CBA

The subsidy to forest tree breeding, considered as a cost of tree breeding, is expected to generate benefits in the far future. Before valuing these costs and benefits two fundamental questions should be answered. First, from whose point of view are the assessments conducted, and second, how are the costs and benefits valued, i.e. what are they compared to ?

In general, two main functions of government can be distinguished. First, "allocative" function consists in the provision of public goods and the removal of externalities on efficiency grounds, subject to Pareto principle. The other, "redistributive" function refers to the redistribution of wealth (through income transfers or services) from one section of society to another (Self 1993). Sometimes another function of government, namely the stabilization function, is brought up. Government pursues a stabilization objective by using instruments of, e.g., fiscal policy in an attempt to aid restoration of general equilibrium (e.g., Peacock & Shaw 1976, Brown & Jackson 1991). Especially, fiscal policy is aimed at internal objectives in order to exert impact on aggregate demand (Stevenson et al. 1988). The fiscal viewpoint, however, is in this dissertation ignored due to following grounds. Fiscal policy implies to relatively short-term balancing of the government: the possible feedback effects of, e.g. salaries and taxes related to a project would influence at most two to three years. On the other hand, seed orchards are commonly regarded as a considerably long-term activity (see, e.g., Talbert et al. 1985, Thomson 1989, Bhattacharyya & Lyon 1994, Carson et al. 1999). Finally, the main emphasis of this research was admittedly on the efficiency aspect. This left the stabilization and redistributive functions of the government for lesser attention.

The state (government) intervention is usually evaluated on efficiency grounds (e.g. Atkinson & Stiglitz 1980). Economic efficiency relates to the value of society's consumption over time: when economy is functioning in a way that maximizes this value, economic efficiency is attained (Ward &

Deren 1991). Broadly speaking, economic efficiency (also referred to synonymously as Pareto efficiency, Pareto optimality or allocative efficiency) is about making the best use of limited resources given people's states (Barr 1987). For a government to be able to restore the requisite conditions for economic efficiency, the projects should be appropriately valued: costs defined relative to their opportunity costs (social costs) and benefits relative to their effect on the fundamental objectives (social benefits). Principally, the government subsidy to seed orchards alters the allocation of resources and further changes the social welfare function (for more detailed information on social welfare functions see, e.g., Dasgupta & Pearce 1978, Honkapohja & Niskanen 1984, Aronsson 1997). This change in the social welfare is measured according to the social costs and benefits.

In this dissertation the assessments concerning the (present and next-generation) seed orchards are conducted from the society's viewpoint in the sense that the economic impacts on social welfare are taken into account with special reference to public decision-making enforced by the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. This is in accordance with the viewpoint of a nation as a project-operating entity: could the same benefits derived from the seed orchards be obtained with lower cost or with less use of nation's resources ? Here, as in most cases, the nation is taken as a unit of society (Gregersen & Contreras 1992). In the background of the assessments there is an essential prerequisite: roundwood is assumed to be the main source of material in the wood processing industry also in the future. This assumption specifies somewhat the study context by restricting the possible alternatives to two: stand seed acquisition and tree breeding. In addition, in this connection the following aspects must be emphasized. The possible (and relevant) alternatives to forest tree breeding activity from the society's point of view are more intensive silvicultural management (incl. fertilizations, ditching, artificial regeneration) or to import the roundwood. If any comparisons with respect to economic efficiency between these alternatives are to be made, the same calculation principles must be adopted. These principles include, e.g., methods for determining costs and benefits in terms of common denominator (Squire & van der Tak 1981), a priori chosen discount rates(s) and expressing the quantities at net present value. However, this work concentrated on determining whether seed orchards are economically justified from the society's viewpoint per se the initial purpose was not to find the economically most efficient way to supply roundwood (raw material) to wood processing industry.
In order to be able to ensure that scarce resources are allocated efficiently (i.e. maximizing society's consumption over time: see Ward & Deren 1991) a common methodology is needed. One such methodology which is consistent to restoring the requisite conditions for economic efficiency is cost-benefit analysis, CBA (see, e.g., Brown & Jackson 1991, Layard & Glaister 1994, Brent 1996). Prior to proceeding it should be clarified that there is a difference between the *theory of the economic optimum* and the *theory of the comparison of economic states*. The theory of the economic optimum, generally called *welfare theory (welfare economics)*, tries to determine those conditions in an economy for which an optimum state exists. The theory of the comparison of economic states, generally called *cost-benefit analysis*, on the other hand, attempts to find how to compare any two states of the economy, neither of which need to be an optimum (Lesourne 1975). This is the case here: seed orchards and natural stand seed acquisition are compared to each other. Typically cost-benefit analysis is applied to situations where some (or all) of the benefits and costs are yet to come, i.e. during the project identification and preparation stages (e.g., Layard & Glaister 1994). With this respect CBA is an *ex ante* methodology.

A project brings about a Pareto improvement in welfare if it actually makes some people better off without making anyone worse off (Pearce & Nash 1989) - this is tantamount to saying that the project has met Kaldor-Hicks test (e.g. Pearce 1976). Further, CBA is consistent with the assumption that social objectives can be defined in terms of individuals' preferences (Dasgupta & Pearce 1978). Individuals' preferences can be (indirectly) revealed by valuing the inputs and outputs on the basis of individuals' true willingness to pay (WTP) for them (e.g., Ward & Deren 1991, Gregersen & Contreras 1992). It should be noted that sometimes "value in use" is used to refer to WTP (Gregersen et al. 1995).

WTP can be split into two parts: what the consumer pays, and the excess of what the individual is willing to pay over what is actually paid. The excess is called consumer surplus (e.g., Schmid 1989, Brent 1996). This is one main reason why markets, even if they are competitive, fail to measure social benefits of projects which are large. Consumer surplus is not, however, generally important for small or even medium sized projects in a competitive environment, when the demand curve for the product is fairly elastic (Abelson 1979). This is the case also here: consumer surplus as an indicator for the WTP can be ignored since the demand for roundwood, especially for sawlogs, is

elastic both in the long and short term (e.g, Toppinen 1998). In addition, tree breeding can be considered to be a relatively small project. The latter can be well argued by comparing, e.g., the Finnish total budget and the subsidy granted for tree breeding: the ratio for 1999 was approximately 1 000 to 1 (Valtion...1998). As a conclusion, alternative indicators for the WTP were developed for this work.

Traditionally CBA has been a widely applied framework in public project appraisals (see, e.g., Dasgupta & Pearce 1978, Brown & Jackson 1991, Layard & Glaister 1994, Brent 1996). However, it has been adopted less frequently to forestry, at least in its conventional form (see, e.g., Johansson 1987, Pearce & Turner 1989, Pearce 1994). Further, the conventional CBA has been used for assessing tree breeding programs only occasionally during the last decades (see, e.g., Reilly & Nickles 1977, Ledig & Porterfield 1981, Gregersen & Contreras 1992). Reasons are multiple for not applying CBA in tree breeding, but two particular aspects should be pointed out. First, traditional cost-benefit rules are to some extent misleading when applied to non-renewable or renewable natural resources (e.g., Nautiyal & Rezende 1983). For example, multiple uses of natural resources cause significant complications in the conventional CBA framework implying that alternative approaches could tackle the problems better. In particular, it has been demonstrated that socially optimal rotation might differ from the Faustman rotation, especially when the economy suffers from market imbalances like unemployment and excess demand for timber (Johansson & Löfgren 1985). Second, and more important, in the majority of countries tree breeding is financed by private companies (see, e.g., Strategi...1995) - thus, there is no actual need to evaluate the profitability of tree breeding from the society's viewpoint. Rather the profitability is calculated, e.g. by studying the conditions under which seed orchards is a profitable private investment (see, e.g. Williams & deSteiguer 1990, Lowe et al. 1999). On average, a simple financial analysis suffices for an adequant means to conduct the assessments from the private firm's viewpoint.

In this dissertation, however, CBA is applied on the following grounds. First of all, the harvesting schedules were *not* based on either Faustman rotation (cf. Gong 1991, p. 11) or financial rotation (cf. Fins & Moore 1984, p. 675). Instead, the harvesting schedules were simulated according to prevailing silvicultural recommendations reflecting mainly an assessment of an economic state rather than determining an economic optimum (see Lesourne 1975, p. 3) - so CBA methodology is well

justified with this respect. Secondly, the specific feature of tree breeding in Finland is that government has subsidized it practically in full from the early stages - the presence of public funding indicates that the role of economic efficiency should be brought out, and this can be executed with the CBA framework. Finally, due to the strong reliance on empirical context and to *ex ante* approach of this dissertation (e.g. possible differential benefits of tree breeding has not yet occurred) cost-benefit analysis matches for a tenable methodology.

## 2.1.4 Shadow pricing

Having identified the relevant outputs and inputs the next problem is to determine an appropriate set of prices which is based upon the efficiency criterium (Jackson & Brown 1991). Under perfect competition markets will automatically achieve economic efficiency, and prevailing market prices as such can be used as marginal valuations imputed to inputs and outputs (Pearce & Nash 1989, Ward & Deren 1991). However, due to widespread market failures and imperfections (e.g., monopolistic competition, externalities, public and quasi-public goods) market prices are seldom Pareto-efficient and must, therefore, be adjusted by shadow pricing (e.g., Mishan 1988, Ward & Deren 1991, Brent 1996) before they are used in CBA calculations. Shadow prices are to be used to evaluate the net impact on welfare of public-sector projects; shadow prices are the social opportunity costs of the resources used (Dreze & Stern 1994). Due to limited resources, the use in one project will entail an opportunity cost - the benefit they (i.e. resources) would have yielded in an alternative. Each output has an opportunity cost in terms of some forgone alternative (e.g., Dasgupta & Pierce 1978, Starrett 1988, Gregersen & Contreras 1992). Under market failures the prices that are paid may lead to consumption and production decisions which do not contribute to national economic efficiency (Ward & Deren 1991).

In this dissertation the need for shadow pricing process arises mainly from two sources. Firstly, the prevailing market structures for factor inputs (and also intermediate goods) used in seed orchards are known to be dominated by imperfect competition (see, e.g., Ahtikoski 1995, Männyn...1997). For instance, there have been only a few contractors who collect the cones from Scots pine seed orchards. Secondly, and more importantly, the Finnish labour market is characterized by a centralized wage formation in which trade unions play a crucial role (Kauhanen 1998). The existence of

trade unions, among other things (e.g. persistently high unemployment rates), imply that the labour market is influenced by factors which do not reflect the elements of perfect competition. This combined with the fact that in seed orchards the majority of inputs are labour inputs gave rise to make corrections of market wages by shadow pricing. Without shadow priced inputs and outputs the results would have reflected misallocations of the resources directed into seed orchards, and in the worst case might have lead to decisions which are inefficient from the society's viewpoint, and further, which are inconsistent to other socioeconomic assessments.

Theoretically, there are three main methods for calculating shadow prices. The method of Lagrange multipliers is the most general, and can be applied no matter the objective or the constraints, as long as both of these are made explicit. The second methods follows the "Ramsey rule" (e.g., Dreze & Stern 1985). The third method involves a shortcut procedure. It relies on using a particular data source that is direct and simple alternative to suing market price data, i.e. producer price data (Brent 1996).

In order to evaluate the economic impacts of the project there is in general two sets of shadow prices applicable. So-called first-best shadow prices refer to cases in which the shadow prices would have been estimated in terms of equilibria which would exist after optimal correction of all distortions in all sectors (incl. private sector). On the other hand, second-best shadow pricing refers to prices which do not assume that these corrections have occurred, or will occur in all sectors (Ward & Deren 1991). The term second-best shadow pricing derives from the theory of second best which assumes that we can have no assurance that meeting some but not all optimum conditions will make us better of (e.g., Polkinghorn 1979). Second-best shadow prices take into account several inherent conflicts and tradeoff facing managers of the public sector, in other words they leave some sectors intact emphasizing those sectors which are most affected by the project. Especially with a small project assumption (Boadway & Bruce 1984, p. 292) second-best shadow prices are commonly used - so is the case here. First-best and second-best shadow prices are closely related to the distinction of general and partial equilibrium models (for further details see, e.g., Mas-Colell et al. 1995, Dinwiddy & Teal 1996).

In this dissertation the shadow pricing procedure was conducted separatively for differential benefits and costs. Differential costs were divided into three "cost classes" (Figure 2.4) which in most part (app. 90-95%) generate the total differential costs of seed orchards. This division into cost classes is analogous to the basic idea that there are key sectors in the economy (Dasgupta & Pearce 1978, p. 111). Each cost class consisted of subactivities, and the inputs (such as labour) of these subactivities were finally shadow priced (Figure 2.4). Prior to shadow pricing, however, transfer payments



Figure 2.4. General shadow pricing procedure.

such as taxes and social security payments were deleted from the financial values of the inputs (Figure 2.4). This is due to the fact that transfer payments do not represent direct claims on the country's resources but merely reflect a transfer of the control over resource allocation from one member or sector of society to another (Squire & van der Tak 1981, pp. 19-20).

The main shadow pricing procedure of differential costs was conducted by estimating the market structure for each input so that the divergency between prevailing market price and the price reflecting perfect competition (i.e. Pareto-efficient equilibrium prices) could be determined. The initial purpose for this detailed examination was to catch and further quantify the specific features prevailing for each input in seed orchards. In practice this was done by specific coefficients which are analogous to generally applied conversion factors (see, Ward & Deren 1991, p. 75) referring to the ratio of the economic value to the financial value of items in the project cash flow. These coefficients varied between 0.6 and 1.0, and they were study specific. In other words, the coefficients were evaluated separatively in each study (further discussed in empirical studies). To some extent, this empirical approach can be seen as case-sensitive implying a lack of generability, but on the other hand, the detailed examination of market structures supplies important information that can be used as a basis for designing policies to remove the market distortions (see, Squire & van der Tak 1981). Formally, the shadow pricing of the inputs could be presented by formula:

$$SP_i = \left[FV_i - TP_i\right] *C_i^M$$
 [2.2]

where

 $SP_i$ = shadow price for input *i*   $FV_i$ = financial value, i.e. market price for input *i*   $TP_i$ = transfer payment of input *i*   $C_i^M$ = coefficient reflecting the prevailing market structure for input *i* (e.g. oligopolistic competition, monopoly),  $\leq 1$ 

The shadow pricing of differential benefits was much simplier than that of differential costs. In short, stumpage prices were assumed to reflect correctly the social costs involved (see Appendix 3 for further details).

## 2.1.5 Discounting process

## Background

After having identified the differential costs and benefits and having them shadow priced properly the next task in the calculation process was to commensurate the future units with current units. This was done by discounting, i.e. "downgrading" the future benefits and costs to present. The applied discount rate was indisputably one of the most decisive factors affecting the profitability. For this reason the discounting process should be examined in detail.

# General

The two fundamental causes which determine the rate of interest are time preference (noted as subjective element) and investment opportunity (objective element). Discounting (computing from future to present values) is essential in time valuation, that is, the problem of ascertaining the capital value of future income (Fisher 1930).

The choice of a suitable rate of interest with which future net benefits are to be discounted has occupied a major part of the discussions on CBA, especially when the decision criterion is NPV (although also the IRR method involves a predetermined interest rate to which the calculated internal rate of return is compared; Irvin 1978). Choosing a suitable interest rate is of vital importance for a number of reasons. First, if too low a rate of interest is chosen, socially inefficient projects will be undertaken. Conversely, if too high an interest rate is chosen efficient projects will fail to clear the hurdle of acceptability. Second, what is at stake in the choice of a discount rate is the allocation of resources between the public and the private sectors of the economy (Brown & Jackson 1991). If a unit of resource is extracted from the private sector to build a public project, what is its opportunity cost ? Rates of return on private investment should be observable and relevant. But many such rates can be observed with respect to different industries and financial instruments and these opportunities differ among individuals.

The market value is a function of expected future income and the discount rate, and there is never certainty as to whether the result is a matter of discount rate or differences in expectations. Some analysts (e.g., McKean 1958) suggest that with capital rationing, the relevant opportunity cost for

any public project is another public project. Thus, the rate of discount rate should be the rate of return on the marginal project. However, the problem arises when defining the marginal project (Schmid 1989). For a private firm the true cost of capital for an investment should be a function of the risk in the cash flows generated by the investment and the marginal debt capacity of the investment (Fortson 1986), but problems arise when determining the marginal debt capacity from the society's point of view.

Determining the social discount rate (SDR) is analogous to finding the distribution weights. Both distribution weights and the SDR involve attaching coefficients to the benefits and costs. For distribution weights, one values the benefits and costs that go to different individuals at the same point of time; while for the SDR, one values the benefits and costs that go to the same individuals at different points of time (Brent 1996). There are two main candidates to measure SDR, the social opportunity cost rate, SOC (denoted also as SOCC or SOCR) and the social time preference rate, STPR (denoted also as SRTP) (e.g., Pearce & Nash 1989, Brown & Jackson 1991, Brent 1996). Briefly, the social opportunity cost of capital, SOC, is a measure to society of the next best alternative use to which the resources employed in the public project might otherwise have been put (Brown & Jackson 1991). The STPR, on the other hand, assigns current values to future consumption reflecting society's evaluations of the relative desirability of consumption at different periods of time, i.e. STPR tries to use discount rate to reflect society's valuation of future consumption (Pearce & Nash 1989, Brown & Jackson 1991, Gregersen et al. 1995), or put it differently, to evaluate society's preference for present consumption at the expense of more rapid growth (Gregersen & Contreras 1992). Only if the assumption of optimal investment holds, these two rates will "conflate" to one single rate. But it is precisely because opinion favours the view that economies do not operate at the optimal level of investment that these two divergent rates exist.

Technically, the difference between the SOC and the STPR can be explained by the following reasoning (Baumol 1968). Assume that government can borrow at the rate of s, and assume further this government's borrowing rate is equal to the STPR. Let there be a corporation tax equal to t, which is levied on the profits of private industry. From the private company point of view, shareholders will expect at least s per cent, otherwise they will secure better returns by lending to the government. But to provide them with s per cent or more, companies must earn a *gross* rate (r,

SOC) of s/1 -t since t per cent disappears in corporate tax. Self-evidently,

$$r = \frac{s}{1-t} > s \qquad [2.3]$$

since *t* is less than unity.

There are two reasons why the rate of return on private investment is relevant to discussion of the social discount rate. First, the notion of a social discount rate arises from the view that the cost of capital in the private sector is an inappropriate measure for evaluating government spending. An opposing view is that government should employ the same measure of capital cost as citizens do. To determine the practical significance of this difference in viewpoint requires both numerical specification of a social discount rate and estimation or measure of the private sector rate. Secondly, if there is a difference between the two rates, a method must be worked out for dealing with the problem of possible misallocation of resources. In other words, to employ a social discount rate as a feature of the government's resource-allocation apparatus requires information about the profitability of private investment that will be displaced or stimulated by the government's investment behaviour. However, the idea of "the" rate of return on private investment is itself an abstraction. The concept follows from equilibrium theory, in which rates of return obtainable from investment in many activities are equalized. Financial information (i.e. empirical counterparts of the theoretic concept), at best, may provide insight only into *average* rates of return. Yet it is the *marginal* rate of return that is relevant to resource allocation. (Stockfisch 1982, p. 258).

The market rate of interest can be used to measure the social discount rate, SDR *only* if so-called "first-best" optimum exists. This indicates that the only constraint affecting welfare maximization is the production function. If there exists some additional constraint, the one is in a "second-best world". In developed countries (such as Finland), transaction costs and capital taxes are imposed that drive a wedge between what investors are willing to pay and savers are willing to receive. As long as there is an additional constraint (e.g. capital taxes), the market rate of interest should not be used as the SDR (Brent 1996).

It would be difficult to mount a decisive case for or against any rate of discount rate governments might to choose, but it is still fair to say that the lower part of the discount rate range would be associated with the STPR approach, and the higher values recommended by the SOC advocated (Brent 1996). Sometimes the case for using a social rate of discount *lower* than the private rate has been argued on the following grounds: super-responsibility argument (the government has also responsibility to future generations), dual-role argument (some members may be more concerned about the welfare of the future generations than their day-to-day market activities) and isolation argument, which states that members of the present generation may be willing to join in a collective contract of more savings by all, though unwilling to save more in isolation (Sen 1982). The last argument is the most controversial which is elaborated on by ,e.g., Harberger (1964).

The variance of the rate of return declines with the duration of the investment and therefore the maximum rate of return also declines with the duration of the investment (Binkley 1981). In addition, there are studies (e.g., Klemperer et al. 1993) suggesting that the appropriate risk premium (and thus the resulting compound discount rate) may decline with lengthening payoff period for many forest investments, although forestry investments in general are not considered risky (Thomson 1989). However, it can be concluded from the above that it is well grounded that with long-term projects such as tree breeding the lower part of the discount rate range should be applied. This view is supported by a recent, technically stressed study (Weitzman 1998). In addition, lower discount rates (Binkley 1981). This is in accordance with the growing concern about sustainability (of natural resources).

There are alternatives to conventional (also den oted as standard) discounting to be applied in public investment calculations. To name few, dual rate approach (Manning 1977), modified discounting (Kula 1988) and logarithmic discounting (Heal 1998) have been suggested. In dual rate approach a "social discount rate" is being used for long range investments affecting future generations, and a more normal rate is being used for harvest scheduling. However, there are some drawbacks with this method. For example, the initial amount of public funding has to be divided in order to commensurate these different results with different discount rates to other projects' net benefits. Usually, this is more or less obscure. In modified discounting method discount factors are weighted

according to the structure of the population in terms of its generation. The effect is to give higher weights to future costs and benefits than under conventional discounting (Kula 1988). Logarithmic discounting measures time by equal proportional increments rather than by equal absolute increments. Logarithmic discounting at some given discount rate places very much more weight on the long-term future than does exponential (or conventional geometric) discounting at the same constant rate. This method implies that in discounting we measure distance into the future according to the logarithm of time. The underlying idea is so-called Weber-Fechner law which says that human responses to a change in a stimulus are nonlinear and are inversely proportional to the existing level of the stimulus (Heal 1998).

Before selecting the discount rate(s) in the NPV method, there is one important task to be done. Namely, the effect of inflation must be taken into account. One must either estimate the rate of inflation (assuming that it will be identical for costs and benefits) and add it to the appropriate discount rate or express all flows in constant prices before discounting (Irvin 1978). The latter technique was applied here, and the current prices were deflated by the whole sale price index.

#### Applicable discount rates for Finnish conditions

In Finland *return on forestry* has exceeded inflation by app. 3% during the last two decades, years 1972-1994 (Penttinen et al. 1996). Thus, it might be advisable to take this 3% as a starting point for the discount rate, although this percentage does not originate from the public-sector forestry investments, but from an "overall" return of forestry. Nevertheless, there is little support to select any particular discount rate for public-sector investment in Finland due to the lack of empirical studies dealing with the issue. An earlier study (Björk 1984) suggested that the range of 3% to 7% is empirically justified in government projects in Finland, depending on the particular theoretical framework applied.

- 2.2. Seed producers' viewpoint
- 2.2.1 Profitability conditions for a single firm

In its simplest form, the profitability for a single firm producing orchard seed can be calculated by subtracting production costs from sales revenues. Formally, this can be presented by the following:

$$P_{sf} = pf(q, x) - cq - zx \qquad [2.4]$$

, where  $P_{sf}$  = profitability for a single firm

q = labour input
x = other inputs used in production
f(q,x)= production function
p= price for orchard seed produced according to f(·)
c, z= given prices for inputs q and x, respectively

In this dissertation the focuses with regard to financial profitability were *a*) to examine the overall conditions for positive  $P_{sf}$  ( $P_{sf}$ >0), and *b*) to estimate whether there are possible economies to scale still to be exploited. The solutions for profit maximization conditions were left in the background. These tasks (a, b), however, required first that the definition about the time period had to be made.

## 2.2.2 Short run and long run

In order to be able to analyse the output decisions made by a single firm (producer) two separate aspects should be underlined. First, output decisions must be analysed with respect to time period, and second the market environment need to be described (Varian 1987). However, in this dissertation the latter issue (market environment) is not examined *as such*. This is due to the established fact that there are only a few orchard seed producers in Finland (see, e.g., Metsänviljelyaineistotyöryhmän...1994, Männyn...1997), indicating an oligopolistic market structure. Rather, the issue is surveyed by quantifying the essential functions determining the orchard seed markets in order to estimate whether there are possible economies of scale still to be exploited.

The short run is defined as that period of time in which there are some fixed factors - factors that can only be used in fixed amounts. In the long run, on the other hand, the firm is free to vary all of the factors of production. In other words, in the long run the firm is free to choose the level of *all* of its inputs (e.g. labour, capital, machines) whiles in the short run it may be very difficult to adjust *some* of the inputs. Fixed costs (due to fixed factors) are the costs that must be paid regardless of what level of output the firm produces. However, there is no rigid boundary between the short and

the long run: the exact time period involved depends on the problem under examination. Moreover, there may still be quasi-fixed factors in the long run, for example it may be a feature of the technology that some costs have to be paid to produce any positive level of output (Varian 1987).

Formally, the difference between the short run and long run can be presented by the following:

$$\frac{c(y,k^{*})}{y} \ge \frac{c(y)}{y} \qquad [2.5]$$

where k<sup>\*</sup>= fixed plant size c(·)= total cost function y= output

This is consistent to saying that the firm must be able to do at least as well by adjusting plant size as by having it fixed (Varian 1987). In this study context long run instead of short run was chosen due to two reasons: the long time horizon involved in seed orchards and technical restrictions; higher-than-annual frequency data on orchard seed sales was not available.

2.2.3 LAC curves, MES, market demand and price elasticity of demand

Generally, after profit maximization condition (also denoted as marginal condition, MC=MR; see Varian 1987, Hirshleifer & Glazer 1992) is satisfied the *perfectly* competitive firm has to check whether it is making losses at that output level (Begg et al. 1994). In the checking process long-run average cost (LAC) curves are essential. They determine whether to shut down or stay in business: if in the profit-maximization output level the selling price (which equals marginal revenue in perfect competition) is higher than long-run average costs, then the firm is making profits. On the other hand, if price is less than long-run average costs, the firm should leave the industry. The checking process applies also to monopoly and imperfect competition, although, e.g. the monopoly price usually exceeds marginal revenue.

One applicable method to reveal the market structure is to examine the LAC curves and minimum efficient scales (MES). Minimum efficient scale indicates the point at which the LAC curve *first* 

becomes horizontal (Begg et al. 1994). Stated differently, MES is the point where dLAC/dx = 0 (x is output). By comparing the MES *relative* to the output of the industry as a whole, estimates about the prevailing market structure can be made: large proportions indicate imperfect competition, e.g. oligopoly. One approximation of the output of the industry can be given by the market (also denoted as industry) demand curve, because market demand curve reflects the sum of individual demand curves at each price (e.g., Friedman 1976), and also indicates the realized output which has been produced at the prevailing price. The market demand for a good can be presented by the following (Varian 1987):

$$X^{1}(p_{1},p_{2},m_{1},...,m_{n}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}^{1}(p_{1},p_{2},m_{i}) \qquad [2.6]$$

 $X^{1}(p_{1},...m_{n}) =$  aggregate market demand for good 1 where  $x_{i}^{1}(p_{1},p_{2},m_{i}) =$  consumer i's demand function for good 1  $p_{1}, p_{2} =$  prices for goods 1 and 2  $m_{i} =$  consumer i's income

The geometric interpretation of the aggregate demand curve is that individuals' demand curves are summed horizontally (Varian 1987).

The responsiveness of quantity to price changes is measured by the elasticity of demand (e.g., Stigler 1970, Friedman 1976, Parkin 1997). This price elasticity of demand is usually measured by the percentage changes in price and quantity in order to have an elasticity measure that is independent of the units in which price and quantity are expressed (e.g., Friedman 1976, Varian 1987, Hirshleifer & Glazer 1992, Parkin 1997). Formally presented by (Hirshleifer & Glazer 1992):

$$\eta_{x} = \frac{\partial x/x}{\partial P_{x}/P_{x}} \qquad [2.7]$$

where  $\eta_x =$  price elasticity of commodity x  $P_x =$  price of commodity x Demand is said to be elastic if the price elasticity (denoted by  $\eta_x$  here) is more negative than -1. Demand is inelastic if the price elasticity lies between -1 and 0 (Begg et al. 1994). In words the former (elastic demand) means that the quantity demanded is very responsive to price: if the price is increased by 1 per cent, the quantity demanded decreases more than 1 per cent (Blair & Kenny 1982, Varian 1987). However, it is noteworthy that since elasticity is usually *changing* along a demand curve, it is generally wrong to identify a demand curve as elastic or inelastic; it would be correct to say that in the neighbourhood of some given price, the demand is elastic or inelastic (Hirshleifer & Glazer 1992). In general the elasticity of demand for a good is determined by the closeness of substitutes for it, the proportion of income spent on it and the time lapse since its price changed (Parkin 1997).

One of the most important reasons for employing the elasticity concept (when dealing with demand curves) is that it provides a convenient method of indicating the behaviour of total receipts. The change in total receipts depends on two factors: the change in price and the change in quantity (Friedman 1976). The relationship between (price) elasticity and total revenue can be tested by total revenue test, which is a method of estimating the price elasticity of demand by observing the change in total revenue that results from a price change (with all other influences on the quantity sold remaining unchanged). If a price cut increases total revenue, demand is elastic; if a price cut decreases total revenue, demand is inelastic (Parkin 1997). This relationship can be also discovered from the following formula (Varian 1987):

$$\frac{\Delta R}{\Delta p} = q[1-|\epsilon(p)|] \qquad [2.8]$$

where  $\Delta R$  = change in total revenue

 $\Delta p$ = change in price q= quantity demanded  $\epsilon(p)$ = price elasticity of demand

### 2.3 Private forest owner's viewpoint

## 2.3.1. Decision making environment

The most desirable decision is one which is preferred by the decision maker after taking into account not only monetary value, but also other factors such as the risk associated with the outcomes (Anderson et al. 1994). The risks associated with improved (orchard seed) and unimproved (stand seed) material either in direct sowing or in planting can be considered to be more or less identical, and thus they can be ignored. Also the risk associated with, e.g. fire occurrence (see Caulfield 1988) can *a priori* be expected to be identical for both material. In this connection, however, it should be brought out that previous studies (e.g., Venäläinen et al. 1994, Ahtikoski & Pulkkinen 1999) have indicated that there might be small differences in vitality (measured by survival rates) especially in direct Scots pine sowing. On the other hand, in large-scale (national) silvicultural practice the divergence cannot be converted into monetary value without substantial speculativeness involved in the process.

For a private forest owner there are two artificial regeneration methods: he can sow either seed or plant seedlings. In direct sowing of commercial tree species in Finland (Scots pine, Silver birch and Norway spruce) the seed material costs build up approximately 70% of the total sowing costs (Kinnunen 1997). Thus, for a private forest owner, as a rational decision maker, it is of vital importance to choose the most cost-effective seed. In this connection it is assumed that a forest owner is acting rationally, i.e. maximizing utility (see, Arrow 1992: utility maximization and rationality). For all commercial tree species grown in Finland there are only two alternatives for seed material: (natural) stand seed and orchard (improved) seed. The cost difference between the stand and orchard seed material does exist, and varies between tree species, but in recent years it has been smallest for Scots pine (e.g., Hänninen 1995, Kinnunen 1997).

The orchard seed possesses a potential for higher total outturns compared to stand seed in a form of better vitality and better growth properties. The expectations with regard to higher outturns in the future might be reflected by a higher willingness to pay for orchard seed (WTP<sub>o</sub>) than for stand seed (WTP<sub>N</sub>), i.e. WTP<sub>o</sub> >WTP<sub>N</sub>. Thus, it is economically justified for private forest owners (under rationality assumption) to pay more for orchard than stand seed, given that higher outturns can be

realized in the future.

In planting, seed material costs form only a very small proportion of the total production costs of seedlings, say 1-3%, and with some species (e.g. Scots pine) these costs cannot even be separated from other production costs. Moreover, it can be argued that:

$$c_{o}(s_{o}, m, a) \approx c_{N}(s_{N}, m, a)$$
 [2.9]

,where:

 $c_o(\bullet) = total cost function for seedlings made of orchard seed$  $<math>c_N(\bullet) = total cost function for seedlings made of stand seed$  $<math>s_o = seed$  material costs when using orchard seed  $s_N = seed$  material costs when using stand seed m = management costs incl. e.g. costs of nursery sowing, fertilization, culling, transport: i.e. direct production costs of seedlings a = administration costs incl., e.g. costs of marketing, rents, and salaries of supervising personnel

In words formula [2.9] means that the total costs of production of seedlings are more or less the same regardless of seed material origin. This is coherent to saying that the prices of seedlings facing a private forest owner are identical for seedlings grown from stand seed and seedlings grown from orchard seed.

2.3.2 Difference investment method for profitability calculation

Difference investment method is preferred to the sole comparison of the NPVs under imperfect capital markets (i.e. borrowing rate of the financial market,  $r_v$  does not equal to the yield rate on financial market investments,  $r_s$ ) and when discount rate is changed intertemporarely (Ollonqvist & Kajanus 1992). Moreover, when there are only two alternatives to compare (as is the case of choosing seed material for direct sowing), the difference investment method is preferred to alternatives. In difference investment method the difference of *net* benefits at present value instead

of net present values is being (Ollonqvist & Kajanus 1992) examined:

$$\Pi_{diff} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{a_i - b_i}{\sum_{j=0}^{i} r_j}$$
 [2.10]

, where:

 $\Pi_{\text{diff}} = \text{difference investment (FIM)}$  $a_i, b_i = \text{forest investments}$  $e^{\sum_{j=0}^{i} r_j} = e^{r_0} e^{r_1} e^{r_2} \dots e^{r_i}$ 

In formula [2.10]  $\Pi_{diff} > 0$  indicates that investment *a* is to be preferred to investment *b* (Johansson & Löfgren 1985, Ollonqvist & Kajanus 1992). In the difference investment method the discounted costs are subtracted from the discounted benefits resulting in net benefit within *each* time period. These separate time periods constitute the final time horizon relevant to problem setting.

The profitability of using orchard seed in direct sowing was calculated by applying the difference investment method (Ollonqvist & Kajanus 1992), and it was evaluated from the private forest owner's point of view. The present value of the outturns in normal (i.e. unimproved) stand was subtracted from the present value of the outturns in an improved stand. Then, the initial sowing cost difference (between orchard and stand seed) was subtracted from this figure indicating a *net* benefit at present value as the original article suggests (Ollonqvist & Kajanus 1992). Formally,

$$\pi_{tb} = \sum_{t_1}^{t} JT_t * (D_p)^t - \sum_{n_1}^{n_1} NS_n * (D_p)^n - (C_g(S) - C_0(S))$$
 [2.11]

where:

 $\pi_{tb}$  = net benefit, FIM/hectare

JT<sub>t</sub>=financial value, FIM/ha (assessed by using trend stumpage price as a unit of measure) of a thinning or final cut in an improved stand

 $NS_n$  = financial value of a thinning or final cut in

a normal stand without genetic gains  $D_p$ = discount factor (see Table 2.1)  $t_1$ = time (in years) of the first commercial thinning in an improved stand  $n_1$ = time of the first commercial thinning in a natural stand tt= time of the final cut in an improved stand nn= time of the final cut in a natural stand  $C_g(S)$ = initial sowing cost (FIM/ha) when using orchard seed  $C_0(S)$ = initial sowing cost (FIM/ha) when using stand seed

# 2.3.3 Choice of a discount rate

There is no rigid rule for applicable discount rates to be used in private forest investments, but some principles about the rate can be given. First, a higher rate can be expected to be applied for a nonindustrial private forest owner (NIPF) who operates (e.g. investing forest measures) with loan money than an NIPF who invests with savings. Second, with increasing risks higher returns are commonly required (see, e.g., Megginson 1997). Finally, investments for private forestry are in general considered as low-risk investments when compared to main alternatives (public bonds and real estate) - this can somewhat be interpreted by assuming lower interest rates for forestry. In addition, the roundwood market in Finland has encountered more stable supply and demand conditions than other raw material markets on average (Hannelius 1997).

The starting point in determining applicable discount rate for private forest investments in Finland is evidently past relative returns on forest investments. Recent studies (e.g. Penttinen et al. 1996, Tilli 1998) suggest that only relatively low returns are obtainable from forest investments. Returns of forest investments have exceeded the inflation by approximately 3% (Penttinen et al. 1996) during 1974-1994. The total return (incl. forest asset income and the increase in the value of a forest asset) has varied between 5.8-6.3% during the period 1986-1996 (Tilli 1998). Another study reported that in 1995 the overall profitability (expressed in percentage) of private forestry was 3.78% for the whole country, ranging from 2.26% to 6.91% (Hannelius 1997).

# 2.4 Applied data and time series analysis

#### Stumpage prices and time series analysis

The primary idea was to obtain as wide-ranging time series as was possible. This is in accordance with the long time horizon associated with this research. The disadvantage of this procedure was that it did not take into account regional differences in stumpage prices (see, e.g., Toppinen 1998, Vaara 1998) since the longest available time series of stumpage prices are from national level averages (Finnish Statistical ...1999, p. 165). On the other hand, these relatively small regional differences can be considered to be well offset by the advantage of obtaining long time series. The underlying data for time series modelling mainly consisted of deflated stumpage prices between the years 1950 - 1995 (Appendix 4). From 1996 onwards stumpage prices in each study were forecasted according to the equations presented in Appendix 4. The underlying idea was to standardize the division into past and forecasted values across the studies. The deflation rates were calcualted based on the wholesale price index of domestic goods (Statistical Yearbook of Finland 1997, Table 373).

In this research the main purposes for modelling stumpage time series data were to identify a possible trend and to forecast the future values according to this trend. No attempt was made to formulate a behavioural relationship between the stumpage prices and other variables (e.g., national income, aggregate demand for forest products, unemployment rate). The idea was to construct as simplistic models as possible, but still powerful enough to forecast the future values (see Harvey 1993). The best method for the purpose was linear regression by ordinary least squares, OLS (see, e.g., Koutsoyiannis 1981). In identifying a possible trend in a time series OLS is the most convenient and powerful method since it results in a straight line which correponds the underlying data (see, e.g., Koutsoyiannis 1981, Chatfield 1989).

With respect to the observations there were two issues which should be noted. First, for Silver birch veneer the initial stumpage prices were from 1975-1995 instead of 1973-1995 (see Finnish statistical...1998, p.158). The values of the years 1973 and 1974 were omitted because of the oil crisis occuring at that time - the applied method for modelling (see below) would have resulted in decreasing future values (i.e, a negative trend) if those values had been included in the analysis. In time series analysis it is well justified to omit so-called outliers at the beginning or at the end of the

series if these observations can be explained by some exogeneous phenomenon (see, e.g., SPSS 1994). Second, time series of softwood logs were used in forecasting the future prices for Scots pine sawlogs. The time series of softwood logs was considerably longer than that of Scots pine sawlogs (see, e.g., Finnish Statistical...1998, p. 158). However, the future prices of softwood logs needed to be converted into the future prices of Scots pine sawlogs. This was achieved through the following procedure. The future prices of softwood logs obtained from the linear regression (Appendix 4) were converted into specific coefficients by dividing each forecasted value by the value obtained for the year 1995. Next, the value of Scots pine sawlogs in the felling season of 1994/1995 (FIM 238/m<sup>3</sup>: Finnish Statistical...1998, p.158) was multiplied by these coefficients to attain the future prices for Scots pine sawlogs. Similar procedures have been applied earlier in Finland (see, e.g., Keipi & Laakkonen 1980).

Because of the difficulty in including all the important explanatory variables in the equation, time series regression frequently violates the assumption of uncorrelated errors. This usually leads to the goodness-to-fit and significance levels being unreliable (e.g., SPSS 1994). Not surprisingly also in this research linear regressions showed poor statistical behaviour (Appendix 4). Consequently, a sensitivity analysis regarding the method for forecasting future prices was called for. In each study the assessments were recalculated with a) the stumpage prices for felling season 1994/1995 (Finnish Statistical...1998, p. 158) and b) a triple trend (i.e, triplicating the annual increase of the linear equation).

An auxiliary analysis was conducted in order to compare the past cost development with the past development of benefits. Indices of wage and salary earnings (Statistical Yearbook of Finland 1997, Table 345) were chosen to represent past cost development. Average stumpage prices (softwood logs) in private forests (Finnish statistical...1998, p. 158) were adopted for depicting the past development of benefits. The primary idea was to examine whether there would be a tendency for costs or benefits to increase (annually) at a different pace. Technically the past development of both series was modelled by dividing each value (1950-1996) by the deflated numeraire corresponding to the value of the year 1949. The level of deflation was calculated according to the wholesale price index for domestic goods (Statistical Yearbook of Finland 1997, Table 373). The two series were then plotted into the same diagram (Figure 2.5). On the basis of visual examination, it seems that

costs are prone to increase faster than benefits. Thus, it can be surmised that there were solid grounds for applying separate time series models for forecasting the future costs and benefits.



**Figure 2.5.** Time series for wages and salaries reflecting past development for costs, and stumpage prices reflecting past development for benefits; 1949-1996. The base year for both series was 1949 (whose value was set for numeraire). Both series deflated by the wholesale price index of domestic goods.

## Differential costs and time series analysis

As regards costs, again the primary idea was to obtain wide-ranging time series on which to base the modelling. The longest available time series was derived from the average hourly earnings of workers in public sector between 1970-1995 (Statistical Yearbook of Finland 1997, Statistics Finland 1999). Then, this series was compared to the *overall* cost development of the seed orchard activity by plotting the observations into the same graph. They followed approximately the same pattern, and the average earnings per hour were chosen as the base data of the time series analysis. The observations were deflated by the wholesale price index of domestic goods (Statistical Yearbook of Finland 1997, Table 373) before adjusting them to time series analysis. The deflated differential costs before the year 1996 were taken as such into assessments, but the forecasted

values (since the year 1996) of differential costs were calculated by a specific procedure. First, the initial forecasted values from the regression model (Appendix 4) were converted into annual increases (expressed in percentages). This was done by subtracting from each future value (according to the regression) the value obtained for the previous year. The differences were further divided by that value of the previous year. Finally, these annual increases were applied to the differential costs to attain future differential costs.

Linear regression model (parameters estimated by OLS; Koutsoyiannis 1981, Harvey 1993) for forecasting the future cost development was employed also here. Contradictory to the linear regressions of stumpage prices the regression model of costs showed satisfactory statistical behaviour (Appendix 4). Thus, there was no need for sensitivity analysis with regard to forecasting method. However, sensitivity to possible changes in trend costs was indirectly tested by another analysis which included 50% annual increase and 25% annual decrease of the costs.

## 3. Empirical studies

- 3.1 Society's viewpoint
- 3.1.1 Study 1: Profitability of present-generation seed orchards
- 3.1.1.1 Framework and restrictions

## Scots pine

Due to the combined effect of background pollination and lower seed production capacity than anticipated, the orchard seed of northern clones (i.e. seed from seed orchards established for northern Finland) cannot be used in the initial target area. In practice, this has led to seed orchards for southern and central Finland and for northern Finland producing seed approximately to the same target area (e.g., Nikkanen et al. 1999). This fact was taken into account including all functioning present-generation seed orchards in the assessments regardless of their *original* target area. In other words, the profitability was determined for the *entity* of all present seed orchards.

There were two time horizons for the costs of present-generation Scots pine seed orchards: a) from 1965 to 2018 assuming that the average seed production time of a single seed orchard is 40 years with a 15-year time lag between establishment and seed production, and b) from 1965 to 2028

assuming that the average seed production time is 50 years (Ahtikoski 1995). Further, there were two alternatives within both time horizons for estimated annual seed supply, resulting also in two different sets of differential costs (Ahtikoski 1995). The first alternative (denoted as "40A" or "50A", depending on the seed production time) was based on the annual sales from Patama nursery of the FPS (Ahtikoski 1995): these sales were adjusted to reflect the annual cultivation hectares by using specific "conversion coefficients" (Ahtikoski 1995, p. 10). In another, hypothetical alternative ("40B" or "50B") it was assumed that *after* the year 1994 (between 1978 and 1993 the hectares were identical to the base alternative) the area annually cultivated with improved material would correspond to total cultivation area in southern and Central Finland, indicating app. 64 000 hectares (Ahtikoski 1995). This hypothetical alternative was taken into the assessment in order to emphasize the initial magnitude of the establishment: originally it was assumed that the established seed orchards would produce enough seed for the entire cultivation area in southern Finland (e.g., Metsäpuiden...1989, Venäläinen & Koponen 1997).

The annual financial values of differential costs were based on the combined values of the FPS and FFTB during 1971-1993 (Ahtikoski 1995), reflecting an annual average of FIM 7.23 millions (nominal, i.e. not deflated). The differential costs of seed orchards after the year 1994 were formed according to this figure. Besides the above-mentioned annual average there were other differential costs included in the assessments (see Appendix 5). Initially, the assessment was conducted by assuming that market prices coincided with shadow prices (Ahtikoski 1995), but also an alternative assessment with shadow pricing was conducted *post hoc*. The shadow prices were calculated according to the general procedure presented earlier (see Figure 2.4). The study specific cost classes and the division into input categories are presented in detail in Appendix 6. Finally, the inputs were shadow priced with special reference to prevailing market structures (Appendix 7). The shadow pricing principles were identical for present (this study) and next-generation seed orchards (Study 2) so that these generations could be compared with regard to possible welfare effects.

Pesonen & Hirvelä's harvest scheduling models (1992) and Vuokila & Väliaho's growth and yield models (1980) were applied in order to calculate the differential benefits reflecting genetic gains. The initial harvest scheduling models of Pesonen and Hirvelä (1992) were, however, altered by decreasing the removal of the first thinning by 20% and the removals of other thinnings by 15%

(Ahtikoski 1995). These changes were done, because the initial removals in Pesonen & Hirvelä's models were considered to be too optimistic in the long-run, i.e. within rotation period (Ahtikoski 1995) - this was found out in test simulations of MELA program. The initial models were tested against the MELA test simulation of the FPS. In general the removals of Pesonen and Hirvelä's harvest scheduling models were considerably higher than the corresponding values of the MELA simulation. Alternative genetic gains were applied according to progeny test results (see Appendix 8), and they were incorporated into *two* harvest scheduling models; one by Pesonen & Hirvelä and the other by Vuokila & Väliaho. It is noteworthy that the procedure changed only the outturns, not the harvesting times, and left also the proportions of sawlogs and pulpwood intact. The stumpage prices were, as mentioned earlier, set to equal shadow prices (see Appendix 3).

Southern Finland (temperature sum > 950 d.d.) was divided equally into two growth regions for Pesonen & Hirvelä's models, and the annual cultivation area (app. 24 000 or 64 000ha) was divided further into Myrtillus and Vaccinium type forests according to the proportions suggested in 1992 by Saarenmaa (Ahtikoski 1995, p. 10).

The height-over-age site classification applied in Vuokila & Väliaho's models was equalled to forest site types in southern Finland by assuming that height index  $H_{100}$ = 27 m (dominant height at age 100yr) would correspond to Myrtillus type forest, and height index  $H_{100}$ = 24 m would correspond to Vaccinium type. The annual total cultivation area was assumed to be divided into these two height classes (corresponding to forest site types) according to Saarenmaa (1992).

The shadow priced differential benefits and costs were finally calculated in present value by the following specific cost-benefit formula:

$$NPV = \sum_{t=22}^{108 \vee 118} B_t^{diff} * (D_p)^t - \left[\sum_{t=-29}^{-20} C_t^{es} * (D_p)^t + \sum_{t=-29}^{-1} C_t^{diff \ 1} * (D_p)^t + \sum_{t=0}^{24 \vee 34} C_t^{diff \ 2} * (D_p)^t\right]$$
[3.1]

where NPV= net present value, FIM (base year 1994)  $B_t^{diff}$ = the sum of differential benefits (of growth regions) in year *t*, reflecting a genetic gain of 3%, 7% or 10%, FIM  $C_t^{es}$  = past establishment costs of seed orchards, FIM  $C_t^{diff 1}$  = past differential costs of seed orchards in year *t*, FIM t = - 29 (reflecting actual year 1965) "108" reflecting an average seed production of 40 years, and "118" reflecting an average seed production of 50 years "24" reflecting an average seed production of 40 years, and " 34" reflecting an average seed production of 50 years  $C_t^{diff 2}$  = differential costs of seed orchards in year *t*, FIM  $D_p$  = discount factor (see Table 2.1) with a 3%, 5% or 8% discount rate

Additionally, an applied cost-benefit formula for evaluating the net benefit per produced orchard seed kilogram was constructed. The discounted and prolonged costs and discounted benefits were transformed to correspond to the produced amounts of orchard seed (assuming that the seed is also sold) within the time horizon of 1978-2018. The prerequisite of this assessment was that future orchard seed demand between 1994 and 2018 would correspond to the average derived from 1978-1993. The formula was:

$$NB_{kg} = NPV / \sum_{t=-16}^{24} KG_t$$
 [3.2]

where  $NB_{kg}$ = net benefit for one kilogram of produced orchard seed with the assumption of 40-year seed production, FIM NPV = formula [3.1] (with "108" and "24" assumptions)  $KG_t$  = the produced (and sold) amount of orchard seed in year t (e.g. "-16" idicating the actual year of 1978)

To make a complete and useful economic analysis the analyst also has to provide some idea of what would happen to the chosen measures of project efficiency if the actual values of various inputs and/or outputs turn out to be different from the expected values. Using the list of parameters and estimates of the reasonable range of values for them, the sensitivity analysis is carried out (Gregersen & Contreras 1992). For Scots pine only he sensitivity to trend prices was tested. This was done

by recalculating the assessments with stumpage prices of felling season 1994/1995 ("*no trend*") and with stumpage prices reflecting a triple trend compared to the original (see Appendix 4). Sensitivity to changes in cost trend was not tested due to the good statistical behaviour of the original forecasting model (see Appendix 4). The sensitivity to different harvest scheduling models was tested earlier.

# Silver birch

There were no significant establishment or land procurement costs involved with Silver birch, because all seed orchards were in polythene tunnels covering only approximately a hectare (Finnish Statistical...1997). Basically, the assessments were conducted applying the same principles as for Scots pine, and the annual differential costs of Silver birch were derived from the combined values of the FPS and the FFTB between 1971-1993, reflecting an annual average of FIM 1.57 million (Ahtikoski 1995). These differential costs were further divided into inputs which were shadow-priced based on prevailing market structures (Appendix 7). The differential future costs (after the year 1994) were estimated according to the past annual average. The time period for the differential costs was between 1971 and 2002 (Ahtikoski 1995). There was only one alternative for annual orchard seed supply which reflected the past orchard seed sales from Haapastensyrjä Breeding Centre between 1973-1993. This average was converted into annual cultivation hectares resulting in a total of 1700 hectares (Ahtikoski 1995).

The differential benefits were calculated based on the growth and yield models of Oikarinen (1983). The removals of thinnings and final cut were increased according to percentage reflecting genetic gains. The genetic gains were estimated on the basis of progeny test results (see Appendix 9). There were two underlying harvest scheduling models with three intermediate thinnings, one for  $H_{50}$ = 26m, and the other for  $H_{50}$ = 24m. The rotation period for both models was 60 years (see Ahtikoski 1995; Appendix 4). The harvest scheduling models were extended into two growth regions (South and Central Finland) by a specific procedure (Ahtikoski 1995, p. 10).

The present values of shadow priced differential costs and benefits were calculated according to an applied cost-benefit formula:

$$NPV = \sum_{t=1}^{68} B_t^{diff} * (D_p)^t - \left[\sum_{t=-23}^{-1} C_t^{diff\,1} * (D_p)^t + \sum_{t=0}^{8} C_t^{diff\,2} * (D_p)^t\right]$$
[3.3]

where NPV= net present value, FIM (base year 1994)

- $B_t^{diff}$  = the sum of differential benefits (of growth regions) in year *t*, reflecting the genetic gains in pairs (see Appendix 9)
- $C_t^{diff 1}$  = past differential costs of seed orchards in year *t* (e.g. "-23" indicating an actual year of 1971), FIM
- $C_t^{diff 2}$  = differential costs of seed orchards in year *t*, FIM
- D  $_{\rm p}$  = discount factor with a 3%, 5% or 8% discount rate

An auxiliary cost-benefit formula was applied. The purpose was to find out the *net* benefit per one kilogram of produced and sold orchard seed during the time period of 1973-2002. The costs and benefits (appropriately discounted and prolonged) were transformed to correspond to the sold amount of orchard seed. The formula was:

$$NB_{kg} = NPV / \sum_{t=-21}^{8} KG_t$$
 [3.4]

where  $NB_{kg}$ = net benefit for one kilogram of produced orchard seed NPV = formula [3.3]  $KG_t$  = the sold amount of orchard seed in year *t* (e.g. "- 21" indicating the actual

year of 1973)

The assessments rested upon relatively restrictive assumptions. These needed to be examined in detail in order to evaluate how sensitive the NPVs are with respect to these assumptions. The robustness of the results as regards several variables was tested by sensitivity analyses (Table 3.1).

variable	range	specification
trend stumpage price	no trend, original trend, triple	no trend indicates stumpage
	trend	prices of felling season
		1994/1995, in <i>triple trend</i> the
		annual absolute increase is
		tripled
removal percentage	30% (denoted as "model B"),	one alternative adopts the removal
	50% ("model A")	classes and the other adopts the
		removal percentage of 50% for site
		class $H_{50}$ = 26m and 40% for site
		class $H_{50} = 24m$
rotation period*	5 (denoted as "early2"), 10	"5" indicates that rotation period is
	("early1")	shortened by 5 years due to genetic
		gains (harvesting times intact), "10"
		indicates that rotation period is shor-
		tened by 10 years and each thinning
		is executed 5 years earlier

Table 3.1. Sensitivity analyses for Silver birch, study 1.

\*Recent progeny test results (Hagqvist & Hahl 1998) indicate that average rotation period could be decreased even by 10 years.

# 3.1.1.2 Results

# Scots pine

The results (assessed according to formula [3.1]) indicated that the more hectares could be cultivated with the orchard seed, the higher the net benefits would be (Figure 3.1: 40A vs. 40B). This result supports the well-known fact that present-generation seed orchards have not been utilized with the magnitude as anticipated at the time of their establishment (see, e.g., Nikkanen & Antola 1998). If orchard seed had been utilized in larger annual area, the more profitable the seed orchards would have been from the society's viewpoint (Figure 3.1: "40A" vs. "40B"). In this connection, only the results for the average length of 40 years of productive life are presented, since

at present 50-year length of productive life of seed orchards is not tenabledue to intensive establishments of the next generation seed orchards. These new orchards start to compensate the present seed orchards from approximately the year 2010 (see, Männyn...1997).



**Figure 3.1**. Net present values (NPVs) for Scots pine with original set of prices ("original"), shadow prices ("shadow") and according to Vuokila &Väliaho's models ("Vuokila & Väliaho"). "Hypothetical seed supply" ("40B") reflects the results with approximately 64 000 hectares of annual cultivation area. Discount rate 3 per cent in both graphs.

The exact genetic gain (the percentage increase in removal volume) where NPV would equal zero was estimated by linear interpolation (MatLab 1992, Lindfield & Penny 1995). For the shadow priced alternative this estimated genetic gain was 7.7% (discount rate 3%) indicating an over-than-average percentage with regard to latest progeny test results (see Appendix 8). For the hypothetical alternative this corresponding break-even genetic gain was only 1.99%. This further confirms the fact that the present-generation orchard seed should have been utilized more intensively, i.e., the large scale establishment and annual management of seed orchards have burdened the profitability considerably.

Net present values (NPVs) of the original alternative were sensitive to shadow pricing procedure (Figure 3.1) indicating that further knowledge on market structures of inputs used in seed orchards is of vital importance. Vuokila & Väliaho's harvest scheduling models resulted in somewhat similar net present values for each genetic gain as those by Pesonen & Hirvelä (Figure 3.1). There was no significant effect of different trend stumpage prices either, although the NPV turned into negative with 10% genetic gain when stumpage prices of felling season 1994/1995 (i.e. no trend) were used instead of the original trend (Figure 3.2a). On the other hand, the use of trend prices is supported by recent studies (e.g. Toppinen 1998) which confirm that there has been a positive trend in stumpage prices during the last 50 years.

The *net benefit* associated with the produced and sold orchard seed kilogram (according to formula [3.2]) in original alternative was approximately FIM 1 000 when the genetic gain was 10% (Figure 3.2b). With other genetic gains the net benefit was negative. These are in accordance with the former overall results (see Figure 3.1), but what is interesting here is the magnitude of the net benefit per kilogram. Thus, it is important to be able to forecast the demand of the orchard seed.



**Figure 3.2**. a) NPVs with alternative trend stumpage prices (original, triple trend, no trend). b) Net benefit per produced orchard seed kilogram, FIM /kg. Discount rate 3 per cent in both graphs.

## Silver birch

The net present value (discount rate 3%) was negative even with genetic gains of 10% in South and 8% in Central Finland (Figure 3.3a). If the genetic gains turn out to be 15% in South and 12% in Central Finland, the present value of net benefits per one kilogram is over FIM 20 thousand, the discount rate being 3% (Figure 3.3b).



**Figure 3.3**. a) NPVs for Silver birch present-generation seed orchards. b) Net benefit per produced orchard seed kilogram, FIM /kg. Discount rate 3 per cent in both graphs.

The above mentioned is in accordance with the overall results (see Figure 3.3a), but what is significant here is the magnitude of the net benefit per kilogram of orchard seed. Thus, it is of paramount importance to forecast future demand accurately and in a way that that does not burden the profitability.

One reason for the considerable difference between the two species in net benefit is that Silver birch orchard seed is more "effective" with regard to the seed-to-plantable seedling ratio, i.e. one kilogram of seed "spreads" to larger area and thus more benefits can be attained. Another reason is

that with the corresponding genetic gain (e.g. 7%) the harvest scheduling model of Silver birch leads to higher PVs of the benefits compared t&cots pine. In addition, the regional distribution and time period of costs were different. Thus, these two species cannot be compared *per se*, but the comparison can be made when evaluating the different production and cost structures. It can be argued from the results above (net benefits per produced kilogram) that in case of present-generation seed orchards Silver birch is more cost-effective than Scots pine.

The different removal percentages had only a minor effect on the NPV (Figure 3.4a), but the analysis was distinguishably sensitive to changes in harvest scheduling (Figure 3.4b). For example, when genetic gains only reflected earlier final cut (by ten years) and intermediate thinnings (by five



**Figure 3.4.** NPVs of Silver birch present-generation seed orchards with alternative removal percentages in harvests (a). "Model A" indicates 30% average removal percentage in each harvest, and "model B" indicates 50% respectively (a). In "early 1" thinnings are executed 5 years earlier and final cut 10 years earlier than in the original harvest scheduling model, and in "early 2" each thinning is executed 5 years earlier leaving final cut intact (b). NPVs with alternative stumpage prices are presented in c). Discount rate 3% in each graph (a-c).

years) - compared to the original harvest scheduling model of Oikarinen (1983) - the net present value ("early 1") was more than three times higher than in the model in which genetic gains were estimated by increasing cutting removals of the underlying harvest scheduling model of Oikarinen 1983 (Figure 3.4b). However, decreasing the rotation period by only 5 years (intact harvests; "early2") resulted in lower NPV than the harvest scheduling model with increased cutting removals (Figure 3.4b). The results support that long rotation periods are the most important single factor which burdens the profitability in private forestry (see, e.g., Keltikangas 1973).

# 3.1.2 Study 2: Profitability of the next-generation seed orchards, South and Central Finland 3.1.2.1 Framework & restrictions

# Scots pine

The aim of this study was to evaluate *ex ante* the possible economic net returns of next-generation seed orchards from the society's point of view. Assessments were conducted by applying an empirical cost-benefit analysis (CBA). There were two specific assumptions made in the assessments. First, the possible deadweight loss due to public funding (see Boadway & Bruce 1984, Brent 1996) was ignored mainly because of the use of a partial equilibrium framework and a small project assumption. Secondly, no distributional weights were applied - it was assumed that Finland has not an objective to equalize income distribution *with the same scope* as less-developed countries have (see, e.g., Niskanen 1995). Moreover, the inequalities of income in Finland have at least declined over time (Fellman et al. 1996).

The establishment schedule was based on the report "Metsäpuiden siemenviljelysohjelma vuosille 1990-2025" (1989). The initial figures (see, Metsäpuiden siemenviljelysohjelma..1989, p. 45) were, however, slightly altered: establishment for each time period was postponed by 5 years due to delays in the original seed orchard establishment schedule (see, Männyn...1997). In addition, the annual average seed production per hectare (kg) was not taken into account as an endogenous variable. The primary interests were the establishment schedule of the seed orchards and the assumption that the produced orchard seed would meet the anticipated demand. It was conceived that 60% of the annual sowing area in South and Central Finland (temperature sum > 950 d.d)

would be sown with orchard seed by the year 2019, reflecting a total of 10 460 hectares. This figure was based on the report "Metsänviljelyaineistotyöryhmän raportti" (1994). The annually planted area with the next-generation orchard seed starts to compensate linearly the present-generation orchard seed from the year 2010 achieving the level of past-ten-year average sales of Patama nursery, 21 305 hectares, by the year 2021 (see Appendix 10). Specific conversion coefficients were used in translating the produced amounts of seed (kg) into cultivation hectares. The seed-to-plantable seedling ratio was 1 kg to 90 000 seedlings, indicating that 1 kg of orchard seed suffices for 36 hectares (planting intensity 2500 seedling/hectare). In direct sowing 1kg of orchard seed was directed to 3 hectares in terrain.

Differential costs were obtained from the accounting records of the FPS and the FFTB between 1990-1995 (Internal accounting spreadsheets 1990-1995, Tietopankki 1996). These were partly based on recent experiences of managers, especially with regard to establishment costs (Lahtinen 1995, 1997). The annual differential costs were approximately FIM 5.4 million (further details in Appendix 11). The cost classes generating these differential costs were divided into subactivities and the inputs of each subactivity were shadow-priced according to the general procedure (see Figure 2.4). The proportions of inputs within each subactivity and the average tax rates were mainly based on internal book-keeping and recent experiences of local managers (proportions and tax rates are presented in detail in Appendix 12). The actual shadow prices were determined based on prevailing market structures for each input (see, Appendix 7). The future values of the differential costs were estimated on the basis of the formula presented in Appendix 4. Formally the shadow priced differential costs were calculated by the following:

$$C^{diff} = \sum_{t=-1}^{15} C_t^{es} * (D_p)^t + \sum_{t=0}^{40} \left( C_t^m + C_t^p + C_t^{ad} \right) * (D_p)^t$$
 [3.5]

, where  $C^{\text{diff}}$  = discounted *differential* costs of seed orchards in present value, FIM

> $C_t^{es}$ = establishment costs of the seed orchards in year *t*   $C_t^{m}$ = management costs of the seed orchards ( including administration, fertilization, roguing etc.) in year *n*  $C_t^{p}$ = progeny testing costs in year *n*

 $C_t^{ad}$ = differential administration costs of the seed orchard activity compared to the administration costs of the stand seed collection in year *n*  $D_p$  = discount factor with a 2%, 3%, 4%, 5% or 6% discount rate

The same arguments for chosen discount rates were used here as in Study 1.

The genetic gains were incorporated into MELA program by increasing annual growth level according to corresponding percentage (see Appendix 13 for details). The present value of the harvest scheduling model reflecting the increased annual growth level was subtracted by the present value of initial harvest scheduling model. The difference indicated differential benefit at present value. The initial biological data for simulation was located in four former local units of the FPS (see Ahtikoski 1997; a map on page 251, and Appendix 14). The harvest scheduling models incorporated with the genetic gains were simulated by MELA for two forest site types extending the models to four "growth regions" in South and Central Finland (Appendix 15). The division into forest site types, i.e. Myrtillus and Vaccinium (or corresponding) type forests was made by the proportions suggested by Saarenmaa (1992).

In each growth region the modified annual growth level (i.e., growth level with incorporated genetic gain) was on average assumed to be homogeneous. The division into growth regions was mostly based on the results of the 8th NFI (Salminen 1993). Initially, it was needed in order to be able to constitute the annual total hectares generating the benefits. Former forestry board districts were chosen as the" base units" for the simulation, because the main forest statistics are given in Finland accurately at forestry board level. The proportion (%) of each growth region of the annually sown or planted area was based on averages derived from the 1986-1995 figures of former forestry board districts (Statistical Yearbook...1987-1996) in the particular growth region (Appendix 16). The percentages reflecting genetic gains were based on progeny test results (see Appendix 8).

In this study the differential benefit accured from genetic gain could be expressed at stand level by the following:
$$B_{st}^{diff} = \sum_{t=38}^{99} JT_t * (D_p)^t - \sum_{n=38}^{102} NS_n * (D_p)^n \qquad [3.6]$$

, where B<sub>st</sub> diff = present value of differential benefits at stand level, FIM (base year 1996)
JT<sub>t</sub> = outturn of a thinning or final cut (*valued at stumpage price*) in an improved stand reflecting agenetic gain of 8%, 12% or 15%, FIM
NS<sub>n</sub> = outturn of a thinning or final cut in a normal stand (*valued at stumpage*)
D<sub>p</sub> = discount factor with a 2%, 3%, 4%, 5% or 6% discount rate

Again, the discount rate range (2%-6%) was used according to the arguments augmented in study 1. The future stumpage prices were estimated based on trend equations presented in Appendix 4.

The net benefits at national level were estimated according to the following cost-benefit formula:

$$NPV = \sum_{t=2010}^{2035} \sum_{a=1}^{4} \sum_{k}^{K} B_{st}^{diff} - C^{diff} \qquad [3.7]$$

where NPV = net present value of next-generation seed orchards, FIM
 t = year when improved material is cultivated
 a = growth region
 k, K= individual stands within a growth region
 B st diff = formula [3.6]
 C diff = formula [3.5]

A supplementary analysis was conducted. In this procedure the net benefit per produced orchard seed (expressed in FIM/kg) was assessed. The discounted benefits and costs were transformed to correspond to the projected sales of orchard seed. Two discount rates, 3% and 5%, were applied in the assessment, and the formula was:

$$NB_{kg} = NB_{agg} / \sum_{t=12}^{37} KG_t$$
 [3.8]

where  $NB_{kg}$  = net benefit for produced orchard seed, FIM/kilogram  $NB_{agg}$  = formula [3.7]  $KG_{t}$  = the sold amount of orchard seed in year *t* 

Separate sensitivity analyses were run to evaluate how sensitive the net benefits (i.e. results) were with respect to the underlying assumptions made of the study. The sensitivity to changes in a) shadow prices b) annual cultivation area c) site quality d) division of growth regions e) stem quality f) annual costs and g) trend for stumpage prices was tested (Table 3.2). Additionally, two supplementary analyses were executed. First, the effect of alternative harvest scheduling models on the NPV was evaluated. Second, the orchard seed hectares to be established were analysed by conducting a break-even analysis (see Appendix 17).

Initially in each analysis, a)-g), five different values of the NPV on the basis of five different discount rates (2, 3, 4, 5 and 6%) were calculated. Then the intermediate points between the integers of discount rates were estimated by spline-function interpolation (see, e.g. Lindfield & Penny 1995). Spline-function interpolation was chosen mainly due to two reasons: a) nonlinear relation between the NPV and discount rates and b) the graphs obtained by spline-function interpolation were illustrative and easy to interpret. The initial discrete values of the NPV were converted into continuous curves by MicroCal Origin (1994) software. The interpolations (i.e., point estimates for IRR) were executed with MatLab software (MatLab 1992). Finally, the results of the sensitivity analyses were presented with MicroCal Origin (1994) by plotting the NPVs as continuous functions of discount rate.

Sensitivity analysis	range	specification
shadow prices of differential	30% decrease, market prices	
costs		
annual cultivation area	30% decrease, 30% increase	
site quality	Vaccinium, Myrtillus type	This was tested by assuming that all improved forests would be cultiva- ted on either Vaccinium or Myrtillus type sites on each growth region
division of growth regions	"worst", "best"	This was tested by assuming that all the improved material would be cultivated in the growth region re- sulting in the lowest NPVs (denoted as " worst"), or alternatively in the growth region resulting in the highest NPVs ("best").
stem quality	0%, + 8%	The proportion of sawlogs in the final cut was increased by 8% (see Venäläinen et al. 1996a,b). No imp- rovement in quality at present gene- ration (compared to natural stands) was assumed.
annual costs *	25% decrease, 50% increase	
trend for stumpage prices	no trend, triple trend	

Table 3.2. Sensitivity analyses conducted in Study 2, Scots pine.

\* Note: to some extent this analysis and the analysis for shadow prices were overlapping

# Silver birch

The same public funding and distributional weight assumptions were adopted also for Silver birch. The actual assessments for Silver birch were based mainly on the report "Männyn, kuusen ja rauduskoivun siemenviljelysten perustamissuunnitelmat" (1997). The total annual area was directed so that 50% was cultivated in South Finland and 50% in Central Finland. A specific compensation schedule between present and next-generation seed orchards was adopted (Appendix 18). The total annual cultivation area was divided into South and Central Finland. In the former

70% of the annual seed was planted in site class  $H_{50}$ = 26m and 30% in site class  $H_{50}$ = 24m, whereas in Central Finland the corresponding figures were 40% and 60%, respectively. The last crop from the third-generation seed orchards will be collected by the year 2021 in South Finland and by the year 2027 in Central Finland. The difference in time schedule is due to the different compositions of present-generation seed orchards established for South and Central Finland (e.g. normal seed orchards vs. so-called two-clones-quality seed orchards). The underlying idea was that the total production in the next generation would not exceed the present level of orchard seed production, i.e., 1 700 hectares.

For Silver birch the annual differential costs were FIM 2.1 million (see Appendix 12). Besides the total differential costs it was assumed that a new polythene tunnel would be built in 2005, costing approximately FIM 1.5 million. The shadow-pricing was done as suggested by the general procedure (see Figure 2.4), and the proportions of inputs within each subactivity were mainly based on internal book-keeping (e.g., Internal Accounting...1971-1989) and recent experiences of managers (proportions of the inputs are presented in Appendix 19). The actual shadow prices were determined according to prevailing market structures for each input (see Appendix 7).

The future differential costs were estimated based on trend equation presented in Appendix 4. Technically, the differential costs of Silver birch next-generation seed orchards can be presented by the specific formula:

$$C^{diff} = C^{B} * (D_{p})^{10} + \sum_{t=9}^{31} (C_{t}^{p} + C_{t}^{ma} + C_{t}^{ad}) * (D_{p})^{t}$$
 [3.9]

,where

C<sup>diff</sup>= differential costs of Silver birch seed orchards, FIM (base year 1996)

C<sup>B</sup>= building costs of a new polythene tunnel in year 2005, FIM

- $C_t^{p}$  = progeny testing costs in year *t*, FIM
- $C_t^{ma}$  = annual management costs in year *t*, FIM
- $C_t^{ad}$  = administration costs in year *t*, FIM
- $D_p$  = discount factor with a 2%, 3%, 4%, 5% or 6% discount rate

All terms on the right-hand side of the equation [3.9] were first appropriately shadow-priced on the basis of the principles explained above.

The future benefits were evaluated by assuming that stands would grow as Oikarinen's growth and yield models suggest (Oikarinen 1983, pp. 49, 59). The genetic gains were incorporated into two harvest scheduling models by increasing the outturns according to the corresponding genetic gain. These models were the same as in Study 1 (see, Ahtikoski 1995). The latest Finnish progeny test results on present seed orchards indicate that the genetic gain in volume growth could be as high as 29% in South and 26% in Central Finland (Hagqvist & Hahl 1998). However, in this connection lower values for genetic gains were adopted, since it was *a priori* assumed that the latest progeny test results (Hagqvist & Hahl 1998) cannot be applied to reflect an average of *all* improved stands even in the next-generation. In other words, caution was exercised in this respect.

At stand level the differential benefits within the given time period (see above) can be calculated with the following formula:

$$B_{st}^{diff} = \sum_{t=29}^{92} B_t^g * (D_p)^t - \sum_{t=29}^{92} B_t^0 * (D_p)^t$$
[3.10]

,where

 $B_{st}^{diff}$  = differential benefit, FIM (base year 1996)

B<sub>t</sub><sup>g</sup>= economic value of thinning or final cut in an improved stand (valued at stumpage) in year *t* reflecting genetic gains, FIM
B<sub>t</sub><sup>0</sup>= economic value of thinning or final cut in a normal stand (valued at stumpage) in year *t*, FIM
p= discount percent (2, 3, 4, 5 or 6%)

The future stumpage prices were estimated according to trend equations presented in Appendix 4.

Finally, the net benefits (from the society's viewpoint) were assessed by the following specific costbenefit formula:

$$NPV = \left[\sum_{t=2004}^{2021} \sum_{s}^{S} B_{st}^{diff} + \sum_{t=2010}^{2027} \sum_{k}^{K} B_{st}^{diff}\right] - C^{diff}$$
[3.11]

,where

NPV = Net present value, FIM B<sub>st</sub><sup>diff</sup> = formula [3.10] s, S = individual stands in South Finland k, K = individual stands in Central Finland C<sup>diff</sup>= formula [3.9]

The discounted costs and benefits were transformed to correspond the anticipated amount of sold orchard seed in order to find out the net benefit of produced seed within the given time period. The average net benefit per produced (and sold) kilogram of Silver birch orchard seed was simply applied by the following formula:

$$NB_{kg} = NB_{agg} / \sum_{t=8}^{31} KG_t$$
 [3.12]

where NB<sub>kg</sub>= net benefit per sold orchard seed kilogram between the years 2004 and 2027, FIM (base year 1996) NB<sub>agg</sub>= formula [3.11] KG<sub>t</sub>= the sold amount of orchard seed in year t

Several different sensitivity analyses were conducted for Silver birch. The same discount rates as for Scots pine were used for Silver birch. Intermediate points between the integers of discount rates were interpolated by spline function (see, Lindfield & Penny 1995). The same underlying premises of interpolation method were applied for Scots pine and Silver birch. The sensitivity analyses are presented in Table 3.3.

sensitivity analysis	range	specification
annual costs	25% decrease, 50% increase	
site quality	H <sub>50</sub> = 24m, H <sub>50</sub> = 26m	This was analyzed by assuming that all the improved material in South and Central Finland would be culti- vated on site class $H_{50}= 24m$ , or alternatively on site class $H_{50}= 26m$ .
annual cultivation area*	30% decrease, 30% increase	
trend stumpage prices	no trend, triple trend	

**Table 3.3**. Sensitivity analyses conducted for Silver birch, Study 2.

\* Additionally, a break-even analysis was applied in order to evaluate how much the annual cultivation area could decrease so that benefits would still break-even with costs. In the analysis only direct production costs (incl. seed collection and restorage costs) were altered accordingly, leaving e.g. administration costs unchanged. By taking indirect costs such as administration costs into account would have involved speculativiness due to nonlinear relation between administration and seed production.

For Silver birch there was no need to examine the effect of alternative establishment magnitudes, since the establishment costs of Silver birch seed orchards do not play a crucial role with regard to total costs.

#### 3.1.2.2 Results

# Scots pine

The net present values (NPVs) for next-generation seed orchards were positive even with 6% discount rate when the genetic gain was 12% or 15% (Figure 3.5). In general, considerably higher discount rates resulted in positive NPV compared to present-generation seed orchards. In this respect the next-generation seed orchards are more desirable from the society's viewpoint.

The *net benefit* per produced kilogram of orchard seed (see formula [3.8]) was over FIM 3 000 when the genetic gain was 8%, and over FIM 5 000 when the genetic gain was 12% (discount rate was 3 per cent). Further, the "social cost" of produced orchard seed (i.e., the present value of

differential costs divided by the amount of produced orchard seed) was FIM 950/kg, when discount rate was 3% (FIM 640/kg with 5 per cent discount rate).



Figure 3.5. Net present values of Scots pine next-generation seed orchards with alternative discount rates.

# Sensitivity analyses /Scots pine

The results were insignificantly sensitive to changes in input prices within the range of 30% decrease in shadow prices and market prices, i.e., financial values (Figure 3.6a). For example, the difference in net benefit was only approximately FIM 15 mill. when the shadow prices of the costs (input prices) were decreased by 30%, the discount rate being 4% and the genetic gain 15% (Figure 3.6a). The spread of the IRR was app. 0.1%. The results with other genetic gains (8% and 12%) were similar, but they are not shown here due to paucity. The result of the sensitivity analysis indicates that a reliable estimate of the profitability could as well have been evaluated with market prices without making an essential error.



**Figure 3.6**. NPVs of Scots pine next-generation seed orchards with alternative sets of differential costs (a), annual cultivation areas (b) and site qualities (c). For instance, "market prices" indicate that financial, i.e. market values for differential costs are used (a), "30% decrease" reflects a 30% decrease in annual cultivation areas (b) and "VT" assumes that all the improved material would be cultivated on Vaccinium type (or corresponding) forests (c). In each graph (a-c) genetic gain is 15% and discount rate varies from 2% to 6%.

The analysis was most sensitive to changes in annual cultivation areas (Figure 3.6b). The difference in net benefit was app. FIM 130 mill. (genetic gain 15%) between the original annual cultivation area and the option where the annually cultivated hectares were increased by 30%, the discount rate being 3 per cent (Figure 3.6b). The result is notable since the initial present value of differential costs was only FIM 62 mill. (3% discount rate). The spread of the IRR was, however, only 0.4%. The difference in net benefit emphasizes further the importance of the annual cultivation area for the profitability of the seed orchard activity.

The analysis was also very sensitive to changes in site quality: the difference in net benefits between these two options (MT, VT) was approximately FIM 40 mill. (Figure 3.6c) when the discount rate was 5 per cent. The result is considerable since the total costs of the seed orchard activity were only some FIM 42 mill. (5 per cent discount rate).

The net benefits were sensitive to changes in growth region-division: the difference in net benefits between the two options was over FIM 480 mill., when the discount rate was 2 per cent, and the difference was approximately FIM 22 mill. when the rate was 5 per cent, the genetic gain being 12% (Figure 3.7a). It should be noted that the total costs of the seed orchard activity were FIM 78 mill. (2 per cent discount rate), and FIM 42 mill. (5 per cent discount rate).



**Figure 3.7**. NPVs of Scots pine next-generation seed orchards with alternative divisions of growth regions (a), stem qualities (b) and annual differential costs (c). For instance, "worst growth region" assumes that all the Scots pine orchard seed is annually cultivated in areas which correpond to the lowest NPVs of the growth regions (a), "better quality" indicates that the proportion of sawlogs in the final cut is increased by 8% (b) and "50% increase" reflects an annual increase of 50% in differential costs (c). Genetic gains in graphs (a-c) are 12%, 12% and 8%, respectively. Discount rate varies from 2% to 6%.

The sensitivity analysis as regards potentially higher stem quality resulted in a net benefit difference of approximately FIM 26 mill., genetic gain being 12% and discount rate 3 per cent (Figure 3.7b). This is a relatively high value compared to the original total costs which were some FIM 62 mill. (3 per cent discount rate). The analysis indicates that the subsidy granted for research focusing on quality traits is well justified in the near future.

The analysis was moderately sensitive to changes in costs, although 25% decrease in annual differential costs resulted in that NPV was positive even with 6 per cent discount rate (Figure 3.7c). The lowest possible genetic gain was used in this connection, since the lower the genetic gain was, the higher were the relative costs (due to diminishing benefit-cost ratios).

The sensitivity analysis concerning the harvest scheduling models indicated that the NPVs assessed with the original harvest scheduling model MELA were distinctively higher than with the two alternative models (Figure 3.8). In addition, the benefit-cost ratios were considerably higher with original MELA harvest scheduling model than with the alternative harvest scheduling models



Figure 3.8. The effect of different harvest scheduling models for Scots pine on the NPV.

(modified MELA and Vuokila & Väliaho). For example, the benefit-cost ratio for the original MELA harvest scheduling model was app. 7.9 (discount rate 3%) whereas the corresponding figures for modified MELA and Vuokila & Väliaho's model were 3.8 and 3.4, respectively. Moreover, with 6 per cent discount rate the benefit-cost ratios for modified MELA and Vuokila & Väliaho's model were below unity indicating that costs were greater than benefits (for the original MELA model the value was app. 1.7). Thus, the results essentially depended on the chosen harvest scheduling model.

It was noticeable that the *modified* MELA harvest scheduling model (with 15% genetic gain) resulted in similar NPVs as Vuokila & Väliaho's model with the same genetic gain. This is presumably due to similar calculating procedure of the genetic gains within the two models (i.e. changing only outturns of the thinnings and final cut). As to the applied harvest scheduling models of this study, the original MELA harvest scheduling model can be viewed as the upper-boundary whereas the other models indicate the lower-boundary for a given genetic gain percentage.

If the annual average seed production (kg/hectare) is 10kg instead of the assumed 7-8 kg (not constant due to initial problem setting), then 405 hectares instead of the original 500 hectares of next-generation seed orchards need to be established to secure the seed supply for annual cultivation area of approximately 32 000 hectares in South and Central Finland. The break-even analysis (see Appendix 17) showed that considerably high increases in annual total costs (in order to attain and maintain the annual average seed crop of 10kg) between 2010 and 2035 are permitted and still the new NPV equal the original NPVs (Figure 3.9).

For example, the annual total costs (discount rate 3%) must increase some 36% in order for new NPVs to equal original NPVs, the genetic gain being 12% (Figure 3.9). Thus, it can be said that the subsidy granted for activities contributing to higher annual average seed crop is well justified. The greater seed crops surely warrant the extra cost involved.



**Figure 3.9**. Break-even curves for each genetic gain of Scots pine. Each point in the curve indicates the percentage increase in annual differential costs so that the original NPV and the NPV for alternative assessment with annual seed crop of 10kg/hectare would be equal.

The results did not alter considerably when different trend stumpage prices were applied. For example, when stumpage prices of felling season 1994/1995 ("no trend") were used instead of original trend stumpage prices (see Appendix 4), the NPV (genetic gain 8%) was still positive with 5 per cent discount rate (cf. Figure 3.5). On the other hand, with triple trend the assessment resulted positive NPV when discounting with 6 per cent (cf. Figure 3.5).

# Silver birch

The NPVs turned into negative with 4 per cent discount rate, when the genetic gain was 10% in South and 8% in Central Finland (Figure 3.10). With 6 per cent discount rate the NPVs were negative regardless of the genetic gains (Figure 3.10).

The *net benefit* per produced orchard seed (see formula [3.12]) between the years 2004 and 2026 was FIM 33 939 /kg, when the discount rate was 3 per cent and the genetic gains 15% in South and 12% in Central Finland. The figure is significantly higher than the corresponding figure in study 1 (cf. Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.10. NPVs for Silver birch next-generation seed orchards.

# Sensitivity analysis / Silver birch

The analysis was moderately sensitive to changes in costs: when the annual costs were decreased by 25% the NPV was FIM 13.8 mill. and when the costs were increased by 50% the net benefit was FIM 8.7 mill. (discount rate 3%), the genetic gain being 15% in South and 12% in Central Finland (Figure 3.11a). The initial differential costs were FIM 9.9 mill. (discount rate 3%). However, the NPV with 15% and 12% genetic gains turned into negative with 4 per cent discount rate when the annual differential costs were increased by 50% (Figure 3.11a). The spread of the IRR was 0.8% which can be deemed as insignificant.

The analysis was also moderately sensitive to changes in site quality and annual cultivation area (Figures 3.11b, c). If the future does not unfold as projected, annual cultivation areas may change. A break-even analysis indicated that annual cultivation area can decrease considerably, and still the benefits are able to break-even with costs (Figure 3.11d). For example, the annual cultivation area could decrease by half, and still the present value of differential benefits would break-even to

present value of differential costs, the discount rate being 3 per cent and genetic gains 15% and 12% (Figure 3.11d). In this respect the next-generation Silver birch seed orchards are robust - small changes in annual cultivation area do not burden the profitability considerably.

Sensitivity to changes in trend stumpage prices was also moderate with Silver birch, although the NPV turned into negative with 4 per cent discount rate, the genetic gains being15%-12% (cf. Figure 3.10).



**Figure 3.11.** NPVs for Silver birch next-generation seed orchards with alternative annual differential costs (a), site qualities (b) and annual cultivation areas (c). For instance, "Bon=24m" indicates that all the improved material is cultivated on site class  $H_{50}$ = 24m. In each graph (a-c) the genetic gains (15% for South and 12% for Central Finland) and the discount rates (2% to 6%) are the same. Break-even curves (d) indicate the percentage decrease in annual cultivation for *zero* NPV (i.e. discounted differential benefits equal to discounted differential costs).

# 3.1.3 Study 3: Profitability of Scots pine next-generation seed orchards of northern clones3.1.3.1 Framework & restrictions

Due to the divergent climatic conditions prevailing in southern and northern Finland, also the breeding goals for southern and northern Finland differ to some extent. This was one of the main reasons for introducing separate seed orchard programs for southern and northern Finland in the latest national report (Männyn...1997). In this study, Scots pine next-generation seed orchards of northern clones were evaluated emphasizing the distinctive features of northern Finland. The assessments (conducted in a cost-benefit framework) were based on the recent report "Männyn, kuusen ja koivun siemenviljelysten perustamissuunnitelmat" (1997). The next-generation seed orchards of northern clones were assumed to be established according to the original report (with minor alterations concerning the years 2011-2020), reflecting a total of 250 hectares to be established during 1999-2020 (Männyn...1997). The time from establishment to seed production was estimated to be 25 years (Männyn...1997), which is considered to be moderately cautious. The hectares to be regenerated with orchard seed were based on past-ten-year average (1988-1997) of four (former) northernmost forestry board districts (see, e.g., Statistical yearbook...1995, p. 34), consisting of a total of 18 729 hectares (of which 7 245 was sown). The sowing area was changed by dividing it into a half based on the original report (Männyn...1997). The annual area to be cultivated with the orchard seed in northern Finland increased by "leaps" (Figure 3.12) due to the specific assumptions made in the assessments (see Appendix 20).

At this juncture, it should be noted that the area of the four (former) northernmost forestry board districts does not correspond exactly to the area referred to the original report (Männyn...1997). Rather, it had to be in accordance with study 2. In study 2 the next-generation Scots pine seed orchards were assumed to produce seed for South and Central Finland in the area covered by forestry board districts 1-15. In this study the target area was covered by forestry board districts 16-19. There may, of course, be some overlaps (i.e. seed produced by seed orchards established for South and Central Finland might be used in northern Finland and vice versa) between these areas, but they are considered to be insignificant regards to overall results.



**Figure 3.12**. Development of the annual cultivation area (according to the establishment schedule) between 2024-2046, study 3.

The time period for differential costs ranged from 1997 to 2046; after which the seed production will decrease (due to the estimated average production age of 20 years) since the remaining seed orchards cannot compensate the gap of the production without the annual average seed production exceeding a 7kg/hectare. The financial value of annual differential costs was FIM 3.42 million (Table 3.4), which was based on the averages for 1990-1995 (Internal Accounting...1990-1995) and on recent experiences of local managers (Lahtinen 1996, 1997). Progeny testing (Table 3.4) included, for instance, special measures such as freeze testing and selective harvesting of the seed orchards (Pulkkinen 1995). Freeze-testing is an essential stage between present and next generation. Through testing the most tolerant clones can be separated and exploited in the establishment of next-generation seed orchards. Besides those annual progeny testing costs, there were additional

costs related to the identification of the best surviving clones and freeze-testing equipment. These costs (regarded also as differential costs) occurred between 1996 and 1999, and their estimated combined value was FIM 2.1 million (Ahtikoski 1996a)

**Table 3.4.** Key activities, input categories and annual financial values for Study 3. Percentages indicate the proportions of the inputs within an activity, and the percentages in parenthesis are the average tax rates on the inputs. The bold figure in each input category reflects the ratio between the economic value and market price of the input (the ratio corresponds to the coefficient in formula [2.2]).

Key activity [financial value, Finnish Marks; FIM]	social security payments	semiskilled labour <b>0.65</b>	skilled labour	contractors' fees <b>0.8</b>	intermediate goods <b>0.7</b>	"miscel- laneous" <b>0.7</b>
Annual mana- gement of seed orchards [1.12 million]	10%	44% (27%)	0%	31% (22%)	3% (22%)	12% (22%)
Progeny testing (incl. special measures) [1.2 million]	13%	45% (27%)	10% (33%)	15% (22%)	7% (22%)	10% (22%)
Administration [1.1 million]	16%	15% (27%)	46% (33%)	0%	8% (22%)	15% (22%)

The shadow pricing procedure of this study did not follow the general procedure (see Figure 2.4) due to the specific structure of original book-keeping records. In this study, the cost classes (also denoted as key activities) did not consist of subactivities, but were analysed as such by dividing them directly into input categories (Table 3.4). This resulted in a slightly different input categories compared to Study 2. The procurement costs of the land and establishment costs were assumed to

be identical to those of study 2, but their timing was different. Here it was presumed that procurement of the land occurs five years before establishment. Site preparation, grafting, construction of the roads and soil and climate measurements will take four years until the graftings are planted in the orchard (Männyn...1997).

The inputs of each key activity were shadow priced applying the same principles as in studies 1 and 2 (see Appendix 7). Prior to shadow pricing transfer payments (taxes and social security payments) were removed from the financial values. The future values of the costs were forecasted by trend presented in Appendix 4. Finally, the shadow-priced differential costs were assessed on the basis of the following:

$$C^{diff} = \sum_{t=3}^{22} C_t^{es} * (D_p)^t + \sum_{t=1}^{48} (C_t^p + C_t^m) * (D_p)^t + \sum_{t=26}^{48} C_t^{ad} * (D_p)^t$$
[3.13]

, where  $C^{diff}$  = discounted *differential* costs of seed orchard activity, FIM (base year 1998)

 $C_t^{es}$ = establishment costs (incl. site preparation, grafting, constr. of the roads, measurements, planting) of the seed orchards in year *t*, FIM  $C_t^{m}$ = management costs of the seed orchards ( including

supervision, fertilization, roguing etc.) in year *t*, FIM  $C_t^{p}$ = progeny testing costs (incl. special measurements) in year *t*, FIM  $C_t^{ad}$ = differential administration costs of the seed orchard activity compared to the administration costs of the stand seed collection, in year *t*, FIM  $D_p$  = discount factor with a 2%, 3%, 4%, 5% or 6% discount rate

The same arguments for chosen discount percentages were used here as for study 1 and 2.

According to the initial biological data (Appendix 21) and genetic gains (reflecting recent progeny test results) the harvest scheduling models were simulated for Myrtillus and Vaccinium type pine

forests. The proportions of Myrtillus and Vaccinium type in planting and sowing followed the proportions presented by Saarenmaa (1992). The genetic gains were fed into the growth functions of MELA by increasing the annual growth level (see Appendix 13 for details). Then the simulated harvest scheduling models of Taivalkoski region (Appendix 22) were extended to former forestry board districts 16-19 forming a homogenous growth region of northern Finland. The assumption was that *on average* pine forests grow as the Taivalkoski models (for Myrtillus and Vaccinium type separately) suggest, although there are regional differences in growth conditions and even in silvicultural practices in northern Finland.

The genetic gains were adopted from the progeny test results for southern Finland (Venäläinen et al. 1994) assuming that these figures are applicable also for northern Finland. This had to be done due to a lack of progeny test results on field conditions in northern Finland. The genetic gains were 3%, 7% or 10%. These figures indicated the gains from phenotypic selection under field conditions, and can be considered to be conservative, since they represent present-generation results. However, the main quality concerning the pine breeding for northern Finland is the hardiness of the reforestation material - in other words to qurantee that orchard seed is at least as tolerant as local stand seed to freezing stress. Thus, genetic gain, for instance, in volume growth is of secondary interest.

The differential benefits due to genetic gains at stand level can be expressed by the following:

$$B_{st}^{diff} = \sum_{t=57}^{121} JT_t * (D_p)^t - \sum_{n=62}^{126} NS_n * (D_p)^n$$
 [3.14]

, where B<sup>diff</sup>= present value of differential benefits at stand level, when genetic gain is 3%, 7% or 10%, FIM (base year 1998)
JT<sub>t</sub>= outturn of a thinning or final cut (*valued at stumpage price*) in an improved stand in year t [e.g t=57 : (1999 (first establishment) +25 (time lag) + 31 (time for first thinning)) - 1998], FIM
NS<sub>n</sub>= outturn of a thinning or final cut in a normal stand (without genetic gain) in year t, FIM
D<sub>p</sub>= discount factor with a 2%, 3%, 4%, 5% or 6% discount rate

The discount percent range (2%-6%) was also in this case used according to the arguments of study 1. The future stumpage prices were estimated by the trend equations presented in Appendix 4.

To be able to assess the possible net benefits at national level, the following cost-benefit formula was adopted:

$$NPV = \sum_{t=2024}^{2046} \sum_{k}^{K} B_{st}^{diff} - C^{diff} \qquad [3.15]$$

,

where	NPV = net present value for the next-generation seed orchards of
	northern clones, FIM
	k, K = individual stands (incl. MT and VT forest site types) in the target
	area, i.e. northern Finland
	$B_{st}^{diff}$ = formula [3.14]
	$C^{diff}$ = formula [3.13]

The sensitivities to changes in *a priori* chosen main variables were tested. These variables were assumed to most affect the results (Table 3.5). The same five discount rates as in Study 2 were applied here. The intermediate points between the integers of discount rates were estimated by spline-function interpolation (Lindfield & Penny 1995).

sensitivity analysis	range	specification
average seed crop*	"4kg to 7kg" (denoted as al- ternative C), "7kg" (alternati- ve B)	Two alternatives: in the first alterna- tive the annual average seed crop was fixed to 7 kg/hectare, and in the second alternative it was assumed that the annual average seed crop in each seed orchard would increase by 1 kg per year from 4kg to 7kg
harvest scheduling model **	-	This was examined by constructing an alternative harvest scheduling model according to Vuokila & Vä- liaho's growth and yield models (1980).
site quality	Vaccinium, Myrtillus type	This was tested by assuming that all the planted and sown seed is cultiva- ted either on Myrtillus or Vaccinium type forests.
annual costs	25% decrease, 50% increase	
annual cultivation area	30% decrease, 30% increase	
shadow prices of inputs	30% decrease, market prices	
trend stumpage prices	no trend, triple trend	

 Table 3.5. Sensitivity analyses conducted in Study 3.

\* It was assumed that when the past-ten-year cultivation average (15 107 hectares) is exceeded by the production of the next-generation seed orchards then no more seed orchards will be established. The first alternative resulted in that the last establishment will occur in 2012 indicating that only 160 hectares will be established instead of the original 250 hectares. The second alternative resulted in that the last establishment will occur in 2014 indicating that 180 hectares to be established.

\*\* Height index  $H_{100}$ = 21 m in Vuokila & Väliaho's models (1980) was assumed to correspond to Myrtillus type, and height index  $H_{100}$ = 18m to Empetrum-Vaccinium type forests in northern Finland (see Vuokila & Väliaho 1980, p. 26). For height index  $H_{100}$ = 21 m there were 3 intermediate thinnings and the removal percentage was 25% (Vuokila & Väliaho 1980, p. 236), and for height index  $H_{100}$ = 18m there were 2 intermediate thinnings and the removal percentage being 30% (Vuokila & Väliaho 1980: p. 259). For Vuokila & Väliaho's growth and yield models the percentages reflecting the genetic gains (3, 7 or 10%) were incorporated by increasing only the outturns, keeping harvesting times unchanged.

#### 3.1.3.2 Results

The NPV turned into negative when the discount rate was 3 per cent, the genetic gain being 3% or 7% (Figure 3.13a). With 5 per cent discount rate the NPV was negative regardless of the genetic gain applied (Figure 3.13a). The spread of the IRR with regard to genetic gains was 0.89 percentage units; this spread appears to be moderate.



**Figure 3.13.** NPVs for Scots pine next-generation seed orchards of northern clones (a). The effect of average annual seed crop ("alternative B": 7kg and "alternative C": 4-5-6-7kg) and an alternative harvest scheduling model (Vuokila & Väliaho) on the NPV is presented in graph b.

# Sensitivity analyses

The effect of an average seed crop (kg/hectare/year) on the NPV was significant. For example, with 3 per cent discount rate the NPV for alternative B (average seed production 7kg) was about FIM 10 million, whereas for the original assessment it was negative FIM 0.6 million, the genetic gain being 7% (Figure 3.13b). The difference, some FIM 11 million, is considerable with regard to the initial PV of differential costs which was FIM 27 million (discount rate 3%). The NPVs for

alternative C ("4kg to 7kg") lie between these two "extremes". With reference to the results of the sensitivity analysis, it can be argued that there is a great incentive to invest in activities (such as careful planning in land procurement and intensified annual management) which contribute to higher seed crops.

The NPV was very sensitive to harvest scheduling models as was to be expected; it was FIM -11 million for genetic gain 7% (discount rate 3 per cent) with Vuokila & Väliaho's models whereas the corresponding original value was FIM - 0.6million (Figure 3.13b).

The effect of site quality on the NPV was significant with respect to the spread of IRR. The spread was 1.08% between "EVT" and "MT" with 15% genetic gain. (Figure 3.14a).





The NPVs were very sensitive to changes in annual differential costs; with 3 per cent discount rate the NPV in an assessment with 25% decrease resulted in a positive NPV, whereas with original differential costs the NPV was negative (Figure 3.14b). The lowest genetic gain was chosen a *priori*, because with low genetic gains the costs are expected to form a bigger portion of the benefits than with high genetic gains. Thus, the effect of the changes in cost is relatively higher. The result supports views which state that the original set of *differential* prices might be at too high a level (see, also Table 3.4). The results were only moderately sensitive to changes in annual cultivation area (Figure 3.14c). One reason for this insensitivness is that in this study the benefitcosts ratios were considerably lower than in Study 2. The NPVs were most sensitive to changes in input pricing. For example, when market prices of the inputs were applied, the NPV was about FIM - 39 million with 2 per cent discount rate, whereas the NPV for the assessment with 30% decrease in shadow prices was FIM + 4.5million, the genetic gain being 3% (Figure 3.14d). (Note that the curve for market prices is linear although it should be loglinear as the other curves - this depiction bias originates from so-called magnitude problem associated with the software). From the result it can be concluded that utmost care must be afforded in analysing the underlying market structures of the inputs used for seed orchards. The NPVs of this study were much more sensitive to shadow pricing procedure than those of study 2. One possible reason for the divergence is the different division of input categories. Another is the fact that seed orchards of northern clones require more labour (relative to other inputs) than those for South and Central Finland.

The sensitivity to changes in trend stumpage prices was tested at 3% genetic gain level. All the alternatives ("no trend", "original trend": see Appendix 4, "triple trend") resulted in negative NPVs with discount rate of 3%.

- 3.2. Seed producers' viewpoint
- 3.2.1 Study 4: Market environment and production costs of orchard seed
- 3.2.1.1 Framework & restrictions

# Scots pine first-generation seed orchards

The purpose of this study was to examine whether there are economies to scale to be exploited for orchard seed producers. The market structures were examined by forming mathematically the long-

run average cost (LAC) curves and revealing minimum efficient scales (MES). By comparing the output at MES *relative* to the size of the total market, estimates about the prevailing market structure can be made. In this connection the market demand curve was chosen to approximate the size of the total orchard seed market. The procedure ignores potential seed stocks. This should be emphasized, given the long-term conditions of excess orchard seed supply in Finland (see, e.g., Männyn...1997)

Two separate LAC curves were calculated; one reflecting direct production costs between 1993-1997, whereas in the other the past establishment costs were also taken into account (see Appendix 23). The direct production costs included annual collecting costs, transporting costs, seed extraction costs, management costs of the seed orchards and administration costs between 1993-1997. The cost data were collected from annual seed orchard records, updated by the FPS, and there were totally over 750 cost observations (5 years \* 5 cost categories \* 30-36 seed orchards each year) to be modelled. The costs were deflated by the wholesale price index (Statistical Yearbook of Finland 1997) for 1997. As regards seed orchards, the time period of five years might be considered as long run, since all relevant inputs can be adjusted to changes. Moreover, currently there is no means to affect these sunk establishment costs. The chosen 5-year period could be long enough for a firm to force down *all* factors of production when deciding to produce zero output. There are no quasifixed factors (see, Varian 1987, p. 315) present either.

An *estimation* of the market demand curve was based on the orchard seed sales of Patama nursery. The procedure was based on several limitations (see Appendix 24 for further detail) due to the specific features of the Finnish orchard seed markets.

The long-run average cost (LAC) function was estimated by polynomial regression since the theory (e.g., Lipsey 1987, Begg et al.1994) implies that LAC function is of second order. Prior to modelling the costs were plotted in order to illustrate whether there was such a pattern. Moreover, polynomial regression method was the most satisfactory with regard to R<sup>2</sup> (0.94-0.96) and residual behaviour (MicroCal Origin 1994). However, residuals were only checked by visual examination, because the primary purpose of the method was to *approximate*, not to model the underlying cost observations. In addition, it was assumed that further developed models would not increase the accuracy essentially due to the conventional approach applied here (i.e. costs were presented as a function of quantity) and incomplete original data set.

## Silver birch present-generation seed orchards

For Silver birch the data underlying the LAC function was based on annual collecting costs, transporting costs, seed extraction costs, management costs of the seed orchards and administration costs between the 1992-1996. In total, there were over 125 cost observations (5 years \* 5 cost categories \* 5-8 seed orchards each year). The 1997 observations were excluded, because in that year the cost calculation procedure was changed resulting in an incomparatable cost classes with other years (e.g. production costs included different types of indivisible reservations for salaries which did not reflect actual production). The costs were deflated by the wholesale price index (Statistical yearbook of Finland 1997) for the year 1996.

An estimation for the market demand curve of Silver birch orchard seed was based on the sales from Haapastensyrjä Breeding Centre. Also here specific limitations were called for (see Appendix 24 for further details). A linear estimation (OLS method) for the demand curve was applied. As was the case with Scots pine, the prevailing prices for Silver birch orchard seed are also under the price rationing.

The LAC function was estimated by polynomial regression (MicroCal Origin 1994). The method was found to be the most satisfactory with regard to  $R^2$  and residual behaviour. The price elasticity was evaluated for the average price (weighted by the quantity demanded) of the most demanded vitality class.

#### Scots pine next-generation seed orchards

This analysis was a pure case study calculation where a hypothetical next-generation Scots pine seed orchard was established. The business economical profitability was evaluated *ex ante*. The objective of the analysis was to examine the limits under which the established seed orchard is business economically profitable, and further to analyse whether these limits are attainable, given e.g. the biological constraints. Presently, this kind of assessment is called for because the establishments of Scots pine next-phase seed orchards are at hand (e.g., Männyn...1997). According to preliminary

calculations a minimum area which is a "functional entity" is 20 hectares (Antola et al. 1996, Männyn...1997). This assumption was adopted here without further challenging the assumption *per se*. The establishment costs were based on recent experiences of local managers. These costs for *20 hectare* next-phase seed orchard are estimated to be approximately FIM 1.2 million (in 1998 money value). This figure partly represents already-realized establishment costs (Lahtinen 1997).

The business economical profitability *per established seed orchard hectare* was assessed by the following formula:

$$NPV_{ha} = \sum_{t=15}^{35} SR_t * (D_p)^t - \sum_{t=0}^{35} C_t * (D_p)^t$$
[3.16]

where NPV<sub>ha</sub> = net present value, FIM/hectare SR= total sales revenue in year *t*, FIM C= production costs in year t, including, e.g. management, collection (Obs.: the variable further consisted of average annual seed crop; kg/hectare, collected cones required for 1kg of orchard seed; litres), FIM D<sub>p</sub>= discount factor with a 4% to 10% discount rate

Scots pine sawlogs stumpage price development in southern Finland during 1982-1994 (see Appendix 4: Study 1) was applied to forecast the future prices of orchard seed. This development was seen adequate for the purpose, mainly due to a lack of adequant and uniform time-series of orchard seed sales (i.e. more than 5 years). The adopted forecasting method (linear regression) resulted in a 0.5 per cent annual increase in prices (not constant due to linearity). The future costs were forecasted by the formula given in Appendix 4.

The main variables and their presumed base levels are presented in Table 3.6. The figures reflected the cost and price levels of 1996 and 1997, respectively.

Table	<b>3.6</b> .	Main	variables	and	their	base	levels	in	Study 4	, I	next-generation	Scots	pine	seed	or-
chards.															

Main variable	Base level
annual management costs	FIM 1 000 /hectare
the amount of collected cones required for 1	150 litres
kg of seed	
collecting costs	FIM 8 /litre
production age	20 years
average annual seed crop	10 kg/ hectare
Selling price for vitality class ">95%"	FIM 2 400 /kg
Selling price for vitality class "91-95%"	FIM 2 200 /kg

Each of the afore-mentioned base levels was applied from the national report (Antola et al. 1996, Männyn...1997). The base levels reflected experts' general ideas which can be considered to be "most up-to-date". However, the base level for an average annual seed crop, 10 kg/hectare, is rather high with regard to an average seed crop of the present-generation seed orchards, the average being approximately 4 kg (pers. comm. Lahtinen 1998). On the other hand, these new seed orchards are established on better soils. There is also more careful planning and management involved in the next generation. Furthermore, the 4 kg average includes also the past seed crops from seed orchards which at present are disregarded, i.e. left unmanaged.

In order to model the effect of different variables on NPV, various mathematical formulas were tested. The formulas can be seen as mathematical simplifications for surveying the impacts of different variables on business economical profitability. By the mathematical model the significance of each variable could be examined in further detail, but it should be noted that these mathematical formulas did not reflect stochastic processes as is often the case in statistical inference (see, e.g., Maddala 1977, Koutsoyiannis 1981, Chatfield 1989, Marshall et al. 1995). The formulas should not be interpreted as such. Rather, the idea was to capture the essential interrelations between regressors and simulated net present values and to present these in mathematical form. The formulas should be viewed as purely mathematical constructions for estimating the relative importance of each variable in the process. However, the process is not unknown, instead it is based on formal

calculation procedures (cf. Maddala 1977). These parameter estimations are simplifications in order to aid practical decision-making. The adopted approach (i.e. modelling non-stochasticity) is presented in Appendix 25. The simulations were conducted under specific limitations (see Appendix 26).

#### Sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analyses were conducted to evaluate the effect of changes in four *a priori* chosen main variables. Prior to showing the results three issues should be taken up. Firstly, the average annual seed crop (kg/hectare) was assumed to be fixed to a certain level (base level 10 kg/hectare) for the whole production time. Secondly, all the cost variables and price variables reflected particular cost and price development.

#### 3.2.1.2 Results

# Scots pine present-generation seed orchards The resulting long-run average cost, LAC function was :

 $f_{IAC} = 0.00047 \ x^2 - 2.12744 \ x + c$  [3.17]

where f<sub>LAC</sub> = long-run average cost function
 x= quantity (kg/year)
 c= constant, which was 377102 for LAC<sub>1</sub> (no establishment and past annual
 costs), and 5455.1 for LAC<sub>2</sub> (establishment and past annual costs
 incl.)

By differentiating formula [3.17] (with constant for  $LAC_1$ ) and setting the derivate to zero, a minimum efficient scale (MES) was obtained. The output level where MES was achieved was 2263.2 kg/year. By comparing the MES value to the market demand it could be concluded that the prevailing market structure of Scots pine orchard seed production lies between oligopolistic competition and natural monopoly (Begg et al. 1994): a single firm (here Forest and Park Service)

can produce almost the entire industry output (Figure 3.15). Thus, it can be argued that natural barriers to entry do exist, since the output (at MES) is very large relative to total demand (cf. Lipsey 1987).



Figure 3.15. Long-run average cost curves (LACs) of Scots pine present-generation orchard seed production and *market* demand curve (DD). In LAC<sub>2</sub> the past establishment and annual management costs are included.

One commonly used method to examine the type of industry in which the firm operates is to calculate how much higher average (unit) costs are when the output is one-third of that of MES (e.g., Scherer 1980, Begg et al. 1994). The average unit cost increase was here 78% indicating that in Scots pine orchard seed production large fixed costs burden the profitability considerably at low output levels. Usually large fixed costs are common in heavy manufacturing industries (Begg et al. 1994).

Long-run marginal cost (LMC) and revenue (MR) functions were formed in order to examine the profit maximization condition (see Appendix 27). The profit maximization condition was met at output level x = 627.8 kg. In a perfect competition (i.e. price equals marginal cost) this output

would result in 1 655.5 FIM/kg unit price which is clearly below the LAC curve at that point (see Figure 3.17). However, when adopting the assumption of imperfect competition (i.e. price does *not* equal to marginal cost) this output level (627.8 kg) results in a unit price of 2 871.9 FIM/kg according to the demand function. This exceeds the LAC curve at that output level, the exact unit price according to LAC (establishment and past annual management costs omitted; see LAC<sub>1</sub> in Figure 3.17) function being 2 567.1 FIM/kg. Thus, this result further confirms that the prevailing market structure of Scots pine orchard seed markets does not reflect competition.

The price elasticity of vitality class ">95%" (see Appendix 24) was -2.88 (around the average price 2 193FIM/kg), and the price elasticity of vitality class "90-95%" was -10.5 (around the average price 1998 FIM/kg). In addition, price elasticities of demand were also evaluated for the lower parts of the demand curves (generally price elasticity becomes less elastic along a linear demand curve: see, e.g. Parkin 1997), particularly at the points which indicated the lowest prices during 1993-1997. The elasticities were -1.3 and -5.5 for vitality class ">95%" and "90-95%", respectively.

The results indicate that the demand for Scots pine orchard seed is very elastic - this is, however, not a surprise, given the fact that stand seed is almost an identical substitute for orchard seed. When applying the results to structure decision-making it should be pointed out that in a case of elastic demand an increase in price will reduce demand to the extent that revenue will fall (e.g., Varian 1987).

#### Silver birch present-generation seed orchards

The best fitting LAC function for Silver birch orchard seed production was:

$$f_{LAC} = 0.16079 \ x^2 - 55.69711 \ x + 6109.82759$$
 [3.18]

By differentiating formula [3.18] and setting the derivate to zero, a MES was obtained. The output where MES was achieved was 173.2 kg/year. When comparing this output level relative to

estimated market demand (a linear approximation,  $R^2 = 0.72$ , residuals checked visually) it emerged that the prevailing market structure is imperfect (Figure 3.16). Moreover, the market demand exceeds clearly the LAC curve indicating that the activity is very profitable in the long run.



**Figure 3.16**. Long-run average cost curve (LAC) of Silver birch present orchard seed production and market demand curve (DD).

The cost increase was more than 100% when output was one-third of that of MES. This indicates that the fixed cost factor is dominant in Silver birch orchard seed production. Perhaps this is due to the fact that Silver birch seed orchards in polythene tunnels require intensive management (e.g., fertilization, artificial lightning, culling) *regardless* of production level.

The same principles as which were used for Scots pine, were adopted in determining the profit maximization condition for Silver birch (see Appendix 27). Because of the underlying 2nd degree polynomial, two (positive) profit maximization points were found. The points were x (output) = 36.7 or x= 107.9 kg/year. In the latter point the market price exceeded the long-run average costs (FIM 2850 vs. FIM 1970). The magnitude was such that perfect price discrimination can well take place.

The price elasticity of average price (3 121 FIM/kg), was -2.9. In addition, price elasticity around the lowest price (2 700FIM/kg) was still -1.8. This indicates that the demand for Silver birch orchard seed is elastic.

#### Scots pine next-generation seed orchards

When the establishment costs are taken into account, the net present value is negative whenever the collection cost is above FIM 7 per litre (Figure 3.17a). The analysis was conducted by keeping the other main variables (e.g. annual management, purchase prices) at their base levels (see Table 3.6). Collection costs and average crop were presented in integers so that decimals were omitted. By omitting the decimal values the calculation capacity of the software (MicroCal Origin 1994) was not violated. This led to the borders of the grid being vertical - in real-world the borders are, of course, not so sharp. When the establishment costs are disregarded (subsidized by e.g. the government) the



**Figure 3.17.** Net present value for *a hectare* of next-generation Scots pine seed orchard as a function of collection costs and average annual seed crop without (a) and with (b) a government subsidy. Only positive NPVs are illustrated. Discount rate 4%.

net present value (FIM per hectare) is positive even with FIM 10 per litre collection cost, regardless of the seed crop (within the range of 6-10 kg/hectare), at 4% discount rate (Figure 3.17b). It should be noted that future costs are in this connection converted to reflect the cost levels of 1996, e.g., FIM 7 or FIM 10 per litre. This is done to relate the results to present decision-making.

The effect of establishment costs, the amount of cones required for 1 kg of orchard seed and average crop on the NPV are presented in Figure 3.18. When establishment costs are taken into account, the net present value is positive only when approximately 130 litres of cones are needed for 1 kg of seed (corresponding app. 17 pro mille), the average crop being 7kg and discount rate 4% (Figure 3.18a). Nevertheless, when establishment costs were omitted, even with 170 litres of cones needed for 1 kg (corresponding app. 13 pro mille), the NPV was positive with the lowest average



**Figure 3.18.** Net present value for *a hectare* of next-generation Scots pine seed orchard as a function of cones required for 1kg seed and average annual seed crop with government subsidizing the establishment (b), and without government subsidy (a). Only positive NPVs are illustrated (Note the different discount rates).

crop, 6kg/hectare, and *with* 8% discount rate (Figure 3.18b). Presently, the former figure, 130 litres, seems to be too high a value (see, Antola et al. 1996). The establishment costs appear to be the most dominant single factor affecting the business economical profitability of a seed orchard.

The best fitted formula for the purpose was nonlinear by nature (i.e., it cannot be transformed to linearity by, e.g., taking logarithms on both sides of the equation: see Greene 1997). Formally, it was:

 $NPV = \alpha_1 * ccones + \alpha_2 * \log_{10}(crop)$   $+ \alpha_3 * colcost + \alpha_4 * \ln(rate) + \alpha_5 * price + \alpha_6 * managcost + \epsilon$ 

where NPV= net present value per hectare, FIM ccones= collected cones required for 1kg of orchard seed, litre crop= average annual seed crop per hectare, kg colcost= collection costs, FIM per litre rate= discount rate, 4% to 10% price= sales price of the orchard seed, FIM per kg managcost= annual management cost, FIM per hectare  $\epsilon$  = error term (see Appendix 25)

Formula [3.19] includes the establishment costs. Further, the underlying assumptions are as follows: a) time to seed production is 15 years, b) a seed orchard produces for 20 years ; i.e. the production time is 20 years (during that time the average crop is fixed) and c) no constant (fixed) variable is incorporated into the model. This last assumption was based on the *a priori* idea that if all values of the independent variables in formula [3.19] are set to close to zero, the NPV should be "insolvable" - had we incorporated a constant this would have resulted in an inconsistent interpretation with no relation to reality whatsoever. The parameters of formula [3.19] and the asymptotic correlation matrix of the parameter estimates are shown in Appendix 28. The main variables and their relative effects on the NPV in formula [3.19] are expressed in Table 3.7. Formula [3.19] can be interpreted by various ways, but here the following procedure was adopted. For each variable so-called base level was determined. *A priori* these base levels can be seen as the most relevant values, given the present knowledge on the next-generation seed orchards (see, e.g., Antola et al. 1996, Nikkanen et
al. 1999), and the specific study context applied here (see Chapter 1.4). For each variable some alternative values are also depicted. The base levels and these alternative values together form a relevant scope with respect to present knowledge on the next generation. The calculated relative importances of the variables can be compared to each other *as such* - this will aid decision-making considerably.

**Table 3.7**. Main variables, simulation ranges (with intervals), *a priori* chosen base levels and simulation points of formula [3.19]. Percentage changes in the NPV corresponding a 1% change in the base level, point 1 and point 2 are shown while keeping the other variables at their base levels. With respect to present knowledge the points 1 and 2 are less likely to occur than the base levels, but they can also be considered to be relevant values. The absolute values of the NPVs for the base level, point 1 and point 2 are presented in parenthesis.

variable	Simulation range	base level (NPV,FIM/hectare)	percentage change
	simulation inter-	point 1 (NPV,FIM/hectare)	in the NPV corres-
	vals	point 2 (NPV,FIM/hectare)	ponding a 1%
			change
			in the base level
			point 1
			point 2,
			ceteris paribus
ccones	from 135 to 180 litres with 15 litre intervals	150 litres (1268)	96 %
		135 litres (13 404)	9.2%
		165 litres (-10 869)	12.3%
crop	from 6 to 11kg with 1 kg intervals	10 kg (1268)	44 %
		9 kg (- 4 692)	12%
		11 kg ( 6 659)	8.6%
colcost	from 6 to FIM 10 with FIM 1 intervals	FIM 8 (1 268)	98 %
		FIM 7 (16 854)	6.5%
		FIM 9 (-12 319)	10.0%

rate	from 3 to 10 per cent	4 per cent (1 268)	97%
	with 0.5% intervals	5 per cent ( -12 072)	5.0%
		3 per cent (18 465)	3.2%
price	from FIM 1 900 to	FIM 2400 (1 268)	170%
	FIM 2700 /kg	FIM 2 200 (-16 715)	11.8%
	with FIM 100 inter- vals	FIM 2 500 (10 259)	22.0%
managcostfrom FIM 800 to FIM1200 /hectarewith FIM 100 inter-vals	from FIM 800 to FIM	FIM 1000 (1 268)	12 %
	1200 /hectare	FIM 900 ( 2 852)	4.8%
	FIM 1100 (- 316)	55 %	

The results distinctively emphasize the dominant role of pricing on the profitability (Table 3.7). For instance, if the selling price of orchard seed is changed from the base level by a 1%, this results in a 170% change in the NPV, the other variables being at their base levels (Table 3.7). However, also the changes in so-called biological variables (such as *ccones* and *crop*) lead to significant changes in the NPV (Table 3.7). This implies that in the next-generation there are still factors which affect the profitability considerably, and which cannot be fully controlled even by intensified seed orchard management. In other words, there are some risky elements involved - to reduce the risks new methods to improve, for instance, the predictability of annual seed crop are called for. On the other hand, "correct" pricing compensates the risks of biological variables. This, however, requires that the seed producer could also estimate the market demand for orchard seed - orchard seed prices cannot be increased arbitrarily.

The R square of formula [3.19] was 0.92, and residuals (n=630) were examined only visually, since the plots showed satisfactory model behaviour with regard to normality (stem-and-leaf plot) and homoscedasticity. In this connection, however, it should be pointed out that the model was initially based on simulated values, not stochastic observations (see Appendix 25). Residuals showed no misbehaviour when plotted against discount rate. There was also no trend to be seen in the model prediction regarding the NPV either. Additionally, in the scatterplot matrix no pattern between standardized residuals and predicted values was observed. Finally, in normal probability plot of standardized residuals the points fell more or less on the normal line (no significant deviations from the straight line).

# Sensitivity analyses

The profitability was most sensitive to collection costs of cones, establishment costs and to annual management costs prior to seed production (Figures 3.19a, b). If collecting costs would decrease from FIM 8 to FIM 6 this would result in higher PV of sales revenues compared to those of costs even with 6 per cent discount rate (Figure 3.19a). If establishment costs and annual management costs prior to seed production (years 1 to 15 from the establishment) are omitted (e.g., subsidized by government), the seed orchard would be business economically profitable even with 10% discount rate (Figure 3.19b).



**Figure 3.19.** Profit (mill. FIM *per 20 hectares*) with alternative cone collection costs (a), establishment and management costs (b), production age (c) and combined effect of average annual seed crop and establishment and management costs (d). Solid lines (and asterisks) present base values (see Table 3.6).

Production time (i.e. time period under which seed orchard produces seed) had only a minor effect on the profitability (Figure 3.19c). However, the effect of an average annual seed crop (kg/hectare) on profitability was significant (Figure 3.19d). Moreover, from the graph it emerges that an "external subsidy" is of vital importance: without the subsidy the *average annual* seed crop must be very high (e.g. 14 kg/hectare) so that profits be attainable (Figure 3.19d). Currently, this seed crop level is almost impossible to achieve (see, e.g., Antola et al. 1996). On the other hand, if establishment costs and annual management costs prior to seed production are funded externally (e.g. by the government), as low as 6 kg/hectare annual seed crop is sufficient to quarantee profits even with 10% discount rate (Figure 3.19d).

The effect of time to seed production (sometimes denoted as production lag) on profitability was examined by changing it from 15 years to 10 years. The idea was to estimate how much the annual management costs could be increased during the *first ten* years so that the alternative (i.e. shortened time to seed production) would be as profitable as the original alternative. With 5 per cent discount rate the increase in annual management costs within the first 10 years was some FIM 1300, indicating a 130 per cent increase. This result suggests that more intensive management over the first years after the establishment is well justified if it leads to shortened production lag.

## 3.3 Private forest owner's viewpoint

3.3.1 Study 5: Financial profitability of using Scots pine orchard seed in direct sowing

3.3.1.1 Purpose and framework

# Purpose

The initial purpose of the study was to estimate possible differences in NPVs between pine stands sown with stand seed and with orchard seed. Genetic gains were assumed to generate faster growth rate resulting in an increase in the NPV of the outturns. This increase was examined at forest holding level and from a private forest owner's point of view (Ahtikoski 1997). Assessments were conducted with special reference to initial sowing costs of both seed options (stand and orchard seed). The profitability was determined according to formula [2.13].

### Framework

The simulations were executed for four former local units of the FPS due to practical reasons: the software for tree growth and harvest scheduling modelling and detailed growth data were available and operable (with reasonably small modifications) at the FPS (see, Ahtikoski 1997, p. 241). Due to the initial growth data (young stands of the FPS), some caution must be taken when applying the results to private forests. On the other hand, in a preliminary comparison between growth characteristics of young stands of the FPS and those of owned by private people no evidence of significant divergences emerged (Ahtikoski 1997).

The basic assumption at this juncture was that the same amount of orchard seed (expressed in g/hectare) was used in direct sowing. This leads to cost difference due to different unit prices of stand and orchard seed. The cost data were primarily based on the calculations of Hänninen (1995) which indicate that orchard seed is more expensive than stand seed. In Finland, however, the prevailing prices of Scots pine stand and orchard seed vary considerably and there is no exact figure to be used for a particular region. In light of this prospect it is convenient to illustrate the NPVs as functions of consecutive sowing cost differences.

The benefits were simulated by incorporating genetic gains into the growth functions of MELA program (see Appendix 13). The genetic gains reflected the latest progeny test results concerning first-generation Scots pine seed orchards (Venäläinen et al. 1994) in southern parts of the country. The percentages were 3%, 7% or 10%.

Because the applied method (increasing annual growth level in MELA) affected the general structure of the stand, and thus resulted in various NPVs, a supplementary analysis was conducted. In the analyses genetic gains were studied against the corresponding changes in the NPV (%). These were plotted in the same diagram. Furthermore, the harvest scheduling models including genetic gains were tested against the models without genetic gains to look for potential biases in the simulation. This was done by forming diameter distribution for normal and improved stand, and comparing them during the growth and at the end of rotation.

To attain deeper knowledge with regard to main factors (discount rate, genetic gain, stumpage prices and initial sowing costs) the effect of these on the *simulated* net benefits was examined. This was done by testing different mathematical formulas applying the same principles as in Study 4 (see Appendix 25 for modelling procedure). The formulas were constructed according to harvest scheduling models of Jyväskylä region.

*A priori* there were two main factors affecting the financial profitability of using orchard seed in direct sowing. First, the results depended on the genetic gain applied. However, no sensitivity analysis concerning the genetic gains was conducted, since the results *as such* included different genetic gains. Second, so-called market related factors were tested by sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity to changes in trend stumpage prices ("no trend", "triple trend") and initial sowing costs were analysed. In addition, the NPVs were recalculated based on Vuokila & Väliaho's growth and yield models to study the effect of different harvest scheduling models on the results.

### 3.3.1.2 Results

The net present values for improved stands were similar in all regions (Figure 3.20). One reason for the similarity was that these different growth regions were located in southern Finland where the growth conditions with regard to climate and soil nutrition are more or less similar (Kuusipalo 1996), or at least the growth potential of Vaccinium type pine forests is of similar magnitude. Even with eight per cent discount rate the net present value was positive in all regions, the genetic gain being the lowest, i.e. 3% (Figure 3.20).

For a 3% genetic gain the corresponding increases in the NPV varied between 5.9% and 7.9% (Figure 3.21), the former value indicating the result for Hämeenlinna, and the latter for Karstula model (discount rate 3 per cent). As a rule of thumb, the increase in the monetary value (presented by the NPV) was more than twice as much as the initial genetic gain (expressed in percentage) when discounting with 3 per cent.

With low genetic gains (from 3% to app. 8%) the proportionate increase in NPV was higher for Hämeenlinna model than for Karstula model (discount rate 5 per cent). Nevertheless, with high



**Figure 3.20**. NPV (FIM/hectare) with alternative discount rates in Nurmes, Hämeenlinna, Jyväskylä and Karstula region (the FPS).



**Figure 3.21.** The relative increase (%) in NPV corresponding the initial genetic gain expressed in percentages. The lower line indicates the results of Hämeenlinna model for Vaccinium type, and the upper line for Karstula model for Vaccinium type (a). When discounting with 5 per cent the lines intercept (b). The models for Jyväskylä and Nurmes lie between these two "extremes"

genetic gains Karstula model resulted in greater proportionate increases in NPV. These "controversial" results are due to the fact that genetic gains were incorporated into the growth models of MELA exogeneously, resulting in a nonlinear behaviour with respect to harvest scheduling.

The mathematical formulas were tested for Jyväskylä region, but because of the similarity of the NPVs in different regions (see Figure 3.20) the formulas can be applied also to other regions with caution. The best fitted formula for estimating the effects of the main variables in Jyväskylä region was :

$$NB = \alpha * \ln(rate) + \alpha_1 * \sqrt{gengain} \\ + \alpha_2 * relprice + \alpha_3 * costdiff + \epsilon$$
[3.20]

where NB= net benefit, FIM/ hectare

rate = discount percent, 3% to 8%, with half a per cent interval gengain = from 1% to 10% relprice= relative trend stumpage price level (+/-30% compared to the original trend price level, with 5% intervals ) costdiff= initial sowing cost difference, FIM/hectare with FIM 50 intervals between FIM 50 and FIM 550

 $\epsilon = \text{error term}$ 

Parameter estimates and technical details of formula [3.20] are presented in Appendix 29. The relative impacts of the variables on the net benefit are here demonstrated by the following. First, so-called default value for each variable was chosen. These default values were based on several studies on the present generation (e.g. Venäläinen et al. 1994, Hänninen 1995, Venäläinen & Koponen 1997), and they can be considered to be a relevant basis with respect to current decision making environment. In addition, the 4 per cent discount rate was chosen here as the default value. This is in accordance with the base level of discount rate in formula [3.19]: the 4 per cent discount rate was the highest discount rate resulting in a *positive* net present value or net benefit for *both* the seed producer and private forest owner, respectively. The main variables, default values and relative importances of variables in formula [3.20] are shown in Table 3.8.

**Table 3.8**. Main variables and their default values of formula [3.20]. Percentage changes in the Net Benefit (NB) corresponding a 1% change in the default value are presented while keeping the other default values intact. For the sake of comparison another value for each variable (and the corresponding percentage change in the NB) is also presented. These alternative values are shown below the default values, and they were selected on the basis of prevaling conditions.

variable	default value	percentage change in the NB
		corresponding a 1% change
		in the default or alternative
		value, ceteris paribus
rate	4 per cent	4.4%
	3 per cent	1.9 %
geggain	3% (in volume growth)	1.9%
	5 %	0.7%
relprice	1.0	4.5%
	1.05	1.9%
costdiff	FIM 250 / hectare	1.2%
	FIM 350 / hectare	1.0%

The results indicate that relative price and discount rate are the most dominant factors affecting the Net Benefit , at least in the neighbourhood of default values (Table 3.8). Overally, it seems that the effects of the variables on the Net Benefit in formula [3.20] were considerably smaller than those of formula [3.19] on the Net Present value. However, these effects in different formulas ([3.19] and [3.20]) should be compared with extra caution, because a) the formulas are in the first place estimated for different agents (seed producer vs. private forest owner), and b) the primary idea was to "rank" the relative importances of the variables in each formula so that the ranking could aid decision-making.

Also in this connection it should be pointed out that the error term ( $\epsilon$ ) only represents the misspecification of the mathematical formula as regards *simulated* net benefit values (see Appendix 25). Therefore, the formula should be considered as a decision-making tool rather than a statistical model in a traditional sense. This should be kept in mind when interpreting the results. In general, the model behaviour was satisfactory (see Appendix 29).

### Sensitivity analyses

The difference investment method was applied by subtracting the initial sowing cost difference from the net present values (of the outturns), resulting in net benefits. For example, if the initial sowing cost difference was approximately FIM 600/hectare in Jyväskylä region, then the genetic gain had to be 7% in order for *net* benefit equaling zero, at 5% discount rate (Figure 3.22). A break-even occurred when the initial sowing cost difference was FIM 700/hectare in Hämeenlinna region, the genetic gain and the discount rate being 3% (Figure 3.22).



**Figure 3.22**. Net present value (FIM/hectare) against initial sowing cost difference in Jyväskylä (a), Hämeenlinna (b) and Nurmes (c) region. Different genetic gains and discount rates applied.

Vuokila & Väliaho's growth and yield models resulted in considerably lower present values than those of MELA modelling (Figure 3.23a). The main reason for that was the difference in calculation method. In Vuokila & Väliaho's models the genetic gains were estimated by increasing the outturns and keeping harvesting times unchanged, whereas in the MELA simulation the genetic gains were fed into the growth process themselves which resulted in changes in both the outturns and harvesting times. It can be argued that the MELA method simulates nature more realistically. Moreover, in Finland it is probable that thinnings are executed as early as possible, given the growth conditions and law. Differences in the NPVs originate also from the different initial data sets used for Vuokila & Väliaho's and MELA models. As a conclusion, the results according to former model could be seen as "a lower boundary" for a given genetic gain, whereas the results reflecting the MELA simulation can be viewed as "an upper boundary".



**Figure 3.23.** Net present value evaluated by original MELA simulation ("Hämeenlinna model ") and by Vuokila & Väliaho's harvest scheduling models applying two different removal percentages (a). Discount rate 3%. Sensitivity to changes in trend stumpage prices with 3 per cent discount rate (b) and 8 per cent discount rate (c) for Hämeenlinna model.

The results were only moderately sensitive to changes in trend stumpage prices (Figure 3.23b and c).

### 4. Conclusions

This research reports on the profitability of the present and next-generation Scots pine and Silver birch seed orchards in Finland. The specific goal of this work was to determine the conditions under which seed orchards are economically attractive for three *a priori* chosen agents. The conditions were divided into biological and market related conditions. Then, these conditions were examined with special reference to prevailing conditions and decision-making process. Further insights were provided in analyzing the extent at which the decision makers (either at public or private level) can control the variables creating the economically desirable conditions. Contradicting traditional views in the forest economics literature the concept of risk is here interpreted by the following. If the relevant variables with respect to profitability can (to some extent) be altered through the decision-making process, then the investment is characterized by low-risk elements. If, on the other hand, these variables cannot be affected by the decision maker, then the investment is categorized as a high-risk investment. The main topic was surveyed in five independent empirical studies by using methods consistent to current theory of economics.

Prior to making conclusions, one particular issue should be emphasized to avoid misinterpretations. The time period used in the assessments was very long. This gave rise to various forms of uncertainty, but most of them could be ignored due to the differential approach applied here. For example, it can be expected that both improved and unimproved stands are under the *same* uncertainties as regards, e.g., fire occurrence, conservation, general roundwood market shocks and time series analysis. On the other hand, the long time horizon is a phenomenon *per se* consisting of uncertainties which cannot be captured without making restrictive assumptions about the future. The essential question is whether these restrictive assumptions are reasonable - this can be tested *post hoc* by sensitivity analyses as was the case here.

This thesis has produced new information on the economical aspects of the Finnish tree breeding. Especially, the results provide new insights into a) detailed shadow pricing procedure of the annual costs of the seed orchard activity, b) applicable methods for converting the genetic gains into monetary values, c) mathematical tools for evaluating relative importancies and interrelations of the main variables and d) estimation of relevant risk elements associated with tree breeding. Especially,

the intuition behind the shadow pricing procedure is that it gives new knowledge on the *true* (net) impacts of the tree breeding on social welfare. In addition, the research breaks new ground in providing a shortcut method for assessing genetic gains. Namely, to estimate the increase (%) in the NPV associated with a particular genetic gain at stand level.

The main results (Study 2) proved promising: with Scots pine next-generation seed orchards the Net Present Values (NPVs) were positive even with 6% discount rate for a 12% and 15% genetic gain. The results allowed considerable changes in variables (e.g. input prices, site quality, costs and harvest scheduling) which can be considered to be controlled by public decisions. However, the results were very sensitive to changes in annual average seed crop which is partly affected by biological processes beyond the control of public decisions. This implies that there will be some risk elements involved with the next generation. On the other hand, the magnitudes of net benefits per produced orchard seed kilogram hint to a possibility that risks can be reduced considerably by directing *relatively* more subsidy (compared to present generation) into activities which improve the biological conditions of the seed orchards. Further, the next-generation seed orchards will be established in better soils than those of the present generation, let alone the fact that the risk of background pollination is considerably lower with the next generation (Nikkanen & Antola 1998). Both these issues contribute profitability significantly.

In general, investing in the next-generation Scots pine seed orchards seems to be charaterized by low-risk elements. The results (Study 2) also indicated that activities contributing Scots pine's stem quality warrant the extra costs involved. Surprisingly, the assessments resulted in similar outcomes irrespective of whether market or shadow prices of inputs were applied. This is mainly explained by the resulting high benefit-cost ratios.

For Silver birch next-generation seed orchards (Study 2), positive NPVs were attainable only with 4 per cent discount rate. The attainable discount rates were generally lower than those of Scots pine, which can be partly explained by the fact that future annual cultivation areas were forecasted according to different time periods for Scots pine and Silver birch. The applied method can be said to be "unfavourable" to Silver birch since its time-series included years in the 70s lowering the derived annual average. On the other hand, the net benefits per produced orchard seed kilogram

were distinctively high values implying that there is a potential to improve the economic outcome considerably. This can be done by directing relatively more subsidy into those activities which are the most efficient from the society's viewpoint. For instance, to develop methods which enable better correspondence between the seed production and orchard seed's market demand so that overproduction problems (characteristic of present generation) can be avoided. The results were in general sensitive to changes in annual cultivation area and costs, as expected (benefit-cost ratios were smaller than for Scots pine). These variables, however, can be considered to be the variables which can be affected by public decision, at least to some extent. Thus, also with Silver birch next-generation seed orchards low-risk elements are prevalent.

For next-generation Scots pine seed orchards of northern clones (Study 3), only a 3 per cent or less resulted in positive NPVs. The significant difference in profitability between the seed orchards for South and Central Finland (Study 2) and for northern Finland (Study 3) originates from several distinctive facts. First of all, it should be pointed out that the breeding goals for southern and central Finland and for northern Finland are separate (see, e.g., Nikkanen & Antola 1998). It can be argued that the breeding goals for southern and central Finland (growth yield and quality) evidently lead to economically more desirable outcomes than the corresponding for northern Finland (survival). Part of the difference can be explained by the different structures of original book-keeping records which led to applying separate cost classes and division of subactivities (see Appendix 12 vs. Table 3.4). Second, *relatively* much higher differential costs (e.g., maintenance of the freeze testing capacity) are tied up with seed orchards of northern clones than those for South and Central Finland. Thirdly, smaller values for average seed crops were applied for northern Finland bearing in mind that a profitability and seed crop are directly correlated. Finally, different absolute genetic gains were applied - it can well be argued that higher absolute genetic gains are attainable in southern Finland where growth potential generally is higher than in northern Finland (see, Kuusipalo 1996). In other words, the better the initial soil and climatic conditions, the higher gains from tree breeding can be obtained. Contradicting the results of Study 2 the NPVs of Study 3 were very sensitive to changes in input pricing. One possible reason for that is the different division of input categories, the other being the fact that seed orchards of northern clones require more labour input relatively to other inputs. Thus, changing the prices of labour input would directly affect the NPV considerably. As expected, the results were sensitive to changes in annual cultivation area, differential costs, average

seed crop and harvest scheduling modelling, which all except the average seed crop can be considered to be variables affected by public decisions. In this respect, investing into the Scots pine nextgeneration seed orchards of northern clones can also be characterized by low-risk elements.

Generally, the results (Studies 2 and 3) indicated that the minimum values for the main variables required for a positive NPV are obtainable with reference to the present knowledge on biological and economical conditions. In addition, the most relevant variables with respect to profitability can be controlled by public decisions suggesting that low-risk elements are dominant with the next-generation seed orchards. However, it can be argued that seed orchards to be established for the northern Finland are significantly more dependent on public funding than those established for southern Finland.

The results of Study 1 showed that present-generation Scots pine seed orchards are profitable (i.e. NPV > 0) from the society's viewpoint only when the genetic gain in volume growth is over 7 percent, the discount rate being 3 per cent. The former seems to be a higher value than suggested by the latest progeny test results (Venäläinen et al. 1994). It should, however, be reminded that the assessment included *all* Scots pine present-generation seed orchards. This has effected the profitability: for example, the net benefits per produced orchard seed kilogram were significantly lower than the corresponding of the next generation indicating fewer alternatives for decision makers to redirect the annual subsidy into more efficient breeding activities.

With Silver birch present-generation seed orchards the highest genetic gains, 15% in South and 12% in Central Finland, resulted in positive net present value when discounting with 3% (Study 1). These genetic gains (15% and 12%) seem to be attainable, given the latest progeny test results on the present generation (Hagqvist & Hahl 1998). In addition, the high values of net benefits per produced orchard seed kilogram indicated that the subsidy could be *re*directed between the breeding activities so that the overall profitability would be improved to some extent. The key issue in the near future is to adjust seed production to correspond to market demand more accurately than in the past - this can be best achieved by placing relatively more inputs to develop solid methods for estimating market demand.

The discount rate (3%) resulting in a positive NPV was relatively low with both species, although such a rate could be "justified" in long-term public investments (e.g., Musgrave & Musgrave 1989) and especially in long-term environmental projects (Weitzman 1998). In general, the results of both species were robust with regard to site quality and stumpage prices. In this respect the present seed orchards can be considered to be low-risk investments.

Principally, the main cause for the poor profitability (i.e. low discount rates for positive NPVs) of present seed orchards is that they could not have been utilized with the magnitude which was originally planned. However, the reasons for this defect are distinctive for the tree species in question. With Scots pine the background pollination and poor soil conditions of seed orchards have led to *unbalanced* seed production with respect to orchard seed demand. The background pollination has narrowed the original utilization areas (confirmed by the Finnish Forest Research Institute; see Nikkanen et al. 1999) of orchard seed, particularly in northern Finland, while in some parts of southern and Central Finland there has been an excess supply of orchard seed due to overlapping seed orchards. This background pollination can be considered to be a high risk element since there have been only limited methods (for both decision makers and breeders) to reduce the level of pollen contamination in the present seed orchards. Viewed in this fashion, the present-generation Scots pine seed orchards involve more risks than those of the next generation.

With Silver birch, on the other hand, the chronic overproduction of seed during the recent years has burdened the profitability considerably. The overproduction results from two separate facts, as was mentioned earlier. First, production techniques have developed faster than anticipated leading to higher production capacity (within the same polythene tunnel area) than was originally schemed. Second, drastic fluctuations (during the early 90s) in annual cultivation area have reduced the profitability. However, unlike Scots pine, both these effects can be controlled through decisions. Thus, from the society's viewpoint lower risks are associated with the present-generation Silver birch seed orchards than those of Scots pine.

The analysis on market environment for Scots pine and Silver birch present-generation orchard seed (Study 4) implied that there are still economies of scale to be exploited with both species. One main reason for the existence of economies of scale withScots pine orchard seed production is the impact

of uncollected cones in seed orchards - the seed orchards have not been utilized in accordance with the initial magnitude of the establishments. The surprising outcome of the analysis of the next-generation Scots pine seed orchards (Study 4) was the essential importance of the government subsidy -without the subsidy the NPV for a single seed orchard is clearly negative even with low discount rates. In addition, the simulation results indicated that the price of the orchard seed was the most important variable for the financial profitability (Table 3.7). This implies that via right pricing decisions some of the risks associated with biological variables can be compensated. At present generation the total absence of the subsidy would most likely lead to higher prices for orchard seed, and it seems that there would not be enough demand with those higher prices, especially in case of Scots pine (see Figure 3.15). For Silver birch, however, the absence of the subsidy would not affect the profitability so drastically, since there might be enough demand for higher orchard seed prices (see Figure 3.16). Finally, the results clearly indicate the need to invest in methods which contribute to seed crop - even large extra costs involved in developing are warranted by higher seed crops.

With Scots pine the discrepancy between the discount rate resulting in a positive NPV for society (Study 2) and for a seed producer (Study 4) can be explained twofold. First, different set of prices were applied: social, i.e., shadow prices were used in examining the issue from the society's viewpoint, whereas market prices were adopted for seed producers. These different prices can partly explicate the discrepancy found. Primarily, the discrepancy originates from the fact that there is a 15-year time lag between the establishment and seed production in a Scots pine seed orchard. This is the main cause which burdens the financial profitability.

For a private forest owner sowing with Scots pine orchard seed was profitable even with as high as 8 per cent discount rate (Study 5). According to the results (see Figure 3.20) the difference (between the outturns of an improved stand and those of a normal stand) at present value is well above the prevailing extra costs involved with orchard seed in direct sowing. In addition, an interesting outcome was that the decision variables of the simulation (discount rate, genetic gain, relative stumpage price and sowing cost difference) had similar impacts on the financial profitability within the relevant scope of prevailing biological and economical conditions (Table 3.8). This can be interpreted by saying that decisions are dominated by private forest owner's *own* preferences. Furthermore, in practice private forest owners are willing to pay more for the orchard seed than for

stand seed (Venäläinen & Koponen 1997). Thus, it seems that small increases in orchard seed prices (e.g. due to a possible decrease in annual subsidy) would not limit the demand considerably.

With both species the significant difference in profitability between the present (Study 1) and next generation (Study 2) can be explained by the effect of more efficient planning and establishment, and by the underlying, better than assumed correspondence between anticipated orchard seed demand and the magnitude of the establishment of the next-generation seed orchards. In the next-generation there will be no large-scale excess seed supply to burden the profitability. Of course, the higher genetic gains applied in the next generation affected the results, but they cannot explain all of the difference. Additionally, it should be emphasized that the *actual* results of tree breeding cannot be utilized until the next generation. Then, *at the first time* the individual trees are selected into breeding population according to progeny test results.

From the overall results (Study 1 and 2), it can be concluded that there might even be some welfare improvements attainable in the next-generation seed orchards for both species in the sense that higher discount rates, compared to the present generation can be applied. In other words, the resources (in a form of inputs directed into breeding activities) tied up in the next-generation seed orchards are more efficiently allocated from the society's point of view than the resources used in the present generation. Hypothetically, if we assume that the present and next-generation seed orchards were mutually exclusive projects society would gain by reallocating resources from the present to the next-generation seed orchards. Furthermore, the absolute value of discount rate applicable in the next generation appears to be a high value as regards rawmaterial supply in primary production.

Finally, the multilevel analysis resulted in a positive impact of tree breeding on each agent. In other words, the results suggest that via the present government subsidy, which itself is economically justified, the orchard seed production is made business economically profitable. Further, for a private forest owner the produced orchard seed also seems to be a profitable alternative to be used in direct forest sowing. The above-mentioned applies even more with the next generation, when lower risks are associated with the investment decisions, and higher genetic gains can be expected (see, e.g., Venäläinen et al. 1996b).

#### **SELOSTE** (Finnish Summary)

#### Tutkimuksen tausta ja tavoitteet

Määrätietoinen metsänjalostustoiminta alkoi Suomessa männyn (*Pinus sylvestris L.*) pluspuiden valinnalla. Varttamalla pluspuiden oksia perusrunkoihin perustettiin ensimmäiset avomaan siemenviljelykset 1950-luvun keskivaiheilla. Toiminta laajeni 1960- ja 70-luvuilla laajamittaisella männyn siemenviljelysten perustamisohjelmalla. Jalostustyön puolen vuosisadan mittaisesta historiasta huolimatta Suomessa ei kuitenkaan ole tarkasteltu metsänjalostuksen taloudellisia perusteita muutamaa tapaustutkimusta lukuun ottamatta. Tämä työ pyrkii osaltaan korjaamaan ko. epäkohtaa. Ensisijaisesti työssä tarkastellaan männyn ja rauduskoivun (*Betula pendula Roth*) seuraavan polven siemenviljelysten taloudellista kannattavuutta. Metsänjalostustoiminnan kannattavuutta tarkastellaan kolmen agentin (valtio, siemenentuottaja ja metsäomistaja) näkökulmasta. Lisäksi, kannattavuudelle kriittisiä muuttujanarvoja verrataan vallitseviin biologisiin ja taloudellisiin olosuhteisiin, jotta päätöksenteossa voitaisiin ottaa huomioon myös kannattavuuksiin liittyvät riskit.

#### Tutkimusmenetelmät

Valtion talouden tason tarkasteluissa (Osatutkimukset 1, 2 ja 3) laskelmat suoritetaan kustannushyötyanalyysilla (KHA) kiinnittäen erityistä huomiota a) varjohinnoitteluun ja b) erotuslaskentamenetelmään Varjohinnoittelemalla metsänjalostuksen *erotus*hyödyt ja -kustannukset (verrattuna metsikkökeruusiemen-vaihtoehtoon) voidaan laskelmissa evaluoida niiden todelliset vaikutukset yhteiskunnalle, mitä resurssien tehokas allokaatio edellyttääkin. Kannattavuuskriteerinä on Nettonykyarvo (NNA)- menetelmä, ja laskelmat suoritetaan vaihtoehtoisilla laskentakorkokannoilla (2-6%). Finanssista analyysia sovelletaan yksityisen metsänomistajan (Osatutkimus 5) ja siemenentuottajan (Osatutkimus 4) näkökulmasta tehtävissä laskelmissa. Lisäksi, ns. MES- ja LAC-analyyseja hyödynnetään määritettäessä nykyisten siemenviljelysten siementuotannon kannattavuutta. Siemenviljelyssiemenen markkinakysyntä formuloidaan yhtälömuotoon molemmilla puulajeilla. Myös metsänomistajalle ja siemenentuottajalle investointikriteerinä pidetään Nettonykyarvoa, joka lasketaan vaihtoehtoisilla korkokannoilla. Herkkyysanalyyseissa lasketaan myös sisäisiä korkokantoja. Sekä yksityiselle metsänomistajalle että siemenentuottajalle muodostetaan matemaattiset kannattavuusfunktiot mallintamalla päämuuttujien lasketut arvot ja arvojen interrelaatiot. Menettely tarjoaa helppokäyttöisen ja suhteellisen luotettavan apuvälineen päätöksenteon tueksi.

#### Tulokset

Tulosten mukaan seuraavan sukupolven männyn ja rauduskoivun siemenviljelykset (Osatutkimus 2) ovat taloudellisesti perusteltuja investointeja yhteiskunnan kannalta, ainakin kun käytetään laskentakorkokantaa valintakriteerinä (NNA on positiivinen männyllä 6%:lla, ja rauduskoivulla 4%:lla). Toisaalta myös seuraavaan sukupolveen liittyy riskejä. Tulokset ovat varsin herkkiä keskimääräiselle hehtaarikohtaiselle siementuotolle (mänty). Lähitulevaisuudessa onkin syytä panostaa menetelmiin, jotka takaavat riittävän suuren siementuoton, ja jotka eivät kuitenkaan heikennä oleellisesti saavutettavissa olevaa jalostushyötyä. Lisäksi, analyysien *erotus*hyödyt pohjautuvat *ex ante*laskelmiin odotettavissa olevista jalostushyödyistä, sillä toistaiseksi ei ole käytettävissä jälkeläiskoetuloksia, jotka kattaisivat koko kiertoajan. Edellämainittua riskiä on kartoitettu vaihtoehtoisilla jalostushyödyn arvioilla ja kasvumalleilla (mänty: MELA, Vuokila & Väliaho).

Erot laskentakorkokannoissa puulajien välillä johtuvat pääasiallisesti siitä, että tulevaisuuden vuotuiset metsänviljelypinta-alat pohjautuivat puulajeittain eripituisiin aikasarjoihin. Rauduskoivulla

valitun aikasarjan voidaan katsoa olevan "epäsuotuisa" sisältäen 1970-luvun alkupuolen lukuarvoja, jotka laskivat selvästi vuosikeskiarvoa. Toisaalta, rauduskoivun siemenviljelyssiemenelle laskettu korkea kilokohtainen NNA implikoi mahdollisuudesta kohdentaa valtion tukea tehokkaammin. Vuotuisen tuen käyttöä voidaan tehostaa (yhteiskunnan näkökulmasta) esimerkiksi kehittämällä entistä tarkempia menetelmiä siemenen kysynnän ennustamiseksi. Tähän tarjoaa mahdollisuuden myös viime vuosien aikasarjamallinnuksen menetelmällinen kehittyminen. Tutkimustulosten mukaan Pohjois-Suomea varten perustettavien männyn siemenviljelysten kannattavuus (Osatutkimus 3) on selkeästi huonompi kuin Etelä-Suomen vastaavien. Kannattavuusero johtuu monista seikoista, joista muutamia on perusteltua nostaa tässä yhteydessä esille. Ensinnäkin, kloonien valinta uusiin männyn ns. valiosiemenviljelyksiin perustuu Etelä- ja Keski-Suomessa kasvuun ja laatuun kun taas Pohjois-Suomessa panostetaan viljelyvarmuutta. Voidaankin sanoa, että edellämainitut eteläisen Suomen jalostustavoitteet (kasvu ja laatu) edesauttavat kannattavuutta enemmän kuin viljelyvarmuus, jonka rahamääräinen arviointi on jo itsessään vaikeaa. Toiseksi, Pohjois-Suomen vastaaville.

Männyn siemenviljelyssiemenentuottajalle valtion subventio on siementä tuottamattomassa vaiheessa ehdoton edellytys liiketaloudelliselle kannattavuudelle (Osatutkimus 4). Ilman valtion tukea kannattavuus on negatiivinen jo varsin pienillä laskentakorkokannoilla. Toisaalta, nykyisillä männyn siemenviljelyksillä on vielä skaalaetuja hyödyntämättä, sillä viime vuosina on jätetty keräämättä osa siemenviljelyksien käpysadoista. Alueellinen epätasapaino siemenviljelyssiemenen tuotannossa johtuu puolestaan taustapölytysongelmasta - siementä ei aina voida käyttää alkuperäisillä kohdealueillaan. Rauduskoivun nykyinen siemenviljelystuotanto on liiketaloudellisesti kannattavaa (Osatutkimus 4). Pääasiassa hyvä kannattavuus on seurausta siitä, että viljelyksen siementä tuottamaton ajanjakso on oleellisesti pienempi kuin männyllä, ja toisaalta muovihuoneviljelyksiä voidaan kontrolloida huomattavasti tarkemmin kuin avomaan vastaavia.

Yksityisen metsänomistajan on varsin perusteltua käyttää männyn kylvössä siemenviljelyssiementä (Osatutkimus 5), kunhan *hehtaarikohtainen* kylvökustannusero siemenviljelyssiemenen ja metsikkösiemenen välillä ei keskimäärin nouse yli 300-800mk:n. Vaihteluvälin alarajalla (300mk) voidaan käyttää jopa 8%:n laskentakorkokantaa jalostushyödyn ollessa 10%.

Kokonaisuudessaan tulokset implikoivat nykyisenkaltaisen valtion subvention olevan yhteiskunnan kannalta varsin perusteltua. Lisäksi, yhteiskunnalle on odotettavissa *Pareto*-parannuksia siirryttäessä nykyisistä siemenviljelyksistä (Osatutkimus 1) seuraavaan sukupolveen (Osatutkimus 2).Tuki on nykymuodossaan mahdollistanut myös siemenviljelyssiemenentuottajalle liiketaloudellisesti kannattavan toiminnan. Kun edellämainittuihin lisätään se, että yksityiselle metsänomistajalle näyttäisi olevan perusteltua käyttää siemenviljelyssiementä kylvössä (mänty), niin voidaan todeta, että kaikille kolmelle agentille on kannattavaa toimia metsänjalostuksen parissa. On syytä kuitenkin painottaa, että osatutkimusten tulokset pohjautuivat arvioihin mahdollisesta jalostushyödystä - vasta *realisoituneiden* ja *kvantifioitujen* jalostushyötyjen avulla voidaan luotettavasti *ex post* selvittää suomalaisen metsänjalostuksen kannattavuus. Tätä ennen on päätöksenteossa tyydyttävä approksimaatioihin, *ex ante*-laskelmiin ja moniulotteisiin herkkyysanalyyseihin - kuten tämä tutkimus.

ta

- Abelson, P. 1979. Cost-benefit analysis and environmental problems. Saxon House. Southampton, England. 237 p. ISBN:0-333-23207-0.
- Ackzell, L. 1994. Forest regeneration by nature and man Studies in boreal Sweden emphasizing genetic aspects. Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet, Institutionen för Skoglig Genetik och Växtfysiologi. Umeå. Dissertation. 119 p. ISBN: 91-576-4798-4.
- Ahonen, L. 1970. Diskonttausarvo metsän hinnoitusinformaationa. Referat: Der Diskontierungswert als Information für die Preisschätzung des Waldes. Acta Forestalia Fennica 108. 81 p.
- Ahtikoski, A. 1995. Männyn ja rauduskoivun siemenviljelysten kannattavuus. Summary: Profitability of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and Silver birch (Betula pendula R.) seed orchards in Finland. Metsänjalostussäätiön tiedonantoja nro 10, Reports from the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding, 10. Helsinki. 32 p.

-1996a. Männyn siemenhuoltovaihtoehtojen kustannukset Pohjois-Suomessa [Costs for alternative methods of supplying Scots pine seed in northern Finland]. Metsänjalostussäätiön työraportteja 29. Helsinki. 30p.

-1996b. Inquiry concerning common seed-to-plantable ratios used in nurseries.

Unpublished mimeograph, 3 p.

-1997. Siemenviljelyssiemenen käytön kannattavuus männyn kylvössä. [The profibility of using orchard seed in direct Scots pine sowing]. Folia Forestalia 2/1997, pp: 239-252.

-& Pulkkinen, P.1999. The economical assessment of genetically enhanced seed for Scots pine sowing in northern Finland. Revised as suggested by the referees of Can. J. For.Res.

- Anderson, D.R., Sweeney, D.J. & Williams, T.A.1994. An introduction to management science. Quantitative approaches to decision making. 8th edition. West Publishing Company, USA. 763 p. ISBN:0-314-09687-6.
- Antola, J., Pakkanen, A. & Pulkkinen, P. 1996. Mäntysiemenviljelysten perustamissuunnitelmat [Establishment schedule for next-generation Scots pine seed orchards]
   Metsänjalostussäätiön työraportteja 30. Helsinki. 14 p.
- Aronsson, T. 1997. On cost benefit rules for green taxes. Umeå Economic studies No. 449. 13 pages. ISNN: 0348-1018.

- Arrow, K.J. 1992. Rationality of Self and Others in an economic system. In: Zey, M. (ed.).
  Decision Making. Alternatives to rational choice models. 454 p. ISBN: 0-8039-4750X.Atkinson, A.B & Stiglitz, J.E.1980. Lectures on public economics. McGraw-Hill
  Book Company. UK. 576 p. ISBN:0-07-084105-5.
- Barr, N. 1987. The economics of the welfare state. Weidelfeld & Nicolson Ltd. London, UK. 425 p. ISBN:0-297-78836-1.
- Baumol, W.J. 1968. On the social rate of discount. American Economic Review 58:4, pp. 788-802.
- Begg, D., Fischer, S. & Dornbusch, R. 1994. Economics. 4th edition. McGraw-Hill, London. 641 p. ISBN: 0-07-707831-4.
- Bhattacharyya, A. & Lyon, K.S. 1994. Biotechnical progress in forestry: an optimal control analysis. Forest Science, Vol. 40. No 1. pp 120-141.
- Binkley, C. S. 1981. Duration-dependent discounting ? Canadian journal of forest research. Vol. 11 (2), pp. 454-456.
- Björk, B.-C.1984. Kansantaloudellisen laskentakorkokannan empiirinen määrittäminen. [The empirical estimation of the discount rate of the society]. Liiketaloudellinen aika kauskirja 1984:446-472.
- Blair, R.D. & Kenny, L.W.1982. Microeconomics for managerial decision making. McGraw-Hill Book Company. 440 p. ISBN:0-07-005800-8.
- Boadway, R. & Bruce, N. 1984. Welfare economics. Basil Blackwell. 344 p. ISBN: 0-631-13326-7.
- Book-keepings 1971-1993. Spreadsheets of internal book-keeping; various storing forms, Finnish Forest and Park Service.
- Branson, W.H. 1989. Macroeconomic theory and policy. 3rd ed. New York. Harper & Row. 656 p. ISBN: 0-06-040932-0.
- Brent, R.J. 1996. Applied cost-benefit analysis. Edward Elgar Publishing Limited. Brookefield, U.S. 315 p. ISBN 1-85898-338-X.
- Brown, C.V & Jackson, P.M. 1991. Public Sector Economics. 4th edition. Blackwell, Oxford. 570 p. ISBN: 0-631-16208-9.
- Buford, M.A. & Burkhart, H.E. 1987. Genetic improvement effects on growth and yield of loblolly pine plantations. Forest Science 33(3): 707-724.
- Byram, T.D., Richardson, J.W. & Lowe, W.J. 1999. Predicting Seed Yields from Loblolly Pine Seed Orchards: A simulation Approach using TImpSim. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry, 23 (2): 117-123.

- Cao, Q.V. & Burkhart, H.E. 1984. A segmented distribution approach for modelling diameter frequency data. Forest Science 30:129-137.
- Carson, S.D., Garcia, O. & Hayes, J.D. 1999. Realized Gain and Prediction of Yield with gene tically Improved Pinus radiata in New Zealand. Forest Science 45(2): 186-200.
- Caulfield, J.P. 1988. A stochastic efficiency approach for determining the economic rotation of a forest stand. Forest Science, Vol. 34, No. 2, pp. 441-457.
- Chatfield, C. 1989. The analysis of time series, an introduction. 4th ed. Chapman & Hall, London. 221 p. ISBN 0-412-31820-2.
- Clutter, J.L.1983. Forest Finance. In: Clutter, J.L., Fortson, J.C., Pienaar, L.V., Brister, G.H. & Bailey, R.L. (eds.).Timber management: a quantitative approach. New York. John Wiley & Sons. 333 p. ISBN: 0-471-02961-0.
- Cook, R.D. & Weisberg, S. 1985. Residuals and influence regression. Monograhps on statistics and applied probability. Chapman and Hall, NY. 230 p. ISBN: 0-412-24280-X.
- Danell, Ö. & Werner, M. 1991. Svensk björkförädling förväntade framsteg under första gene

ration.[Swedish birch breeding - expected improvements in the first generation]. The

Institute for Forest Improvement, Report no 22. Uppsala. 17 p.

- Dasgupta, A. K. & Pearce, D.W. 1978. Cost-benefit analysis: theory and practice. London, Macmillan. 270 p.
- Dhakal, L.P., White, T.L. & Hodge, G.R. 1996. Realized genetic gains from Slash pine tree improvement Silvae Genetica 45, 4 (1996), pp. 190-197

Dinwiddy, C. & Teal, F. 1996. Principles of cost-benefit analysis for developing countries.

Cambridge University Press. 267 p. ISBN 0-521-47916-9.

Dreze, J. & Stern, N.1985. The theory of cost-benefit analysis. University of Warwick. Deve lopment Economics, Discussion paper 59. 140 p.
-1994. Shadow prices and markets: policy reform, shadow prices and market prices. In: Layard, R. & Glaister, S. (eds.). Cost-benefit analysis. Cambridge UP. 497 p. ISBN: 0-521-46674-1.

Falconer, D.S. & McKay, T.F.C. 1996. Introduction to quantitative genetics. 4th ed. Harlow: Longman. 464 p. ISBN: 0-582-24302-5.

Fellman, J., Jäntti, M. & Lambert, P. J.1996. Optimal tax-transfer systems and redistributive policy:

the Finnish experience. Meddelanden från Svenska Handelshögskolan 324. 16 p.

- Finnish statistical yearbook of forestry 1997. Metsätilastollinen vuosikirja 1998. Finnish Forest Research Institute. 346 p. ISBN: 951-40-1585-1.
- Finnish statistical yearbook of forestry 1998. Metsätilastollinen vuosikirja 1998. Finnish Forest Institute. 346 p. ISBN: 951-40-1654-8.
- Finnish statistical yearbook of forestry 1999. Metsätilastollinen vuosikirja 1999. Finnish Forest Research Institute. 352 pages. ISBN:951-40-1705-6.
- Fins, L. & Moore, J.A. 1984. Economic Analysis of A Tree Improvement Program for Western Larch. Journal of Forestry Vol. 84, No 11, pp: 675-679.
- Fisher, I. 1930. The theory of interest.McMillan Company. New York. 566 p.
- Fortson, J.C. 1986. Factors affecting the discount rate for forestry investments. Forest products Journal. Vol. 36, No 6, pp: 67-72.
- Friedman, M. 1976. Price theory. Aldine Publishing Company, Chicago. 357 p. ISBN:0-202-06074-8.
- Gong, P. 1991. Forest economics and timber harvest scheduling: an overview and analysis.
   Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet, Institutionen f
   ör skogsekonomi. Arbetsrapport 129.
   23 p.
- Green, E.J. & Burkhart, H.E. & Clason, T.R. 1984. A model for basal area distribution in loblolly pine. Forest Science 30:617-828.
- Greene, W.H. 1997. Econometric analysis. 3rd ed. New Jersey. Prentice Hall. 1075 p. ISBN: 0-02-346602-2.
- Gregersen, H.M. & Contreras, A. 1992. Economic assessment of forestry project impacts. FAO Forestry Paper 106. Rome. ISSN: 02058-6150
  - , Arnold, J.E.M., Lundgren, A.L & Contreras-Hermasilla, A. 1995. Valuing forests: context, issues and guidelines. FAO Forestry Paper 127. Rome. ISSN: 0258-6150
- Guidelines for the economic analysis of projects. 1997. Economics and Development Resource Centre, Asian Development Bank. 204 p. ISBN: 971-561-127-3.
- Haapanen, M., Pöykkö, T. & Velling, P. 1993. Koesahauksilla tietoa männyn laadusta.
  Metsänjalostussäätiön vuosikertomus. Summary: Sawing trials provide information on Scots pine quality. The yearbook of the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding 1992, pp: 15-19.

- Haapanen, M., Velling, P. & Annala, M.-L. 1997. Progeny trial estimates of genetic parameters for growth and quality traits in Scots pine. Silva Fennica Vol. 31, No. 1, pp. 3-12.
- Hagqvist, R. 1991. Some results of intensive Birch breeding. Haapastensyrjä, mimeograph, 3 p.
  -& Velling, P., Viherä-Aarnio, A. 1991. Jalostetun koivunsiemenen suurtuotanto muovihuoneissa [Seed production of birch in polythene tunnels].
  - & Hahl, J. 1998. Rauduskoivun siemenviljelysten jalostushyöty Etelä-ja Keski-Suomessa. Summary: Genetic gain provided by seed orchards of Silver birch in Southern and Central Finland. Metsänjalostussäätiö Tiedonantoja 13, 1998. Reports from the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding, Helsinki 1998. 30 p.
- Hahl, J. 1992. Valmius männyn valiosiemeneen. Summary: New generation of Scots pine seed orchards to be established soon. Metsänjalostussäätiön vuosikertomus, The Yearbook of the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding 1991, pp: 8-11.
- Hannelius, S. 1997. Kannattavuuden kriteerit. [Criteria for profitability]. In: Mielikäinen, K. & Riikilä, M. (eds). 1997. Kannattava puuntuotanto. Metsäntutkimuslaitos ja Tapio. Metsälehti-kustannus. 140 p. ISBN: 952-5118-06-1.
- Harberger, A.C. 1964. Taxation, resource allocation and welfare. In: Role of direct and indirect taxes in the Federal Reserve System. Princeton University Press for the National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Harju, A. & Muona, O. 1989. Background pollination in Pinus sylvestris seed orchards. Scan dinavian Journal of Forest Research 4, pp. 513-520.
- Harvey, A.C. 1993. Time series models. 2nd ed. New York. Harvester Wheatsheat. 308 p. ISBN: 0-7450-1200-0.
- Heal, G. 1998 .Valuing Our Future: Cost-benefit analysis and sustainability. Office of Development Studies, Discussion Paper series 13. United Nations Development Programme. 36 p.
- Hirshleifer, J. & Glazer, A. 1992. Price theory and applications. 5th edition. Prentice-Hall In

ternational Editions. 532 p. ISBN:0-13-721671-8.

Hökkä, H., Piironen, M.-L., Penttilä, T. 1991. Läpimittajakauman ennustaminen Weibull-jakaumalla Pohjois-Suomen mänty- ja koivuvaltaisissa ojitusaluemetsiköissä. Summary: The estimation of basal area-dbh distribution using the Weibull-function for drained pineand birch dominated and mixed peatland stands in north Finland. Folia Forestalia 781. 22 p.

- Holopainen, L. & Pirttilä, V. 1978. Kukittamishuoneen varusteet ja käyttö. Summary: The equipment in and use of the flower induction hall. The Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding in Finland. Information 1 (1978): 1-4.
- Honkapohja, S. & Niskanen, E. 1984. Cost-benefit rules in general equilibrium with monopolistic competition. Discussion Papers No 219. Hgin yliopiston kansantaloustieteen laitoksen keskustelu-ja tutkimusaloitteita. 26 p. ISBN:951-45-3467-0.
- Hynynen, J. 1995. Modelling tree growth for managed stands. The Finnish Forest Research Institute. Research Papers 576. Diss. 56+79 p.
  -1996. Puuston kehityksen ennustaminen MELA-järjestelmässä. [Predicting tree development in MELA program ].In: Hynynen, J. & Ojansuu, R. (eds.).Puuston kehityksen ennustaminen - MELA ja vaihtoehtoja.Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tie
- donantoja. 612. 115 p. ISBN: 951-40-1530-4.
- Hänninen, P. 1995. Presentation for private forest owners. Spreadsheets. 10 p.
- Internal accounting spreadsheets for Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding. 1990-1995. Collected from database, unpublished. Approximately 100 outprints.
- Internal book-keepings 1971-1989. Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding. Unpublished, app. 150 pages.
- Irvin, G. 1978. Modern cost-benefit methods, an introduction to financial, economic and social appraisal of development projects. McMillan Press Ltd. London & Basingstoke. 237 p. ISBN: 0-333-23207-0.
- Jäghagen, K. 1997. Impact of competition on survival, growth, and tree characteristics of young conifers. Acta Universitatis Agriculturae sueciae, Silvestria 32. University of Ag

ricultural sciences. Dissertation. 24+45 p. ISBN: 91-576-5316-X.

- Jayawickrama, K.J.S. & C. Balocchi, L. 1993. Tree improvement in Chile: two decades of progress. Journal of Forestry, Vol 91 (6), pp. 43-47.
- Johansson, P-O. & Löfgren, K-G. 1985. The economics of forestry and natural resources. Oxford. Basil Blackwell. 292 p. ISBN: 0-631-14162-6.
- Johansson, P-O. 1987. The economic theory and measurement of environmental benefits. Cam bridge University Press. 223 p.ISBN: 0-521-34810-2.
- Keipi, K. & Laakkonen, O. 1980. Päätehakkuuikäisten metsiköiden urealannoituksen kannattavuusvertailuja. Profitability comparisons of urea fertilization in old stands.

Folia Forestalia 420. Inst. For. Fenn.

- Keltikangas, M. 1973. Aikatekijän käsittely puunkasvatukseen liittyvissä investointilaskelmissa. Summary: Handling of time factor in investment calculations concerning timber growing. Helsingin yliopiston metsätalouden liiketieteen laitos. Julkaisuja 10. 35 p.
- Kiinteistöjen kauppahintatilasto 1996. 1997. [The price statistics of the real estates 1996]. 114 p.
- Kilkki, P. & Päivinen, R. 1986. Weibull function in the estimation of the basal area dbh-distribution. Seloste: Weibull-funktio pohjapinta-alan läpimittajakauman estimoinnissa. Silva Fennica 20 (2):149-156.

- Maltamo, M., Mykkänen, R. & Päivinen, R. 1989. Use of the Weibull function in estimating the basal area dbh-distribution. Tiivistelmä: Weibull-funktion käyttö pohjapinta-alan läpimittajakauman estimoinnissa. Silva Fennica 23 (4): 311-318.

- Kinnunen, K.1997. Uudistamisen tekniikka ja talous. [The techiques and economics of forest regeneration].In: Mielikäinen, K. & Riikilä, M. (eds.) 1997. Kannattava puuntuotanto. Metsäntutkimuslaitos ja Tapio. Metsälehti-kustannus. 140 p. ISBN:952-5118-06-1.
- Klemperer, W.D., Cathcart, J.F., Häring, T., Alig, R.J. 1993. Risk and the discount rate in forestry. Can. J. For. Res. 24 (2): 390-397.
- Koutsoyiannis, A. 1981. Theory of Econometrics. 2nd ed. Hong Kong, Macmillan. 681 p.
- Koski, V. 1980. Minimivaatimukset männyn siemenviljelyksille Suomessa. Silva Fennica 14(2): 136-149.

-1991. Experience with genetic improvement of birch in scandinavia. In: Lorrain-Smith, R. & Worrell, R. (eds.) The commercial potential of birch in Scotland.

- Kukkonen, H.1991. Birch seed management in Finland. Reports from the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding 1. pp: 77-79.
- Kula, E. 1988. The economics of forestry: modern theory and practice. Croom, Helm, London. 12 + 185 p. ISBN: 0881921238.
- Kuuluvainen, J. & Mikkola, E. 1993. Vanhat ja uudet puukaupan pelisäännöt. [The old and new rules for the roundwood markets]. PTT Katsaus 4/1993, pp: 14-21.
- Kuusipalo, J. 1996. Suomen metsätyypit. [Finnish forest site types]. Kirjayhtymä Oy, Rauma. 144 p. ISBN: 951-26-3892-4.

Kärki, L. 1983. Forest tree breeding combines the highest timber quality and the highest stem wood

production per hectare. Seloste: Metsänjalostus yhdistää laadun ja hyvän kasvun. The Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding in Finland. Information 1/1983. 15 p. ISSN: 0357-7171.

- Laakkonen, O. 1994. Toistuvan lannoituksen kannattavuus Etelä-Suomen kivennäismailla.
- Summary: Profitability of repeated fertilization on mineral soils in southern Finland.
- Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 498. Diss. ISBN 951-40-1363-8.
- Laasasenaho, J. 1982. Taper curve and volume functions for pine, spruce and birch. Com municationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 108. Helsinki. 74 p.
- Lahtinen, K. 1995. Tietopankin tulosteita. [Applied spreadsheets of the Finnish Forest and Park Service]. 4 p.

-1996. [Calculations of the possible seed orchard production in the near future]. Finnish Forest and Park Service, 3 p.

-1997. [Internal assessment concerning next-phase Scots pine seed orchards]. Spreadsheets, Finnish Forest and Park Service. 8 p.

- 1998. [Spreadsheets concerning Scots pine orchard seed direct production costs in the 90s]. Finnish Forest and Park Service, internal report. 2 p.

- Lambeth, C.C. 1980. Juvenile-mature correlations in pinaceae and implications for early selection. Forest Science, Vol. 26, No. 4, pp: 571-580.
- Layard, R. & Glaister, S. 1994. Introduction. In: Layard, R. & Glaister, S. (eds.) Cost-benefit analysis. 2nd edition. Cambridge University Press. 490 p. ISBN: 0-521-46674-1.
- Ledig, F.T & Porterfield, R.L. 1981. West Coast Tree Improvement Programs: a break-even analysis. USDA, Res. Paper PSW-156. Berkley, California. 8 pages.
- Lepistö, M. 1995. Koivun siemenen varastot ja siementuotannon nykytaso Suomessa.[Seed storages of Silver birch seed and present seed production in Finland]. 4 p.
  -1996. Tiedote koivun jalostuksesta Suomessa. [A note for Ministry of agriculture and Forestry].2 pages.
- Lesourne, J. 1975. Cost-benefit analysis and economic theory. In series: Studies in mathematical and managerial economics, Theil, H. (ed.). North-Holland Publishing Company. 494 p.
- Levy, H. & Sarnat, M. 1994. Capital investment & financial decisions. 5th edition. Prentice Hall International. 764 p. ISBN:0-13-115882-1.
- Lindfield, G. & Penny, J. 1995. Numerical methods using MATLAB. Ellis Horwood, international

edition. 328 p. ISBN: 0-13-030966-4.

- Lipsey, R.G. 1987. An introduction to positive economics. 6th ed. Weidenfeld and Nicolson, London.777 pages. ISBN: 0-297-782657.
- Lowe, W.J., Byram, T.D. & Bridgwater, F.E. 1999. Selecting Loblolly Pine Parents for Seed Orchards to Minimize the Cost of Producing Pulp. Forest Science 45(2): 213- 216.
- Löfgren, K-G. 1988. On the economic value of genetic progress in forestry. Forest Science 34 (3): 708-723.

- 1992. A note on the welfare gains from genetic progress in forestry: what can the market tell us ? Forest Science 38(2): 479-483.

- 1995. Knut Wicksell on the optimal rotation problem in forestry. Journal of Forest Economics. Vol. 1 No. 2. pp: 153-163.
- MacKean, R.N. 1958. Efficiency in government through systems analysis. Wiley, New York.
- Maddala, G.S.1977. Econometrics. MacGraw-Hill, NY. 516 pages. ISBN:0-07-039412-1.
- Manning, G.H. 1977. Evaluating public forestry investments in British Columbia: the choice of discount rates. The Forestry Chronicle Vol. 651, No. 711, pp: 155-158.
- Männyn, kuusen ja koivun siemenviljelysten perustamissuunnitelmat. 1997. [The establishment plans of Scots pine, Norway spruce and Silver birch seed orchards]. Siementuotannon suunnitteluryhmän muistio 1997. 43 p.
- Marklund, E. 1981. Äldre tallproveniensförsök ger underlag för produktionsprognoser. Sveriges Skogvårdsförbunds Tidskrift 79: 9-14.
- Marshall, P., Szikszai, T., LeMay, V. & Kozak, A. 1995. Testing the distributional assumptions of least squares linear regression. The Forestry Chronicle, Vol 71, No 2, pp: 213-217.
- Mas-Colell, A., Whinston, M.D. & Green, J.R. 1995. Microeconomic theory. Oxford University Press. 981 p. ISBN: 0-19-507340-1.
- Matlab. 1992. Reference guide. High-performance numeric computation and visualization software. Natick, Mass., USA. 548 p.
- Megginson, W.L. 1997. Corporate finance theory. Reading MA. Addison-Wesley. Cop. 506 p. ISBN:0-673-99765-0.
- Metsänviljelysaineistotyöryhmän muistio, 1994. [A report from the working group of the forest cultivation material ].Työryhmämuistio MMM 1994:12. 17 p.

Metsäpuiden siemenviljelysohjelma vuosille 1990-2025. 1989. [The seed orchard program of the

forest trees for years 1990-2025]. Siemenviljelystyöryhmä. Helsinki. 52 p.

- MicroCal Origin, ver. 3.54. 1994. MicroCal software, Inc. One roundhouse Plaza Northampton, MA. 01060 USA.
- Mikola, J. 1984. Methods used for the genetic evaluation of tree breeding material in Finland. In crop physiology of forest trees. Tigerstedt, P.M.A, Puttonen, P. & Koski, V. (eds). pp: 225-231.

-1993a. Provenance and individual variation in climatic hardiness of Scots pine in northern Finland. In: Forest Development in Cold Climates. Alden, J. (ed.). Plenum Press, New York, pp: 333-342.

-1993b. Progeny testing and breeding strategies. Progeny testing in conifers. A keynote paper presented to the Nordic Group for Tree Breeding, Edinburgh, Scotland. 15 pages.

- 1995. Siemenviljelyssä uusi aikakausi alkamassa. Summary : A new era in seed orchard management beginning in Finland. Metsänjalostussäätiön vuosikertomus 1994, the yearbook of the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding 1994, pp: 4-11.

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 1996. Taulukkoja männyn siemenviljelyssiemenen käytöstä taimitarhakylvöissä vuosina 1991-1995. [Spreadsheets on the use of orchard seed in nursery plantings]. 2 p.

- 1997. Männyn taimituotanto Suomessa vuonna 1996. [Scots pine seedling pro duction in year 1996]. 2 p.

- Mishan, E.J. 1988. Cost-benefit analysis. 4th ed. Routledge, London, NY. 453 p. ISBN 0-415-10922-1.
- Musgrave, R.A. & Musgrave, P.B. 1989. Public finance in theory and practice. 5th edition.

McGraw-Hill International Editions, Finance Series. 611 p. ISBN: 0-07-100227-8.

Myles, G.D. 1995. Public economics. Cambridge University Press. 515 p. ISBN: 0-521-49769-8.

Myyntikirjauslistat [the Annual Sales Reports of 1978-1994, 1995. Finnish Forest and Park Service, Patama nursery]. App. 150 listing pages.

Namkoong, G., Kang, H.C. & Brouard, J.S. 1988. Tree breeding: principles and strategies.

Monographs on theoretical and applied genetics 11. Springer-Verlag, NY Inc. 159 p. ISBN 0-387-96747-8.

Nas, T.F. 1996. Cost-benefit analysis. Theory and Application. SAGE Publications. 207 p.

ISBN:0-8039-7133-8.

- Naytial, J.C. & Rezende, J.L. 1983. Dynamic investment considerations in forestry project eva luations. Can. J. For. Res. 13, pp. 640-49.
- Newman, D. 1985. A discussion of the concept for the optimal forest rotation and a review of recent literature. SCFER Working Paper No. 1. Souteastern Center for Forest Economics Research, Box 12254, Research Triangle Park, N.C. 27709. 39 p.
- Nikkanen, T. & Antola, J. 1998. Männyn valiosiemenviljelysten perustamisperiaatteet. [Esta blishment principles for next-phase Scots pine seed orchards].Metsätieteen aika
- kauskirja, Folia Forestalia 3/1998:421-428. Katsaus.
- Nikkanen, T., Karvinen, K., Koski, V., Rusanen, M. & Yrjänä-Ketola, L. 1999. Kuusen ja männyn siemenviljelykset ja niiden käyttöalueet. [Utilization areas for Scots pine and Norway spruce orchard seed]. Metsätutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 730. Punkaharjun tutkimusasema, Vantaan tutkimusasema. 203 p. ISBN: 951-40-1677-7.
- Niskanen, A. 1995. Evaluation of the profitability of forest plantations in the Philippines using conventional and extended cost-benefit analysis. University of Joensuu. Thesis for Lic. For. 89 p.
- Oikarinen, M. 1983. Growth and yield models for Silver birch (Betula pendula) plantations in southern Finland. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae. 113. 75 p.
- Ojansuu, R., Hynynen, J., Koivunen, J. & Luoma, P. 1991. Luonnonprosessit metsälaskelmassa (MELA)- Metsä 2000-versio. [Natural processes in MELA forest simulation program]. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 385. Research Papers 385. 42 p.

Ollonqvist, P. & Kajanus, M. 1992. Metsänomistajan taloudellisten tavoitteiden merkitys uudis tustavan valinnassa. Summary: Significance of private forest owner's economic goals in the forest stand regeneration decision. Folia Forestalia 798. The Finnish Forest ResearchInstitute. Helsinki. 71 p.

- Oskarsson, O. 1995. Silmällä tehty savotta: pluspuiden valinnan historia ja arki. [The history of selectingplus trees ]. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedontantoja 579. The Finnish Forest Research Institute. Research Papers 579. 67 p.
- Ovaskainen, V. 1992. Forest taxation; timber supply, and economic efficiency. Acta Forestalia Fennica 233. The society of forestry in Finland, The Finnish forest research institute. Diss. 88 p. ISBN: 951-40-1266-6.

- Pajamäki, J. & Karvinen, K. 1996. Suomen metsänjalostuksen yleistilastoa 1996. General statistics on forest tree breeding in Finland 1996. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 604. Finnish Forest Research Institute. 40 p. ISBN:951-40-1518-5.
- Pakkanen, A., Pulkkinen, P. & Vakkari, P. 1991. Pollen contamination in the years 1988-1989 in some old Scots pine seed orchards of northern Finnish origin. Reports from the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding 3, Metsänjalostussäätiön tiedonantoja nro 3.
  8 p.
- Parkin, M. 1997. Microeconomics. 3rd edition. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc. International edition. 592 p. ISBN:0-201-97695-1.
- Peacock, A. & Shaw, G.K. 1976. The Economic Theory of Fiscal Policy. Revised edition. George Allen & Unwin Ltd, London. 187 p. ISBN: 0-04-330273.
- Pearce, D.W. 1976. Environmental economics. 191 p. Longman. London & New York. ISBN: 0-582-44622-8.

& Nash, C.A. 1989. The social appraisal of projects: a text in cost-benefit analysis.
 Basingstoke, Macmillan. 225 p.

-& Turner, R.K. 1990. Economics of natural resources and the environment.

Harvester-Wheatsheaf, New York. 378 p. ISBN: 0-7450-0225-0.

- 1994. The environment. Assessing the social rate of return from investment in temperature zone forestry. In: Layard, R. & Glaister, S. (eds.) Cost-benefit analysis.
2nd edition. Cambridge University Press. 490 p. ISBN: 0-521-46674-1.

- Penttinen, M. & Kinnunen, M. 1992. Profitability of forestry in jointly-owned forest of Northeastern Finland and Lapland. Silva Fennica 26(4), pp: 211-217.
- Penttinen, M., Lausti, A., Kasanen, E. & Puttonen, V. 1996. Risks and returns in forest investments in Finland. Liiketaloudellinen aikakauskirja 45, pp: 111-123. ISSN:0024-3469.
- Pesonen, M. & Hirvelä, H. 1992. Thinning models based on profitability calculations for southern Finland. Folia Forestalia 800. Finnish Forest Research Institute.
- Pitkäntähtäyksen metsänjalostusohjelma ja työsuunnitelma vuosiksi 1990-1999. 1989. [A long-term forest tree breeding program for the years 1990-1999]. Helsinki. 127 p.
- Polkinghorn, R.S. 1979. Micro-theory and economic choices. The Irwin series in economics. Irwin-Dorsey Ltd. Georgtown, Ontario. 401 p. ISBN:0-256-02143-0.

Pulkkinen, P. 1994. Aerobiology of pine pollen: Dispersal of pollen from nonuniform sources and

impact on Scots pine seed orchards. Reports from the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding 8, Metsänjalostussäätiö tiedonantoja nro 8. Dissertation. 56 p.

 - 1995. Pakastuskapasiteetin nostamisen vaatimat investoinnit ja kapasiteettilisäyksen aiheuttama käyttökustannusten arvioitu nousu Pieksämäen koeasemalla. A mime ograph, 4 p.

1996. Kestävää männyn siementä Pohjois-Suomeen - vaitaan kestävimmät ja käytetään vain niitä. [Lecture on Scots pine seed orchards for northern clones ]. 3 p.
-& Kinnunen, A., & Napola, M-L.1999. Kuusen siementuotannon vaihtoehtoja kehitetään. Summary: Alternatives in spruce seed production are under development Metsänjalostussäätiön vuosikertomus 1998, The yearbook of the Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding 1998, pp:22-25.

- Reilly, J.J. & Nickles, D.G.1977. Analyzing benefits and costs of tree improvement: Pinus caribaea.In: Proceedings Third World Consultation Forest Tree Breeding, pp: 1099-1124.Canberra, Australia.
- Repetto, R. 1988. The forest for the trees ? Government policies and the misuse of forest resources. World Resources Institute. 98 p. ISBN:0-915825-25-2.

Rosvall, O. & Palmer, C.H. 1988. Björk - Norrlands eucalyptus? [Birch - Scandinavia's euca

lyptus?] Skogsträdsförädlings in formation 1987/88, nr 1, 5 p.

- Ruotsalainen, S. 1999. Metsänjalostuksen populaatiokäsitteet. [Terminology for tree breeding populations]. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja Folia Forestalia 1/1999: 79-91.
- Saarenmaa, L. 1992. Inductive learning in knowledge acquisition from the forest regeneration database. Dep. Forest Ecology, Univ. Helsinki, publications 3. Dissertation. 173 p.
- Sales report 1998. Rauduskoivun siemenviljelyssiemenen myyntitaulukko vuosilta 1993-1997. [Silver birch orchard seed sales in 1993-1997, An unpublished document]. Haa
- pastensyrjä Breeding Centre. 1 p.
- Salmi, O. 1995. Siementarvearviot Pohjois-Suomessa. [Estimations on the future demand of Scots pine seed in northern Finland]. A mimeograph, 4 p.
- Salminen, S. 1993. Forest resources of Southernmost Finland, 1986-1988. Folia Forestalia 825. Finnish Forest Research Institute. 111 p.
- Santamäki-Vuori, T. & Parviainen, S. 1996. The labour market in Finland. Labour Institute for Economic Studies 64.

Sarvas, R. 1953. Ohjeita pluspuiden valitsemista ja ilmoittamista varten. Silva Fennica No 80. [Instructions for selecting and registering plus trees].

- 1970. Establishment and regeneration of seed orchards. Folia Forestalia 89. 24 p.

- Scherer, F.M. 1980. Industrial market structure and economic performance. 2nd edition. Houghton Miffling Company. 624 p.
- Schmid, A.A. 1989. Benefit-cost analysis. A political economy approach. 336 p. Westview Press Colorado USA. ISBN: 0-8133-0732-5.
- Self, P. 1993. Government by the market ? The politics of Public choice. McMillan Press Ltd. 281 p. ISBN:0-333-56973-3.
- Sen, A. 1982. Approaches to the choice of discount rates for social benefit-cost analysis. In: Lind, R.C, Arrow, K.J., Corey, G.R., Dasgupta, P., Sen, A.K., Stauffer, T., Stiglitz, J.E., Stockfisch, J.A. & Wilson, R. (eds.). 1982. Discounting for time and risk in energy policy. Published by Resources for the Future, Inc. Washington D.C. Distributed by the Johns Hopkings University Press, Baltimore & London. 458 p. ISBN: 0-8018-2709-4.
- Siitonen, M., Härkönen, K., Hirvelä, H., Jämsä, J., Salminen, O. & Teuri, M. 1995. The MELA Handbook. Version 1995. Manuscript. The Finnish Forest Research Institute. Helsinki. 316 p.
- Silvicultural recommendations 1989. Metsänhoitosuositukset, Keskusmetsälautakunta Tapio. Forestry Development Centre Tapio. 55 p.
- Solow, R. 1987. Insiders and Outsiders in wage determination. Scandinavian Journal of Economics. Vol 87(2): 411-428.
- Spanos, A. 1986. Statistical foundations of econometric modelling. Cambridge University Press. 695 p. ISBN: 0-521-26912-1.
- SPSS Trends 6.1. 1994. SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois. 340 p. ISBN:0-13-201055-0.
- SPSS 6.1. 1995. Guide to Data analysis. Marija J. Norusis (ed.) Prentice-Hall. Englewood Cliffs New Jersey. 570 p. ISBN: 0-13-437054-6.
- Squire, L. & van der Tak, H.G. 1981.Economic analysis of projects. A World Bank Research Publication. 151 p. The Johns Hopkins University Press. Baltimore USA.
- Starret, D.A. 1988. Foundation of Public economics. Cambridge University Press .291p. ISBN: 0-521-34256-2.

- Statistical yearbook of forestry 1995. The Finnish Forest Research Institute. 354 p. ISBN: 951-40-1476-6.
- Statistical yearbook of forestry 1996. The Finnish Forest Research Institute. 348 p. ISBN: 951-40-1537-1.
- Statistical yearbook of Finland 1997. Statistics Finland. 640 p. ISBN: 951-727-372-X.
- Statistics Finland 1999. An unpublished database sampling on average hourly earnings in public sector between 1970-1990.
- Stevenson, A., Muscatelli, V. & Gregory, M. 1988. Macroeconomic Theory and Stabilisation Policy. Philip Allan/Barnes & Noble Books, Oxford and N.J. 396 p. ISBN: 0-86003-143-8.
- Stigler, G.J. 1970. The theory of price. 3rd ed. New York, Macmillan. 348 p.
- Stiglitz, J.E. 1982. In: Lind, R.C, Arrow, K.J., Corey, G.R., Dasgupta, P., Sen, A.K., Stauffer, T.,
  Stiglitz, J.E., Stockfisch, J.A. & Wilson, R. (eds.) 1982. Discounting for time and risk
  in energy policy. Published by Resources for the Future, Inc. Washington D.C.
  Distributed by the Johns Hopkings University Press, Baltimore & London. 458 p.
  ISBN: 0-8018-2709-4.
- Stockfisch, J.A.1982. In: Lind, R.C, Arrow, K.J., Corey, G.R., Dasgupta, P., Sen, A.K., Stauffer, T., Stiglitz, J.E., Stockfisch, J.A. & Wilson, R. (eds.) 1982. Discounting for time and risk in energy policy. Published by Resources for the Future, Inc. Washington D.C. Distributed by the Johns Hopkings University Press, Baltimore & London. 458 p. ISBN: 0-8018-2709-4.
- Strategi för framtida skogsträdsförädling och framställning av förädlat skogsodlingsmaterial in Sverige 1995. [General overviews about future tree breeding activities in Sweden ]. Skogsforsk, Uppsala. 258 p.
- Talbert, J.T., Weir, R.J. & Arnold, R.D. 1985. Costs and benefits of a Mature First-Generation Loblolly pine tree Improvement program. Journal of Forestry 3/85, pp: 162-165.
- Thomas, R.L. 1985. Introductory econometrics, theory and applications. Longman, London and NY. 357 p. ISBN: 0-582-29634-X.
- Thomson, T.A. 1989. Evaluating some financial uncertainties of tree improvement using the capital asset pricing model and dominance analysis. Can. J.For. Res. 19, pp: 1380-1388.
- Tietopankki 1996. [ A spreadsheet of DataBank program, internal book-keeping. Collected

information from 1994, 1995 and 1996]. Finnish Forest and Park Service.

- Tilastokeskus, Tulonsaajien tulot, verot ja verojen osuus tuloista veronalaisten tulojen mukaan 1995. 1997. [The incomes of the employees, taxes, and the proportion of the taxes according to taxable incomes 1995]. Central statistical office, Finland.
- Tilli, T. 1998. Metsäpääoman suhteellinen tuotto Suomessa vuosina 1986-1996. Relative returns of forest assets in Finland during the years 1986-1996. Pellervon taloudellisen tutkimuslaitoksen työpapereita no 8. Pellervo Economis Research Institute, Working Papers 8. Helsinki. 41 p. ISBN: 951-8950-80-6.
- Toppinen, A. 1995. Econometric Forecasting Model of the Finnish Roundwood Market. Dept. of Forest Economics, University of Helsinki. 83 + 13 p.

- 1997. Incorporating cointegration relations in a short-run model of the Finnish sawlog market. Reports 11. Department of Forest Economics, University of Helsinki.
26 p.

 - 1998. Econometric models on the Finnish roundwood market. Finnish Research Institute, Research Papers 701. 1998. Helsinki Research Centre. Diss., University of Helsinki. 52 p. + original research articles. ISBN: 951-1642-4.

- TTS-reports 1991-1995. Toiminta- ja taloussuunnitelmaraportit, Metsähallitus. [Spreadsheets from internal activity and business planning software]. Finnish Forest and Park Service.
- Valtanen, H. 1975. Selvitys metsänjalostuksen kansantaloudellisten vaikutusten ja edullisuuden arvioinnista. [A report on economical impacts of a forest tree breeding program]. Metsäntutkimuslaitos, metsäekonomian tutkimusosasto. The Finnish Forest Research Institute, department of forest economics. 23 p.
- Valtion talousarvioesitys vuodelle 1999. Hallituksen esitys eduskunnalle valtion talousarvioksi vuodelle 1999 [The Finnish Budget for the year 1999]. Helsinki, 1998. ISSN: 1237-4318.
- Varian, H.R. 1987. Intermediate microeconomics. A modern approach. 2nd ed. Norton, New York. 457 p. ISBN: 0-393-95554-0.
- Venäläinen, M., Annala, M-L., Kosonen, E., Rantanen, H. & Tynkkynen, H. 1994. Plusmäntyjen testaustulosrekisteri ja jalostushyöty. [A test result register of plus pines and genetic gain]. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 497. The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers 497. 90 p.
-., Hahl, J. & Pöykkö, T. 1996a. Assessing the quality of young stems in predicting the total monetary yield of Scots pine progenies. Can. J. For. Res. Vol. 26. No 12, pp: 2227-2231.

- 1996b. Hyvistä jälkeläisistään todellinen pluspuu tunnetaan - nuorten runkojen laatu plusmäntyjen testauksessa. [The stem quality in Scots pine progeny tests]. In:

Tallqvist, R. & Kurttio, O. (eds.). Metsäpuiden genetiikka ja jalostus, tutkimuksen ja sovellu tuksen synergiaa. Vantaan tutkimuskeskuksen tutkimuspäivä 1995. Metsäntutki

muslaitoksen tiedonantoja 605. The Finnish Forest Research Institute. 66 p. ISBN: 951-40-1519-3.

> - & Koponen, M. 1997. Metsää halutaan viljellä jalostetuilla siemenillä ja taimilla. Kyselytutkimuksen tulokset [Incenitves to use orchard seed in Scots pine artificial regeneration, results from an inquiry]. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 641, Punkaharjun tutkimusasema. 42 p. ISBN: 951-40-1567-3.

Viherä- Aarnio, A. 1989. Raudus- ja hieskoivun jalostuksen nykytilanne Etelä-Suomessa. [Present state of birch breeding in Finland]. Reports from the Finnish Forest Research Institute 328. pp: 38-53.

- 1994. Genetic variation and breeding strategy of birch in Finland. Norwegian Journal of Agricultural Sciences. Supplement No. 18, pp: 19-26. ISSN:0802-1600.

- Vuokila, Y. & Väliaho, H. 1980. Growth and yield models for conifer cultures in Finland. Viljeltyjen havumetsiköiden kasvatusmallit. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 99.2. Helsinki 1980. 271 p.
- Wang, T. 1996. Physiological and genetic basis of superior yield in Silver birch (Betula pendula Roth) Department of Plant Biology, University of Helsinki. Diss., 51 + 60 p. ISBN: 952-90-7391-7.
- Ward, W.A. & Deren, B. J. with Emmanuel H. D'Silva. 1991. The economics of Project Analysis. Washington, World Bank 1991. 318 p.
- Weitzman, M. L. 1998. Why the far-distant future should be discounted at its lowest possible rate. Journal of Environmental economics and Management 36, pp.201-208. Article No. EE981052.
- White, T.L. & Hodge, G.R. 1989. Predicting breeding values with applications in forest tree improvement. Kluwer Academic publishers, Dordrecht. The Netherlands. 367 p.

- Williams, C.G.& deSteiguer, J.E. 1990. Value of production orchards based on two cycles of breeding and testing. Forest Science 36(1): 156-168.
- Wricke, G. & Weber, W.E. 1986. Quantitative genetics and selection in plant breeding. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin. New York. 406 p.
- Yrjänä-Ketola, L. & Karvinen, K. 1997. Suomen metsänjalostuksen yleistilastoa 1997. General statistics on forest tree breeding in Finland 1997. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tie don antoja 642. 42 p. ISBN: 951-40-1568-1.
- Zobel, B. & Talbert, J. 1984. Applied forest tree improvement. 492 p. John & Wiley Sons Inc. Illinois, USA. ISBN: 0-88133-604-1.

Total of 234 references

## LIST OF APPENDICES

- Appendix 1: Genetic gains and tree breeding
- Appendix 2: Formal presentation of the differential costs
- Appendix 3: Stumpage prices and shadow pricing
- Appendix 4: Time series and linear regression equations for forecasting
- Appendix 5: Procurement costs of Scots pine present-generation seed orchards
- Appendix 6: Input categories, Scots pine, Study 1
- Appendix 7: Shadow prices of the inputs
- Appendix 8: Genetic gains from Scots pine present and next-generation seed orchards
- Appendix 9: Genetic gain estimates for Silver birch, present and next generation
- Appendix 10: Development of Scots pine's annual cultivation area, Study 2
- Appendix 11:Differential costs of Scots pine and Silver birch, Study 2
- Appendix 12:Division into input categories, Study 2
- Appendix 13: MELA simulation program and genetic gains
- Appendix 14: Study material of Scots pine, Study 2
- Appendix 15: Scots pine growth regions, Study 2
- Appendix 16: Proportionate areas of growth regions in Scots pine's annual planting and sowing, Study 2
- Appendix 17:Supplementary analysis of Scots pine, Study 2
- Appendix 18: Compensation schedule of Silver birch next-generation and present-generation orchard seed, Study 2
- Appendix 19: Division into input categories for Silver birch, Study 2
- Appendix 20: Specific assumptions of Study 3
- Appendix 21: Study material of Scots pine, Study 3
- Appendix 22: Taivalkoski region, Study 3
- Appendix 23: LAC curves of Scots pine, Study 4
- Appendix 24: Estimated market demand curves for Scots pine and Silver birch present-generation orchard seed
- Appendix 25: A flowchart on the stages of modelling the profitability
- Appendix 26: Specific limitations of the simulation procedure, Study 4

- Appendix 27: Profit maximization conditions for Scots pine orchard seed production
- Appendix 28: Parameter estimates and asymptotic correlation matrix of the parameter estimates of formula [3.19]

Appendix 29: Parameter estimates and technical details of formula [3.20]

#### Genetic gains and tree breeding

Genetic improvement of forest tree species is traditionally based on selection of superior individuals and their crosses in seed orchards. The principle is that the breeding value of selected individuals will be better than the average value of individuals in the population as a whole (e.g. Falconer & McKay 1996). Genetic testing is necessary for any successful tree improvement program. It lays the foundation for genetic decisions involving management of seed orchards and provides the material and information that will be the basis for advanced-generation tree improvement efforts (Zobel & Talbert 1984). In most breeding programs, genetic data are used to rank parents for their breeding values and help choose candidates for selection (White & Hodge 1989). An important task in any breeding program is to identify the specific group of traits showing both high heritability and good correlation with the future economic value of trees (Haapanen et al. 1993, 1997).

All the genetic variation in wild stands is a result of recombination and natural selection in heterogeneous environments in space and time. Different populations may exchange genes that will increase genetic variation in the populations through gene flow. Due to differences in response to environmental factors i.e.genotype-environment interaction, genotypes differ in viability and fertility. They therefore contribute different numbers of offspring to the next generation (have different fitness values). This leads to selection on individuals and changes of gene frequencies. If the number of offspring contributed to the next generation is determined by human interest, selection is artificial (Wricke & Weber 1986). Such selection may be very different from natural selection, the latter favouring fitness, the former favouring yield (e.g. Wang 1996). In a breeding population of forest trees the variability in natural stands is packed by crossing and selection into individual trees in the form of improved genotypes (Zobel & Talbert 1984). The primary objective of an applied tree improvement program is to change the frequency of desired alleles that influence important tree traits in such a way that the improved plants are superior in performance to unimproved material. New genetic combinations are created by bringing together genotypes found in different natural stands. The genotypes are found through progeny testing, which allows estimation of breeding values and selection of parental trees based on the performance of their progeny. Of the

combinations, the most useful genotypes are selected for use in future breeding work and practical forest cultivation (Wricke & Weber 1986). Progeny testing is generally the most expensive and risky phase of a tree breeding program. It is often also the most critical phase, largely determining the progress and profitability of breeding (Mikola 1993b). In practice progeny test trials are established in order to find out the breeding values of different plus trees (e.g. Venäläinen et al. 1994, Namkoong et al. 1988) and to calculate the overall genetic gains with regard to, e.g. monetary value (Fins & Moore 1984, Williams & deSteiguer 1990, Thomson et al. 1987, Venäläinen et al. 1996a) or growth potential (e.g. Hagqvist & Hahl 1998).

Usually breeders are confronted with the question of how much gain per generation can be sacrificed in the interest of saving time. By selecting some time before rotation age, often called early selection, one is able to shorten the breeding generation only at the expense of gain per generation, since performance of genotypes at young ages is imperfectly related to that at "maturity" (Lambeth 1980). With the common Finnish tree species the time lag between selection and rotation age is without exception very large. Correlated gain in the mature trait after selection on the juvenile trait, also called generalized predicted gain (Williams & deSteiguer 1990), is given by:

$$G = ih_j h_m^r G_{j,m} \sigma_{pm} \qquad [1]$$

where G= gain

i= selection intensity

 $h_{j}$ = square root of heritability at selection age j  $h_{m}$ = square root of heritability at rotation age m  $G_{j,m}$ = additive genetic correlation between traits j, m

 $\sigma_{pm}$ = phenotypic standard deviation for trait m

# Differential costs

The differential costs, C<sup>diff</sup> of formula [2.1] can be derived from the following:

First setting:

$$f_{g}(C^{so}, C^{co}, C^{ex}, C^{ex}, C^{ex}, C^{ma}) = \sum_{l_{1}}^{L} C_{l}^{so} * (D_{p})^{l} + \sum_{n_{1}}^{N} C_{n}^{co} * (D_{p})^{n}$$
$$+ \sum_{m_{1}}^{M} C_{m}^{ex} * (D_{p})^{m} + \sum_{k_{1}}^{K} C_{k}^{cu} * (D_{p})^{k} + \sum_{z_{1}}^{Z} C_{z}^{ma} * (D_{p})^{z}$$
[1]

where  $f_{e}(C^{so}, C^{co}, C^{ex}, C^{cu}, C^{ma}) = cost function for seed orchards$ 

 $C^{so}$ = annual establishment costs, management costs and progeny testing costs of the seed orchards  $C^{co}$  = annual collection costs of the cones in seed orchards  $C^{ex}$  = annual extraction costs of the seed orchard cones  $C^{cu}$ = annual cultivation costs of improved stands  $C^{ma}$  = annual management costs of improved stands (including e.g thinning costs of saplings, harvesting costs)

 $D_p$  = discount factor (see Table [2.1])

, and:

$$f_{0}(C^{co}, C^{ex}, C^{cu}, C^{ma}) = \sum_{n_{1}}^{N} C_{n}^{co} * (D_{p})^{n} + \sum_{m_{1}}^{M} C_{m}^{ex} * (D_{p})^{m}$$
$$+ \sum_{k_{1}}^{K} C_{k}^{cu} * (D_{p})^{k} + \sum_{r_{1}}^{R} C_{r}^{ma} * (D_{p})^{r} \qquad [2]$$

where  $f_0(C^{co}, C^{ex}, C^{cu}, C^{ma})$ = cost function for (normal) stand seed acquisition  $C^{co}$  = annual collection costs of the cones in normal stands  $C^{ex}$  = annual extraction costs of the normal stand cones

Appendix 2 / page 2

C<sup>cu</sup>= annual cultivation costs of normal stands
C<sup>ma</sup> = annual management costs of normal stands (including e.g thinning costs of saplings, harvesting costs)

 $D_p$  = discount factor (see above)

Then *a priori* assuming that r > z (see e.g. Ahtikoski 1997). This indicates that possible higher e.g. harvesting costs of improved stands are (implicitly) offset by the lower discount factor due to the abovementioned unequality. In addition, it should be stressed out that the future costs are forecasted by the linear trend equation which further favours the applied procedure, given that the trend is increasing (as is the case in Finland: unit costs have rather increased than declined during recent years). It should be emphasized that explicit cost functions cannot be formulated due to inaccurancies related to the initial cost data at forestry board level. Cultivation costs are assumed to be identical for both alternative with the caveat that possible divergencies in direct sowing costs (Scots pine) are *at the aggregate level* only marginal. To some extent this is supported by the fact that at the forestry board level the areas sowed with either orchard or stand seed cannot even be identified leading eventually to situations where the unit costs of sowing cannot be separated either.

From the abovementioned reasoning it follows that the four terms on the right-hand sides of the equations [1] and [2] can be considered to be identical, leading to that  $f_g(\cdot) > f_0(\cdot)$  by the amount which eventually stands for the term differential cost:

$$C^{diff} = \sum_{l_1}^{L} C_l^{so} * (D_p)^l \quad [3]$$

#### Appendix 3

#### Stumpage prices as shadow prices

In the assessments made from the society's point of view shadow prices coincided with the stumpage (market) prices, although the roundwood market may not be competitive in Finland (Kuuluvainen & Mikkola 1993). On the other hand a recent study (Toppinen 1998) reported that there is no clear-cut evidence against the competitive market model, indicating that stumpage prices can be used as approximations for the equilibrium prices of the competitive market. However, most empirical modelling of the Finnish roundwood market is based theoretically on the perfect competition (Toppinen 1995), so it is impossible to say how sensitive the results are with respect to the assumption of perfect competition, let alone to that at present there are only a few significant buyers (indicating oligopolistic market structure), and that the forest industry has gained supernormal profits during the past few years (indicating that the industry might have been able to pay somewhat more for the wood) and that e.g. the fluctuations in the sawnwood export markets are efficiently carried into the Finnish sawlog market (Toppinen 1997).

As from the abovementioned can be concluded there are arguments for and against the use of stumpage prices as social prices (i.e. shadow prices) as such, but in this dissertation the pros exceeded the cons. Primary, the use of stumpage prices as appropriate social prices is coherent with the initial problem setting of the thesis (bearing in mind that in the first place the analysis was limited to stumpage - tree breeding was assessed isolated from e.g. the wood processing industry).

Time series, linear regression equations for forecasting future stumpage prices and costs.



FIGURES. Graphs on the linear regressions and sequence plots.









**TABLE**. Linear regressions (OLS) for forecasting. In each study, after the year 1995 annual stumpage prices and differential costs were forecasted by these linear regressions. Standard errors are presented in parenthesis below the coeffcients.  $R^2s$  are presented in bold.  $COST_t = cost$  (dependent) at year *t*, STUMP<sub>t</sub>= stumpage price (dependent) at year *t* according to the equation, YEAR<sub>t</sub> = actual year (independent). (Note: the application of softwood logs for forecasting the future values of Scots pine sawlogs, and the method for forecasting future differential costs are discussed in more detail in Chapter 2.4).

Time series	Time horizon for observations	Linear regression (by OLS) equation
costs	1970-1995	$COST_{t} = 1.068198*YEAR_{t} - 2078.133$ (0.089) (176.609) <b>0.86</b>
Softwood logs	1950-1995	STUMP <sub>t</sub> = $0.475093*$ YEAR <sub>t</sub> - 726.284512 (0.426) (840.363) <b>0.03</b>
Scots pine pulpwood	1950-1995	$STUMP_{t} = 0.711788* YEAR_{t} - 1313.66$ (0.303) (598.46) <b>0.11</b>
Silver birch veneer	1975-1995	$STUMP_{t} = 1.010268* YEAR_{t} - 1768.2214$ (0.9244) (1835.46) <b>0.06</b>
Silver birch pulp- wood	1950-1995	$STUMP_{t} = 1.085198* YEAR_{t} - 2076.66056$ (0.2758) (543.99) 0.26

Due to poor statistical behaviour of the linear regressions auxiliary regressions were modelled. These regressions included dummies, and can be considered to be far more sophisticated (henceforth denoted as sophisticated model) than those presented in the table above. However, in this Appendix only one auxiliary model is presented (due to paucity) with relevant diagnostics. Observations for this sophisticated model of Scots pine pulpwood were, distinct from initial linear regressions, from 1950 to 1998.

Variable	Coefficient	Std.Error	t-value	t-prob.
Constant	61.260	4.7136	12.996	0.0000
dum52	117.58	15.842	7.422	0.0000
dum68	-37.001	15.455	-2.394	0.0211
dum 75	82.342	15.432	5.336	0.0000
dum92-93	-37.384	9.6955	-3.856	0.0004
Trend	1.1485	0.16870	6.808	0.0000

 $R^{y} = 0.742885 \quad F(5, 43) = 24.848 \ [0.0000] \quad a = 15.2528 \quad DW = 0.852 \quad RSS = 10003.90191$ AR 1 - 2F (2, 41) = 9.9254 \quad [0.0000] \*\* ARCH 1 F (1, 41) = 5.3518 \quad [0.0258] \*

Then, model validation was tested for both the original linear regression and sophisticated model. It was expressed by *relative bias*, and it was calculated according to the following formula (see e.g. Hynynen 1995):

$$RB = \sum_{i=1950}^{1995} \left[ (y_i - \hat{y}_i) / \hat{y}_i \right] / n \qquad [1]$$

, where RB= relative bias

y <sub>i</sub> = observed value of *i*:th observation (Scots pine pulpwood stumpage price)
^y<sub>i</sub> = predicted value of *i*:th observation
n = number of observations (here n=46)

For the original Scots pine pulpwood model the relative bias (between 1950-1995) was 0.013, and 0.021 for the sophisticated model (incl. dummies). These figures indicate that both models underestimate the stumpage prices within that time horizon. In addition, the relative bias between these two models was tested, resulting in that the sophisticated model underestimated the stumpage prices by 5.9% when compared to the model predictions of the original linear model. In each case the relative bias can be considered to be moderate.

**Table**. Procurement costs of the land for present Scots pine seed orchards. Due to inaccurate original contracts of sale the figures are based on only 10 purchase prices between 1971-1974 assuming that the rest of the purchase prices would have adhered to these realized prices. The average purchase price was FIM 2 646 per hectare (in 1972 money value). This figure was applied in order to attain annual total costs of procurement between 1965-1974. (Note: here is presented only app. 2 500 hectares instead of total of 3 000 seed orchard hectares).

Year	Total cost of procurement, FIM
1965	432 092
1966	322 018
1967	586 883
1968	903 874
1969	311 434
1970	879 266
1971	982 460
1972	786 920
1973	662 823
1974	735 853

Appendix 6

Key or sub activity	labour	intermediate non-trated goods	contrac- tors' fees	rents (real estate)	land	"miscel- laneous"	total
Procure- ment (sub)	10%				90%		100%
Establish- ment (key)	26%	6%	60%			8%	100%
Progeny testing (key)	80%	5%				15%	100%
Annual manage- ment (key)	40%	5%	50%			5%	100%
Cone col- lection (sub)	30%	5%	60%			5%	100%
Admini- stration (key)	68%	4%		8%	5%	15%	100%

Table. The proportions of input categories in each key or sub activity, Scots pine Study 1.

Appendix 7 /page1

# Shadow prices of the inputs, Studies 1, 2 and 3

#### Labour

In Finland, trade unions have a considerable role in wage determination. Further, the unionization rate in agriculture and forestry is high, approximately 80% (Santamäki-Vuori & Parviainen 1996) which suggests that the so-called insider and outsider factors (see, e.g., Solow 1987) could have a relevant effect on the wage determination in Finland. This is supported by a recent study from Kauhanen (1998). Thus, corrections of market wages are called for.

The labour force was divided into two groups: "semiskilled" labour and "specialized" labour. The shadow prices for these two groups differed according to the assumption that semiskilled persons could be drawn from the involuntary unemployment and specalized persons could work elsewhere. The shadow wage rate of semiskilled labour was estimated to be 0.65 times the market wage rate, i.e. approximately the same as the unemployment benefit in Finland. As a starting point for the shadow wage rate of specialized labour the value of 0.8 was applied. Both coefficients (0.65 and 0.8) entail a connotation that the effect of trade unions on wage determination is taken into account. The higher value for specialized labour merely indicates better opportunities to find another job (i.e.higher opportunity costs involved). After shadow pricing, income taxes and social security payments were excluded. The average tax rate for semiskilled labour was 27% and for specialized labour 33% (Tilastokeskus...1997).

# Intermediate goods

The short rule for pricing intermediate goods is that they should be valued at marginal social cost (Pearce & Nash 1989). The category of intermediate nontraded goods here was wide, including for example building materials, office equipment, elk fences, tools, fence poles, fertilizers, detergents and lubricants. However, because the intermediate nontraded goods formed at most only about 5% of the total costs in each subactivity, the same principles were applied in the shadow pricing to all goods in this category, although there were differencies with regard to prevailing market structures. It was assumed that all the intermediate goods were sold in oligopolistic markets where prices exceeded marginal costs with the extent that price adjustment mechanism was needed. In addition,

because most of the goods included some sort of tax (e.g. from 1995 a value added tax, VAT, 22%) the tax was subtracted from *all* the goods prices before shadow pricing them. The estimated shadow prices were 0.7 times the market prices, and a sensitivity analysis on different price levels was conducted.

# Contractors' fees

In some subactivities (e.g. initial establishment, management of the seed orchards) the contractors' fees resulted in a large proportion (30% to 60%) of the total costs. The fees included a tax which was removed before shadow pricing. The contractors' fees were shadow priced by the following procedure. The alternative use for these contractors is most likely in agriculture to some extent, although all of them cannot be directed into that area (because some of them are already working as farmers, they are only "part-time contractors"). On the other hand, at the time of cone collections (autumn and early winter) there would not be much work in the farm, so the contractors would most likely be unemployment. Further, the fee paid in the seed orchards is presumably higher than the contractor could earn in agriculture or the unemployment benefit since otherwise some of the contractors would not have taken a second job as an enterpreneur in the seed orchards, but would have stayed in agriculture or unemployed instead. Thus an estimate (partly based on oral interviews) of the output forgone in agriculture is 0.8 times the market price of the contractor's fee. Another reason for this relatively high "salary" for a contractor (compared to the net salary in agriculture) is that among the contractors in the seed orchards there is an oligopolistic market structure, which leads to market prices (i.e. fees) exceeding marginal social costs.

# Land

Theoretically the market value of the land required reflects the present discounted value of the future stream of benefits that could be obtained from the land in its next best use. In this study it was clear that the opportunity cost of the land should be valued as the output forgone in agriculture. The market prices of arable land are said to reflect well enough the future stream of benefits in Finland (e.g. Kiinteistöjen...1996). Thus the opportunity cost was the market price of the arable land, which was estimated to be the same as the value of the average purchase price of the land

#### Appendix 7 /page 3

(FIM 12 000 /hectare) in the provinces where the land was bought, i.e. the shadow price and the market price of land were identical here. On the other hand, there has been a tendency for the market prices of arable lands to decrease during the past ten years (Kiinteistöjen...1996), and this might have the effect of reducing the market prices as well as opportunity costs in the near future.

#### Rents

The opportunity cost of rents on properties in terms of some forgone alternative is estimated by assuming that the properties could be rented for purposes other than seed orchard activity *at the same* prices. By other purposes here is meant for example companies in other branches of industries which demand the same office buildings for renting. The market in which office buildings are supplied for renting in Finland is considered oligopolistic in the sense that there are relatively few actual suppliers, and this usually leads to market prices exceeding the social marginal costs. On the other hand, when evaluating the opportunity costs the next best alternative is what really matters, and in this connection the next best alternative is to rent the office building to another company at the same price. Thus here the shadow prices of the rents equalled their market prices.

## "Miscellaneous"

This category included those services and "goods" which could not be divided into the existing input categories (e.g. labour, land, intermediate goods). The costs in this input category were the most heterogeneous, including for example employees' advanced training costs, recreational services costs, carage service costs, heating costs, water and waste water payments, printing costs and employees' health care costs. The market structures of these services and "goods" also differed widely, from a pure monopoly (carage services) to "perfect" competition (recreational services, advanced training). However, it was assumed that all the firms which supply the inputs (services and "goods") to the seed orchard activity fail to price at marginal costs, and thus price adjustments were needed. A relatively modest estimate on the shadow price was applied (0.7) due to the fact that in some markets of this category (approximately 60-75%) occured under "perfect" competition. Thus, a sensitivity analysis was conducted in order to find out how sensitive the final results

were to shadow pricing procedure. In addition, difficulties arose in removing the transfer payments, because in the cost database (Tietopankki 1996): some of the services and "goods" included taxes and some did not. Thus a conservative estimate of the effect of taxes was included in the process by setting the average tax rate at 20%.

#### Appendix 8

## Genetic gain estimates for Scots pine's present and next-generation seed orchards

There are more than 1 300 progeny test trials of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) mostly long-term field tests (e.g. Mikola 1984) in conventional plantation forestry conditions, covering nearly 2 000 hectares (Yrjänä-Ketola & Karvinen 1997). However, the genetic gains (and breeding values of different plus trees) are last assessed by Venäläinen et al. in 1994 according to only 190 progeny test trials in breeding zones 1-4 (see breeding zones in e.g. Venäläinen et al. 1994, p. 16)

Venäläinen et al. (1994) studied the survival, height growth rate and so-called height sum of Scots pine plus tree progenies compared to reference material originated from natural stands. A height sum usually describes better the possible total yield than a height growth rate alone, because it also takes into account the survival of the seedlings (e.g. Marklund 1981). The survival of the plus tree progenies exceeded that of the natural stand progenies by 3.5%, and the height sum was 7.2% higher (Venäläinen et al. 1994). With progeny test results as a guide, the **3%** and **7%** were used as estimates for the possible genetic gains in stem volume in the assessments of present-generation (phenotypic) seed orchards. In addition, another figure, **10%** was introduced as an upper-limit, because the progeny test results might underestimate to some extent the attainable genetic gains due to the background pollination, i.e. when female flowers of the clones in seed orchards are pollinated by the surrounding natural stand trees (Pakkanen et al. 1991, Venäläinen et al. 1994, Pulkkinen 1995).

For the attainable genetic gains of the next-generation seed orchards the basic procedure is that only the best 10-20% of the present 1st-generation plus trees (according to progeny test trials) are accepted for the phase 2 (so-called 1.5 generation) seed orchards (Mikola 1995). It has been estimated that possible gain in an annual growth rate (which is further composed of combined height and diameter growth rates) might be approximately 12% compared to the present seed orchards (Venäläinen et al. 1996b), and thus even more when comparing to normal, unimproved stands. The genetic gains of the next-generation seed orchards in this dissertation are estimated to be **8%**, **12%** or **15%**. Possible genetic gain in a form of better quality is ignored, although there are some preliminary quality measurement results (Venäläinen et al. 1996a, b) available.

# Appendix 9

#### Genetic gain estimates for Silver birch's present and next-generation seed orchards

More than 160 progeny test trials have been established in order to evaluate the gains of selection on the whole and breeding values of different Silver birch plus trees. The progeny test trials cover nearly 300 hectares in breeding zones 1-3 (see breeding zones in e.g.Pajamäki & Karvinen 1996, p. 9), and they are in most part set up as field tests (Finnish Forest Research Institute: Forest Genetic Register 1998, unpublished).

The breeding of Silver birch has proceeded faster than the breeding of Scots pine. Reasons for faster advance in Silver birch breeding are many: all seed orchards are in polythene greenhouses (Viherä-Aarnio 1994), i.e. there is practically no background pollination, less time is needed for seed production (e.g. Hagqvist et al. 1991, Koski 1991) which enables among other things more crosses in the same time period and generally more controlled management of seed orchards (e.g. Hagqvist et al. 1991, Viherä-Aarnio 1994). However, because of the unfavourable soil conditions and severe damage caused by mammal herbivores (elk, hare and vole) several birch trials have been destroyed (Viherä- Aarnio 1989, 1994), which lessens the reliability of the results to some extent. Generally, most of the progeny test results in Scandinavia show that the obtainable genetic gain in stem volume with present seed orchards is between 10% and 30% (e.g. Rosvall & Palmer 1988, Viherä-Aamio 1989, Danell & Werner 1991, Hagqvist 1991, Hagqvist & Hahl 1998). However, the genetic gain, e.g. in form of veneer at the final cutting, will not be known until the oldest progeny tests reach an adequate size (Viherä-Aarnio 1994). The genetic gain in Central Finland is expected to be less than the corresponding gain in South Finland (Hagqvist & Hahl 1998) due to, e.g. different structures in seed orchards established for different breeding zones (multiclonal vs. biclonal seed orchards ). After due consideration following genetic gain levels were applied: for present seed orchards 7% and 5%, 10% and 8% or 15% and 12%, for next-generation seed orchards 10% and 8%, 15% and 12% or 20% and 14% (in each pair, the first figure is applied to South Finland and the latter to Central Finland).

**Table.** By the year 2019 60% (10 460 hectares) of the total annual Scots pine sowing area in South and Central Finland (temperature sum > 950 d.d) is sowed with the improved material.

Year	sowing, ha	planting, ha
2010	870	1800
2011	1740	3600
2012	2610	5400
2013	3480	7200
2014	4350	9000
2015	5572	10800
2016	6795	12600
2017	8017	14400
2018	9239	16200
2019	10460	18000
2020	10460	19800
2021	10460	21305*

\* In the year 2021 all the planted areas are cultivated (21 305 ha) with the next generation seed orchard seed.

**Table**. The establishment, procurement and additional costs of Scots pine and Silver birch breeding, estimated according to the calculations of the Finnish Forest and Park Service (Lahtinen 1995) and recent experience of, e.g. the purchases of the land and establishments.

Additional costs	Scots pine	Silver birch
Estimated annual costs after	FIM 5,422 million	FIM 2,071 million
2010 (including administra-		
tion, progeny testing and		
annual management): derived		
from the deflated annual costs of		
seed orchards between the years		
1990-1995		
The procurement of the land	FIM 12,00 thousand / hec-	Not significant because the
for new seed orchards	tare	seed orchards are in polyt-
		hene tunnels
The establishment costs of	FIM 52,00 thousand / hec-	Approximately FIM 7,00
the new seed orchards (inclu-	tare	thousand per 1 000m $^2$ *
ding fences, roads, grafting)		

\*The approximation is based on the assumption that new polythene tunnels are not established (Lepistö 1996) until the year 2005.

**Table.** The proportions of the main inputs in "key activities" (k) and subactivities (s). The percentages in parentheses represent average tax rate on each input category. The tax rates can differ within the same input category depending on the prevailing circumstances.

activity / input	social security payments	la- bour	inter- me- diate nontra- ded	contrac- tor's fees	r e n t s	land	"mis- cel- la- neou s"	Total, %
			goods					
procurement of	3	5				90	2	100
the land (s)		(27%)				(10%)		
initial establish-	3	15	5	63			14	100
ment (s)		(27%)	(12%)	(27%)				
grafting (s)	11	80	4				5	100
		(27%)	(12%)					
administration	9	65	2		5		19	100
(k)		(33%)	(22%)				(22%)	
annual manage-	11	44	3	31			11	100
ment of the		(27%)	(22%)	(22%)			(22%)	
seed orchards								
(k)								

#### Appendix 13

# MELA simulation program and genetic gains

In MELA simulation the material was processed before feeding into the MELA software so that the growing stands were transformed by Weibull function to mean taper curves by diameter class (Laasasenaho 1982) of *eight* description trees. In Finland, each tree in the National Forest Inventory (NFI) sample plots represents 2 m<sup>2</sup>/ha (relascope factor 2) resulting in an average of *eight* trees per sample plot (Kilkki & Päivinen 1986). The Weibull function has been widely used to describe the diameter distribution of the trees (e.g. Cao & Burkhart 1984, Green et al. 1984, Kilkki et al. 1989, Hökkä et al. 1991). For the Weibull distribution, if the median diameter is known (median diameter is particularly measured in the NFI sample plots), one of the Weibull parameters can be estimated from the two other parameters and from the median diameter (Kilkki & Päivinen 1986). This makes the Weibull function applicable for the estimation of the basal area dbh-distribution.

The growth prediction (with genetic gain) under breast height (young stands, average height<1.3m) was separatively simulated from the growth prediction of the higher, i.e. h >1.3m, trees (Ahtikoski 1997). The effect of the genetic gain in young stands (trees <1.3m) was here taken into account by decreasing the achievement ages of breast height (Ahtikoski 1997, p. 242). This manner of proceeding indicated the possible faster growth rates in young stands cultivated with the orchard seed compared to those young stands cultivated with natural stand seed (e.g. Ackzell 1994, Venäläinen et al. 1994). The decreases of the achievement ages of breast height did not change the harvest scheduling models considerably, given the initial harvest criterion (Ahtikoski 1997, p. 242).

The effect of genetic gain on the growth of higher (older) trees was simulated by increasing the annual growth level according to the percentage reflecting the genetic gain (Ahtikoski 1997). The criterion for the thinnings (and final cut) was set by the Forestry Development Centre Tapio (Silvicultural recommendations 1989). The criterion was fulfilled when the basal area and the average height of the pine stand exceeded the standards. This criterion indicates mainly the silvicultural aspects, and did not mean that the net present value of the stand is optimized (cf. e.g. Pesonen & Hirvelä 1992, the "Faustman solution"; Löfgren 1995 ). Some of the initial parameters of MELA software were changed. These changes reflected more properly the regional differences in the silvicultural practices in Finland than the initial parameters (Ahtikoski 1997).

local unit forest site type number of height breast age stems per ha (meters) diameter, cm (in years) Hämeenlinna MT (n=38) 1937 (792.4) 3.6 (1.13) 4.9 (1.58) 14(3.25)Hämeenlinna VT (n=47) 2238 (1078.35) 3.9 (1.12) 5.2 (1.72) 15 (3.97) Jyväskylä MT (n=36) 1827 (488.50) 4.01 (1.01) 5.3 (1.60) 14 (3.0) Jyväskylä VT (n=44) 1950 (530.61) 3.9 (1.24) 4.6 (1.47) 15 (4.01) Karstula MT (n=28) 2018 (341.95) 3.8 (0.82) 5.2 (1.02) 14(2.49)VT (n=46) Karstula 1571 (325.69) 4.2 (0.54) 5.6 (0.69) 16 (2.21) Nurmes MT (n= 24) 1771 (246.13) 3.3(0.82)5.0 (1.30) 13 (2.05) Nurmes VT (n=21) 1590 (341.91) 4.2(1.04)6.9 (1.22) 13 (2.83)

**Table .** Study material (Study 2) used in the MELA simulation. Standard deviation and number (n) of sample plots in each local unit are given in parentheses.

Appendix 15

Figure. Growth regions 1-4, Scots pine.



**Table.** The proportions of the growth regions in annual sowing and planting (Scots pine, Study 2), e.g., 27.2% of the annual total sowing area is sowed in growth region 2. Former forestry board districts (by numbers: see, e.g., Statistical yearbook...1995, p. 34) belonging to the particular growth region are given in parentheses. According to these percentages, the annual adjusted sales of the orchard seed were directed to the growth regions (in hectares).

Growth regions	Planting, %	Sowing, %
growth region 1	21.3	21.1
(1, 2, 3, 4, 6 and 8)		
growth region 2	27.7	27.2
(5, 7, 9 and 12)		
growth region 3	31.4	28.0
(13, 14 and 15)		
growth region 4	19.6	23.7
(10 and 11)		
growth regions 1-4	100.0	100.0

# Supplementary analyses

The effect of harvest scheduling model on the NPV of next-generation seed orchards was examined by constructing two alternative models incorporated with genetic gains. First, the original MELA models (altogether 4\* 2 different models) were altered by hypothetically assuming that genetic gain would affect harvest scheduling only through increasing outturns, leaving the times of thinning and final cut unchanged (denoted as "modified MELA"). Second, the assessments were recalculated with Vuokila & Väliaho's growth and yield models by increasing outturns of the harvest scheduling models with a percentage reflecting the genetic gain. The analysis, however, involved assumptions which should be studied in detail. Vuokila & Väliaho's (1980) region " Pohjanmaa-Kainuu" was equalled with growth region 4 (see Appendix 15), assuming that in Vuokila & Väliaho's models height index  $H_{100}= 21$  m indicates on average *both* Myrtillus and Vaccinium type forests of Nurmes. Basically, this "drastic" assumption originates from the results in which the site classification system and height-over-age system are compared (Vuokila & Väliaho 1980, Table 2 on page 26).

The region "southern Finland" in Vuokila & Väliaho's models was equalled to combined area of growth regions 1, 2 and 3 (see Appendix 15), assuming further that pine forests in "southern Finland" grow on only two height indexes,  $H_{100}$ = 24m and  $H_{100}$ = 27m, the former indicating Vaccinium, the latter Myrtillus type. This resulted in that the region "Pohjanmaa-Kainuu" covered approximately 20% of the annually cultivated area, and 80% of the total hectares were cultivated in "southern Finland". In Vuokila & Väliaho's harvest scheduling models 25% average removal percentage in thinnings was applied (Vuokila & Väliaho 1980, pp: 208, 221, 231). In the sensitivity analysis of harvest scheduling models (modified MELA and Vuokila & Väliaho's models) only a 15% genetic gain was applied , because it can *a priori* be expected that the highest percentage of genetic gain results in the highest difference between the NPVs.

Furthermore, an analysis concerning the magnitude of the establishment was conducted. The initial purpose of the analysis was to examine how many hectares are required to be established in order to that the anticipated annual cultivation area (app. 32 000 hectares) is fulfilled by the orchard seed,

given an annual average seed production of 10 kg/hectare. There were two underlying assumptions in the analysis. First, the calculations were based on the original time schedule with a 5-year postponing, and second, the annual total orchard seed production was assumed to be divided into seedlings and direct sowing by the following. 40% of the total annual orchard seed (expressed in kilograms) is directed to nursery planting (to make seedlings), and 60% to direct sowing in terrain. The percentages reflect the averages in Patama nursery between 1978-1995. In the calculations the principle was that when the annual planting area (21 305 ha) is fully supplied by the orchard seed, then each new seed orchard produces seed for direct sowing, given the original time schedule. The time horizon was the same as in the original assessment. Another purpose of the analysis was to examine how much the annual total costs (incl. administration, progeny testing and annual management) can be increased (within the original time period for costs: 1995-2035) in order to attain the annual average seed production of 10kg/ha so that the new NPVs would still break-even with the NPVs of the original assessment. The result would give insight about whether the increase in annual average seed production is worth pursuing in an economical sense.

# Compensation schedule between present and next-generation orchard seed, Silver birch

The production time of the next-generation seed orchards is estimated to last 17 years. The linear compensation between the present-generation and next-generation orchard seed takes 5 years. In South Finland the next-generation orchard seed starts to compensate the present-generation orchard seed in year 2004, and the present-generation orchard seed is fully compensated by the year 2009. In Central Finland, the compensation would not start until in 2010 (due to differences in seed orchard compositions), and in 2015 the present-generation orchard seed is fully compensated by the next generation. The total annual cultivation area is estimated to be app. 1 700hectares. Thus, in each year during the compensation period (5 years) the next-generation orchard seed compensates the present-generation orchard seed by app. 170 hectares in South and Central Finland ([1700/2]/5). In the light of present knowledge this compensation rate can be seen reasonable (see Männyn...1997).

**Table**. Proportions of the inputs in subactivities, Silver birch (Study 2). Key activities are presented in parenthesis. The percentages do not necessary add up to 100% due to the rough division into input categories and to inaccurancies in the initial book-keepings.

subactivity/input	social security payments	labour/	labour/	interme-	"miscel-
		semiskil-	skilled	diate	laneous"
		led		nontra-	
				ded	
				goods	
test maintenance (pro-	16%	28%	45%	8%	5%
geny testing)				<b>-</b>	
selection (progeny tes-	16%	23%	45%	5%	6%
ting)					
crossings (progeny tes-	16%	28%	45%	3%	8%
ting)					
roguing (annual manage-	16%	28%	40%	3%	6%
ment)					
fertilization (annual	16%	28%	40%	10%	4%
management)					
genetic thinning (annu-	16%	28%	40%	5%	8%
al management)					
artificial lightning	16%	28%	40%	10%	3%
(annual management)					
supervision (administra-	18%	22%	48%	3%	7%
tion)					
planning (administrati-	18%	22%	48%	3%	5%
on)					

# Specific assumptions of Study 3

There were principally two underlying assumptions in the calculations. First, contradictory to the original report the annual average seed production was not fixed to 7kg/hectare (Männyn...1997), but varied instead between 5.8 and 6.7 kg/hectare. This was due to the following ground: the primary goal with regard to next-generation seed orchards is to ensure the annual seed supply within the time period of 2024-2045 (establishment year 1999 plus 25 years) so that all the seed required for nursery planting and half of the seed needed for direct sowing (Männyn...1997) would be produced by the seed orchards by the year 2045. The importance of seed supply was emphasized in this connection due to "chronic" lack of seed material in northern Finland during recent years (see, e.g. Salmi 1995). Second, the hectares between 2024 and 2045 were assumed to increase by the following: the total area, 15 107ha (planting 11 484 ha, sowing 3 623 ha), was divided by the amount of establishments which was 14 (modified from the original report; see Männyn...1997, p. 14, Table 5) assuming further that each establishment would increase the cultivation area by the same absolute figure *regardless* of the establishment area. This assumption can be considered to be reasonable with the caveat that along the establishment process, during 1999- 2020, the annual average seed production can be expected to increase due to e.g. experience and technical and biological innovations. Furthermore, the annual average seed production never exceeded 7kg/hectare.

In addition, in order to estimate the annual average seed crop (which was, however, not of the primary interest) the annual cultivation hectares were converted into produced seed by the following coefficients: seed-to-plantable seedling ratio was 1kg to 75 000 seedlings (indicating that 1kg of orchard seed suffices for 30 hectares, the planting intensity being 2500 seedlings per hectare), and 1kg suffices for 3 hectares in direct sowing (i.e. app. 330g of seed used per hectare). The seed-to-plantable seedlings ratio applied here was different than the figure in the original report (Männyn...1997). The figure used here was based on a recent inquiry (Ahtikoski 1996b) which indicated that higher than 50 000 seedlings from 1 kg are attainable due to a new "single seed patch" method. Contradicting a recent study (Ahtikoski & Pulkkinen 1998) it was further assumed that the same amount of orchard seed and stand seed was used in direct sowing.

**Table**. Tree stand characters of the young stands in Taivalkoski-region, Study 3. The number of sample plots and the standard deviations (SD) are presented in parenthesis.

forest site type	number of stems	height, meters	breast diameter,	age, years
	per hectare (SD)	(SD)	cm (SD)	(SD)
Myrtillus (n=28)	1543 (394.08)	4.09 (0.80)	5.61 (1.21)	14 (2.05)
Vaccinium (n=24)	2036 (809.20)	3.05 (0.58)	4.77 (0.87)	12 (1.10)



#### LAC curves incorporated with past establishment and management costs, Scots pine

Past establishment and annual management costs were taken into account as combined fixed cost variable with 5 per cent interest rate. In practice the establishment and past annual management costs were prolonged to the base year 1997 and added to existing average costs. Prior to prolonging the costs were deflated by the wholesale price index. In this context the total amount of established seed orchards was 656 hectares (Lahtinen 1998), indicating the amount of "active" seed orchards (n > 30) which have produced the particular amount of orchard seed during 1993-1997. The combined fixed cost variable of establishment and annual management costs was formed by the following:

$$C_{f} = \left[\sum_{n=26}^{32} E_{n}(1.05)^{n} + \sum_{n=5}^{32} M_{n}(1.05)^{n}\right] / \sum_{t=1993}^{1997} KG_{t}$$
[1]

where  $C_f = fixed cost variable, FIM/KG$ 

E<sub>n</sub> = establishment costs in year *n* so that "32" indicates the year 1965, FIM
M<sub>n</sub>= annual management cost in year *n*, FIM
KG<sub>t</sub>= the produced orchard seed in kilograms in year *t*(1.05)= prolonging factor, discount percent 5

By applying formula [1] the past establishment and annual management costs could be directed so that their effect on the LAC was taken into account properly. It should be pointed out that formula [1] overestimates the long run average costs, because the realized costs of these producing seed orchards are taken into the calculations since 1965, but the produced seed only since 1993, although the particular seed orchards had produced meaningful amounts of seed also before 1993. However, long-run average costs with the fixed cost factor according to formula [1] can be considered as "upper boundary", and the procedure as sensitivity analysis.
### An estimated market demand curve for Scots pine orchard seed

The sales from Patama nursery were estimated to correspond to approximately 75-80% of the total annual orchard seed demand in Finland (Myyntikirjauslistat...1995, Statistical yearbook...1990/91-1996). The sales data were based on several dozens of purchase events each year, 1993-1997. The prevailing unit prices (FIM/kg) were expected to be the same as the prices of Patama nursery due to *price rationing* which occured, especially between 1993-1997, in Finland. Some restrictive limitations, however, had to be made in the calculations. First, orchard seed is purchased in different "vitality classes" which each indicate different quality and thus different price, although all the seed go through the same manufactoring process (only one exception, which does not include large seed lots). Strictly speaking, these different vitality classes should be considered as different products, but the relaxation of this fact in this context does not alter the results essentially. In this study only the *two* most demanded vitality classes in each year were taken into account. By taking more than two vitality classes into the calculations would have resulted in even more hypothetical demand curve (cf. Parkin 1997) than the one obtained here. These two most purchased vitality classes in each year included approximately 75-90% of the total amount annually sold from Patama.

Secondly, the unit prices for the *two* vitality classes were estimated according to the majority of the prevailing purchase prices in those classes (the price was not homogeneous within a class). Then, the sold quantities of the two vitality classes (">95%" and "91-95%") were summed up, and further combined with the *weighted* (by quantity demanded) unit prices so that quantities would correspond to prices: a demand curve for Patama sales was constructed. In this connection, the approximation of demand curve was seen as a sufficient expedient - furthermore, a formal modelling would have required much more detailed data set, and given the accurary of sales book-keepings it appears that satisfactory modelling could not have been even possible to conduct. A linear fit (OLS method; e.g. Koutsoyiannis 1981) for the demand function was used for simplicity.

Finally, a market demand curve for Scots pine orchard seed was estimated by *shifting horizontally* (e.g., Varian 1987) the calculated demand curve (indicating the sales from Patama) *by 100%*.

Technically, this was conducted by halving the  $\beta$  coefficient (Y=  $\alpha + \beta x$ ). The underlying assumption was that these two vitality classes of Patama correspond a half of the total annual demand of Scots pine orchard seed in Finland.

Due to the fact that the constructed demand curve was hypothetical (in a sense that no *actual* vitality class corresponded to the weighted price) the price elasticity was evaluated for the two vitality classes separately.

**Table.** Initial quantities of the two most purchased vitality classes and weighted unit prices of Scots pine orchard seed in 1993-1997 from Patama Seed Centre. Unit prices were deflated according to the base year 1997 by the wholesale price index of domestic goods.

Year	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997
quantity demanded	967.6 kg	1204.1 kg	1034.9 kg	831.7 kg	1102.4 kg
weighted <sup>1</sup> unit price	1936.9	1551.6	2163.3	2517.9	2311.4
	FIM/kg	FIM/kg	FIM/kg	FIM/kg	FIM/kg

1 For instance, in 1993, 631kg of vitality class ">95%", and 336.6kg of vitality class "91-95%" were demanded, the deflated unit price for the former being 2003.4 FIM/kg and 1812.6 FIM/kg for the latter  $\langle -- \rangle$  [(631/967.6) \*2003.4 + (336.6/967.6) \*1812.6 = 1936.9]

### An estimated market demand curve for Silver birch orchard seed

Each year (1992-1996) only the most purchased vitality class of Haapastensyrjä Breeding Centre was taken into the calculations, and the average price (deflated by the wholesale price index) was estimated according to the "majority price" (also Silver birch's seed prices in each vitality class were not homogeneous) linked with that vitality class. Then these average unit prices were combined with the corresponding quantities in order to form a demand curve. This procedure was more simplistic than that of Scots pine, but was considered to give a sufficient approximation on orchard seed demand.

A market demand curve for Silver birch orchard seed was estimated by assuming that the sales of Haapastensyrjä Breeding Centre would correspond to 60% of the total annual Silver birch orchard seed sales in Finland (Finnish Statistical...1997, Sales report 1998, unpublished).



### Underlying limitations in the simulation procedure

The simulations for estimating the effects of various variables on NPV (Study 4) were conducted under the following restrictions. The discount rate fluctuated from 4% to 10% (with 0.5% intervals), the amount of collected cones required for 1kg orchard seed was from 130 litres to 180 litres (with 15 litre intervals), average seed crop varied between 6kg to 10kg per hectare (with 1kg interval), collection costs from FIM 6 to FIM 10 per litre (with 1 litre interval), annual management costs were from FIM 800 to FIM 1200 per hectare (with FIM 100 intervals), and selling prices changed from FIM 1900 to FIM 2700 per kg. The abovementioned costs and prices reflect the 1996 and 1997 levels, respectively, and it should be emphasized that the future costs and prices in the modelling process were forecasted according to the linear equations mentioned earlier.

# Solving the profit maximization conditions, Scots pine

The profit maximization condition was examined by the following procedure: long-run marginal cost function was obtained from the long-run average cost function (formula [3.20]) by first multiplying it with output *x* and then differentiating the total cost function ( $f_{TC}$ ). Formally for LMC:

$$f_{TC} = f_{LAC} * output = (0.00047 x^{2} - 2.212744 x + 3771 .02) * x [1]$$
  
= 0.00047 x<sup>3</sup> - 2.212744 x<sup>2</sup> + 3771 .02 x

$$\Rightarrow \frac{df_{TC}}{dx} = LMC = 0.00141 \ x^2 - 4.25488 \ x + 3771 \ .02$$
[2]

Long run marginal revenue (MR) function was obtained by multiplying the demand function (now reflecting the sales from Patama nursery) by quantity (x), resulting a total revenue function  $f_{TR}$ , and then differentiating it. The demand function (a linear approximation,  $R^2$ = 0.73, residuals checked visually from e.g. scatterplots) where the price was expressed as a function of quantity (so-called inverse demand function; e.g. Deaton & Muellbauer 1980, Varian 1987):

$$p(x) = -1.93747 \ x + 4088 \ .22347$$

$$\Rightarrow f_{TR} = p(x) * \ quantity = -1.93747 \ x^2 + 4088 \ .22347 \ x$$
[3]

$$\frac{df_{TR}}{dx} = MR = -3.87494 \ x + 4088 \ .22347$$
[4]

Finally, equating the long run marginal cost function and marginal revenue function, a profit maximization point was found, i.e:

$$LMC = MR \Leftrightarrow 0.00141 \ x^{2} \ -4.25488 \ x + 3771 \ .02 \ = -3.87494 \ x \ +4088 \ .22347$$
[5]  
$$\Rightarrow 0.00141 \ x^{2} \ -0.37994 \ x \ -317 \ .2034 \ = 0$$

Solving formula [5] for *positive* x gives x = 627.8 kg.

Appendix 28

Parameter	Estimate	Asymptotic standard error
α1	-809.12	63.584
α2	130 248	1064.5
α <sub>3</sub>	-15 586.7	688.51
α4	-59 778.4	2 136.1
α <sub>5</sub>	89.914	4.122
α <sub>6</sub>	-15.842	1.568

Table a. Parameter estimates (and their asymptotic standard errors) of formula [3.19].

Table b. Asymptotic correlation matrix of the parameter estimates of formula [3.19].

	α1	α2	α3	α4	α <sub>5</sub>	α <sub>6</sub>
α1	1.0000	-0.2345	-0.1822	-0.1822	-0.2445	-0.2009
α2	-0.2345	1.0000	-0.2853	-0.1954	-0.3843	-0.2881
α3	-0.1822	-0.2853	1.0000	-0.0752	-0.2445	-0.1845
α4	-0.1822	-0.1954	-0.0752	1.0000	-0.1124	-0.0981
α <sub>5</sub>	-0.2445	-0.3843	-0.2445	-0.1124	1.0000	-0.2335
α <sub>6</sub>	-0.2009	-0.2881	-0.1845	-0.0981	-0.2335	1.0000

# Parameter estimates and technical details of formula [3.20]

Parameter	Parameter estimate	Asymptotic standard error	
α	-843.42	15.89	
α1	422.13	8.986	
α2	858.9	28.13	
α3	-0.928	0.031	

Table. Parameter estimates and their asymptotic standard errors, formula [3.20].

There were alltogether over 700 simulated values for the NB. Technically, all the parameters in formula [3.20] were estimated simultaneously using an iterative nonlinear regression algorithm in SPSS software applying Marquardt's method with the convergence criterion set to 10<sup>-8</sup> (SPSS 1994). The asymptotic correlation matrix indicated that the model was certainly not overparameterized; correlation coefficients fluctuating between -0.03 and -0.65 (cf. SPSS 1994).

In addition, a Goldfeld-Quandt test (e.g. Greene 1997) for homoskedasticity, a Durbin-Watson test (e.g. Greene 1997) for autocorrelation and also a Shapiro-Wilks test (e.g. SPSS 1994) for the normality of residuals were conducted. The null hypothesis in Goldfeld-Quandt test was that residuals are homoskedastic, i.e. with equal variance. First, approximately hundred simulated Net Benefits, NBs, ("observations") were omitted, and the remaining NBs were divided into two sub-samples of equal size according to discount rates (chosen here as an explanatory variable). Then, the sum of squared residuals for both sub-samples were obtained, and these sums were further compared in order to attain the F ratio. The F distribution had 82 degrees of freedom for both the numenator and denominator, and the observed F<sup>\*</sup> was compared with the theoretical value of F with 82,82 degrees of freedom. The null hypothesis (i.e. equal variances) was accepted with the signifigance level of 5 per cent.

Because Goldfeld-Quandt test assumes normality and serially independent disturbances (e.g. Koutsoyiannis 1981), the normality of the residuals was tested by Shapiro-Wilks test and the possible autocorrelation between the residuals was tested with Durbin-Watson test. In the latter, the

sample residuals were used to compute the empirical value of Durbin-Watson statistic,  $d^*$  which was 1.79 indicating a slight positive autocorrelation. However, further analysis was not called for, because the test statistic was between 1.5 and 2.5 which is a rule of thumb for not applying further analysis with regard to autocorrelation (SPSS 1995).

The normality of the residuals was tested by Shapiro-Wilks test (abreast with graphic plots such as stem-and-leaf plot). The test resulted in a significance value of 0.745 which indicated that the assumption of normality was not violated (SPSS 1995).



